
Cabinet
Meeting Venue
Council Chamber - County Hall, 
Llandrindod Wells, Powys

Meeting date
Thursday, 23 June 2016

Meeting time
9.30 am

For further information please contact

County Hall
Llandrindod Wells

Powys
LD1 5LG

Stephen Boyd
01597 826374
steve.boyd@powys.gov.uk

17 June 2016 

AGENDA

1. APOLOGIES C119- 2016

To receive apologies for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST C120- 2016

To receive any declarations of interest from Members relating to items to be 
considered on the agenda.

3. NANTMEL CHURCH IN WALES SCHOOL C121- 2016

To consider a report by County Councillor Arwel Jones, Portfolio Holder for 
Education. 

(Pages 3 - 230)

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CYNGOR SIR POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL.

CABINET EXECUTIVE
23rd June 2016

REPORT AUTHOR: County Councillor Arwel Jones
Portfolio Holder for Education

SUBJECT: Nantmel C. in W. School 

REPORT FOR: Decision

Summary 

Further to the decision made by Cabinet on the 15th December 2015, the 
authority has carried out formal consultation on closure of Nantmel C. in W. 
school.

The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet members of the responses 
received to the consultation and to determine whether or not to proceed with 
the statutory process to close Nantmel C. in W. School, through the 
publication of a statutory notice.

The report is supported by the following appendices:

Appendix A – Consultation Document
Appendix B – Consultation Report
Appendix C – Minutes of meetings with School Council, staff, governors and 
parents / community
Appendix D – Impact Assessments

Background

The Consultation Period

On the 15th December 2015, Cabinet approved the commencement of 
consultation on the closure of Nantmel C. in W. School from the 31st 
December 2016. The consultation period commenced on the 29th January 
2016, and was due to end on the 11th March 2016. However, the consultation 
period was extended, and eventually ended on the 22nd April 2016. 

The consultation document was available on the Council’s website throughout 
the consultation period. The document was also distributed to stakeholders as 
required by the School Organisation Code (2013). The consultation document 
that was issued is attached as Appendix A. 

Consultees were invited to respond to the consultation by either completing 
the online consultation form, filling in a paper copy of the form and returning it 

Page 3

C121- 2016



2

to the School Modernisation Team, or by writing to the School Modernisation 
Team.

During the consultation period, meetings were also held with the following:

- The School Council of Nantmel C. in W. School
- Staff at Nantmel C. in W. School
- Governors at Nantmel C. in W. School
- Parents / community at Nantmel C. in W. School

The minutes of these meetings are attached as Appendix C, and the issues 
raised in the meetings are included in the consultation report. 

Consultation Responses

A total of 127 written responses were received to the consultation. This 
includes responses received via the online response form, the paper 
response form, other written responses and responses from pupils received 
using the questionnaire in the young people’s version of the consultation 
document.

All issues raised during the consultation period, including those raised in 
written responses and those raised in the consultation meetings, are listed in 
the Consultation Report (attached as Appendix B), along with the authority’s 
response to these issues.

Proposal

i) To receive the Consultation Report in respect of closure of Nantmel C. 
in W. School.

ii) To approve the publication of a statutory notice in respect of closure of 
Nantmel C. in W. School from the 31st December 2016. 

A financial analysis of the draft recommendation was carried out, and details 
were included in the Consultation Paper (Appendix A). It was originally 
estimated that closure of Nantmel C. in W. School would lead to annual 
savings of £68,033 based on the 15/16 formula.

However, the figures have been rerun for the 16/17 financial year inclusive of 
transport costs. This has led to a reduction in the estimated savings to 
£54,000, due to the number of funded pupils reducing from 33 in 2015/16 to 
30 in 2016/17, which has led to the reduction in the small schools allowance 
of £18,000 which was included in the previous estimated savings based on 
the 2015/16 formula.

Page 4



3

One Powys Plan 

‘Transforming Learning and Skills’ is one of the priorities within the One 
Powys Plan. Within this priority, the Plan states that ‘We need to re-organise 
schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity.’

Options Considered/Available

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) discussed a range of 
possible options in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School with the governing 
body before agreeing the draft proposal to close the school. These were 
outlined in the paper considered by Cabinet on the 15th December 2015, and 
are also listed in the Consultation Document issued in respect of this proposal 
(Appendix A).

A number of alternative options were also suggested during the consultation 
period. These are listed on pages 115 – 124 in the Consultation Report 
(Appendix B), along with the authority’s response.

Preferred Choice and Reasons

N/A

Sustainability and Environmental Issues/Equalities/Crime and 
Disorder,/Welsh Language/Other Policies etc

A Single Integrated Impact Assessment has been produced in respect of this 
proposal. This is attached in Appendix D.

The Equality Impact Assessment and Community Impact Assessment in 
respect of this proposal have been updated following the consultation period, 
and are also included in Appendix D. 

Children and Young People's Impact Statement - Safeguarding and 
Wellbeing

The authority’s Schools Transformation Programme is intended to improve 
educational outcomes for children and young people. This aligns with the 
aspiration to improve safeguarding and well-being for children and young 
people.

Page 5



4

Local Member(s)

The local member County Councillor David Evans has commented: 
“Unfortunately there has been insufficient time for me to thoroughly analyse 
the report and appendices which in all extend to some 220 pages.  From what 
I have read however I believe that there is no justification for the school to 
close.”

Other Front Line Services 

N/A

Support Services (Legal, Finance, Corporate Property, HR, ICT, 
Business Services)

Legal:.The proposal can be accepted from a legal point of view.

The Finance Business Partner comments: The figures have been rerun for 
the 16/17 financial year inclusive of transport costs. This has led to a 
reduction in the estimated savings from £68k to £54k due to the funded pupil 
numbers reducing from 33 (15/16)  to 30 (16/17), this drop to 30 has led to the 
reduction of the smalls schools allowance of £18k which was included in the 
previous estimated savings based on 2015/16 formula. The small schools 
allowance ensures sufficient funding is delegated to the school to enable them 
to employ a minimum number of teachers. The funding generated by pupil 
numbers alone does not provide sufficient funding.

The estimated savings do not include any redundancy costs

The School ended the 2015/16 financial year with a surplus of £24,338 and 
has a projected budgeted surplus of £8,034 for the 2016/17 financial year. In 
accordance with the Scheme for Financing Schools, finance continue to work 
with schools to ensure that resources are used appropriately.

HR: Any HR implications will be managed in line with the school’s HR policies 
and in consultation with the Governing Body, staff and recognised trade 
unions.

Local Service Board/Partnerships/Stakeholders etc

N/A

Corporate Communications

Communications Comment: The report is of considerable public interest 
and requires the use of a news release and appropriate social media to 
publicise the decision.

Page 6



5

Statutory Officers 

The Solicitor to the Council (Monitoring Officer) has commented as follows: “I 
note the legal comment and would remind Cabinet that they must have read 
the consultation report and the Impact Assessments before coming to their 
decision.”

The Strategic Director Resources (Section 151 Officer) notes the 
comments made by Finance.

Members’ Interests
The Monitoring Officer is not aware of any specific interests that may arise in 
relation to this report. If Members have an interest they should declare it at the 
start of the meeting and complete the relevant notification form. 

Recommendation: Reason for Recommendation:
1. to receive the Consultation Report 

in respect of the proposal to close 
Nantmel C. in W. School; 

2. to approve the publication of a 
statutory notice in respect of 
closure of Nantmel C. in W. School 
from the 31st December 2016. 

To provide a sustainable model of 
primary education

Relevant Policy (ies): School Transformation Policy 
Within Policy: Y Within Budget: Y

Relevant Local Member(s): Cllr David Evans

Person(s) To Implement Decision: Marianne Evans
Date By When Decision To Be Implemented: End of June 2016

Contact Officer Name: Tel: Fax: Email:
Sarah Astley 01597 826265 N/A sarah.astley@powys.gov.uk

Background Papers used to prepare Report:

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 
 
 

POWYS COUNTY COUNCIL 
 
 
 
 
 

CONSULTATION DOCUMENT 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposal to close Nantmel Church in Wales Controlle d 
School from the 31 st December 2016 

 
 
 
 
 

Date: 29 th January 2016 – 11 th March 2016 
  

Page 9



2 

 

CONTENTS 
 
          Page 
 
 
1. The Proposal        3 
 
 
2. Impact and Implications of the Proposal    9 
 
 
3. Details of Affected Schools      15 
 
 
4. Consultation Details       21 
 
 
Appendix A Equality Impact Assessment    23 
 
 
Appendix B Community Impact Assessment    30 
 
 
Appendix C Response Form      35 
 
 
      
 
  

Page 10



3 

 

1. THE PROPOSAL 
 

Powys County Council is proposing to close Nantmel Church in Wales 
(C. in W.) Controlled School, Nantmel, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 
6EL from the 31 st December 2016, with Rhayader Church in Wales (C. i n 
W.) Controlled School, Bryntirion, Rhayader, Powys,  LD6 5LT to be 
named as the receiving school. Free home to school transport will be 
provided for qualifying 1 pupils. 
 

1.1 Background to the Proposal 
 

In November 2014, Powys County Council agreed a new Powys School 
Transformation Policy, which set out the authority’s vision and process for the 
transformation of primary and secondary schools in the county. 
 
The Policy included: 
 

- A range of criteria to be used to determine which schools would be 
reviewed 

- The establishment of a School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) to 
carry out reviews of schools 

- The establishment of a School Review Process to be used to review 
schools 

 
In December 2014, the SORP carried out an Initial Assessment of Schools in 
accordance with the School Review Process, during which data for all schools 
was considered. Schools were also ranked against the criteria outlined in the 
School Transformation Policy.  
 
Nantmel C. in W. School met the following criteria: 
 
- Pupil Numbers: The school has had fewer than 50 pupils on roll for the 

three previous years 
- Capacity: The percentage of surplus places in the school is higher than 

15% 
- Building Condition: The overall building condition is categorised as 

category D or C based on the Welsh Government’s assessment of 
building condition 

- Financial: The cost per pupil is more than 120% of the council’s average 
for the sector 

 
As a result of this Initial Assessment of Schools, the SORP agreed to carry 
out a detailed review of Nantmel C. in W. School. 
 
Meetings have subsequently taken place between the SORP and the 
Governing Body, Headteacher and Local Member for Nantmel C. in W. 

                                                           
1 Primary pupils are entitled to free home to school transport if they live more than 2 miles from the nearest 

school providing education in the language of their choice. 

Page 11



4 

 

School, and the diocesan representative. In November 2015, the SORP 
determined that the draft recommendation in respect of Nantmel C. in W. 
School was closure of the school, with Rhayader C. in W. School to be named 
as the receiving school.  

 
At a meeting held on the 15th December 2015, the authority’s Cabinet 
received the SORP’s draft recommendation in respect of Nantmel C. in W. 
School and approved the commencement of consultation on closure of the 
school from the 31st December 2016.  
 
In line with the requirements of the School Organisation Code, the diocesan 
authority was given 28 days to provide comments on this proposal prior to 
Cabinet making a decision on whether or not to commence consultation, 
however the diocesan authority did not wish to provide comments prior to the 
commencement of consultation. 

 
1.2 Reason for the Proposal 

 
The authority is proposing to close Nantmel C. in W. School for the following 
reasons: 
 
- The school has had fewer than 50 pupils on roll for the three previoius 

years and numbers are not projected to increase to above 50 
- There are more than 15% surplus places at the school 
- The funding per pupil is more than 120% of the council’s average  

 
1.3  Alternative options considered 
 
 A range of options were considered in line with the School Transformation  

Policy.  These options, and the strengths and weaknesses of each, are 
outlined below.   

 
i) Status Quo 

 
Strengths Weaknesses 
No additional transport or travel 
required 
 
Maintains provision in Nantmel 
 
Maintains community facilities in 
Nantmel 
 
 

Pupil numbers would continue to 
be below 50 
 
Surplus places would continue to 
be above the Authority’s accepted 
threshold 
 
Cost per pupil would continue to 
be more than 120% of the 
Council’s average for primary 
schools 
 

Page 12



5 

 

Potentially difficult to recruit a 
permanent headteacher 
 

 
ii) Closure of Nantmel C. in W. School and site 

 
Strengths Weaknesses 
Would address the issue of low 
pupil numbers 
 
Would reduce the Authority’s 
overall surplus capacity in primary 
schools 
 
Would address the issue around 
cost per pupil 
 
Permanent leadership 
arrangements in place in 
proposed receiving school 
 

Additional travel for those pupils 
for whom Nantmel C. in W. 
School is currently the closest 
school 
 
Loss of provision from Nantmel 
 
Loss of community facilities in 
Nantmel 
 
 

 
iii) Closure of Nantmel C. in W. School, but keep t he site open as part of 

another school 
 

Strengths Weaknesses 
No additional transport or travel 
required 
 
Maintains provision in Nantmel 
 
Maintains community facilities in 
Nantmel 
 
Permanent leadership 
arrangements in place in 
alternative school 
 
Increased opportunities for 
networking and sharing good 
practice between staff 
 
 

Pupil numbers on the Nantmel 
site would continue to be below 
50 
 
Surplus places would continue to 
be above the Authority’s accepted 
threshold 
 
Under the current funding 
arrangements, current pupil 
numbers on the Nantmel site 
would not attract sufficient funding 
to maintain 2 classes, therefore 
the site would need to be 
subsidised by the other school 
 
More difficult to run a school on 
two sites 
 

Page 13



6 

 

Nantmel C. in W. School would 
lose its own identity 
 

 
iv) Federation of Nantmel C. in W. School and Rhaya der C. in W. School 

 
Strengths Weaknesses 
No additional transport or travel 
required 
 
Maintains provision in Nantmel 
 
Maintains community facilities in 
Nantmel 
 
Permanent leadership 
arrangements in place in 
alternative school 
 
Increased opportunities for 
networking and sharing good 
practice between staff 
 
Both schools would retain their 
own identity 
 

Pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in 
W. School would continue to be 
below 50 
 
Surplus places would continue to 
be above the Authority’s accepted 
threshold 
 
Cost per pupil would continue to 
be more than 120% of the 
Council’s average for primary 
schools 
 
Rhayader C. in W. School would 
lose some control over their own 
school through the establishment 
of a joint Governing Body 
 

 
v) Amalgamation of Nantmel C. in W. School and anot her school to create 

a new school on two sites 
 

Strengths Weaknesses 
No additional transport or travel 
required 
 
Maintains provision in Nantmel 
 
Maintains community facilities in 
Nantmel 
 
Inreased opportunities for 
networking and sharing good 
practice between staff 
 
 

Pupil numbers on the Nantmel 
site would continue to be below 
50 
 
Surplus places would continue to 
be above the Authority’s accepted 
threshold 
 
Under the current funding 
arrangements, current pupil 
numbers on the Nantmel site 
would not attract sufficient funding 
to maintain 2 classes, therefore 
the site would need to be 
subsidised by the other site. If the 

Page 14



7 

 

other site also had less than 50 
pupils, this model would be 
unviable 
 
More difficult to run a school on 
two sites 
 
Both schools would lose their own 
identities 
 

 
Having considered all of these options, and the strengths and weaknesses 
associated with each, the authority considers that closure of Nantmel C. in W. 
School and site is the most suitable way forward. 

 
1.4 Advantages and Disadvantages of the Proposal 
 

As outlined above, the advantages and disadvantages of the proposal to 
close Nantmel C. in W. School are listed below. 

 
Advantages  Disadvantages  
Would address the issue of low 
pupil numbers 
 

Additional travel for those pupils 
for whom Nantmel C. in W. 
School is currently the closest 
school 
 

Would reduce the Authority’s 
overall surplus capacity in 
primary schools 
 

Loss of provision from Nantmel 
 

Would address the issue around 
cost per pupil 
 

Loss of community facilities in 
Nantmel 
 

Permanent leadership 
arrangements in place in 
proposed receiving school 
 

 

 
 1.5 Risks associated with the Proposal 
 

The following risks are associated with the proposal to close Nantmel C. in W. 
School: 

 
 
 
 

Page 15



8 

 

Risk  Prob -
ability 

Impact  Response Strategy  

Parents choose for their 
children to attend schools 
other than Rhayader C. in 
W. School 

Medium Low The authority will support 
the right of parents to 
apply for a place for their 
child at any school, and 
will allocate places where 
they are available. 
Transport would only be 
provided to qualifying 
pupils where a school is 
the closest provision to a 
child’s home.  

Insufficient capacity at 
neighbouring schools to 
accommodate pupils from 
Nantmel C. in W. School 
 

Medium High There is currently 
sufficient capacity at 
Rhayader C. in W. School, 
Crossgates C.P. School 
and other schools in the 
local area to 
accommodate all pupils 
currently attending 
Nantmel C. in W. School. 

 
  

Page 16



9 

 

2. IMPACT AND IMPLICATIONS OF THE PROPOSAL 
 
 2.1 Impact of the Proposal 
 
  2.1.1 Impact on the Affected Schools 
 

i) Impact on the affected schools’ ability to deliv er the full 
curriculum in each Key Stage 

 
Given the current low number of pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School, 
and therefore the small number of pupils that would be expected to 
transfer to alternative schools, the authority would expect the impact on 
the schools’ ability to deliver the full curriculum in each key stage to be 
low.  
 
ii) Impact on outcomes at the affected schools 
 
Given the current low number of pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School, and 
therefore the small number of pupils that would be expected to transfer 
to alternative schools, it is not anticipated that the proposal would have 
a significant impact on outcomes at any of the affected schools.  

 
iii) Impact on provision at the affected schools 
 
Should the proposal be implemented, education would no longer be 
provided in Nantmel. Pupils would be able to access alternative 
provision at Rhayader C. in W. School or other schools in the local 
area. 
 
Given the current low number of pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School, and 
therefore the small number of pupils that would be expected to transfer 
to alternative schools, it is not anticipated that the proposal would have 
a significant impact on provision at any of the affected schools.  

 
iv) Impact on leadership and management at the affe cted 
schools 
 
Given the current low number of pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School, and 
therefore the small number of pupils that would be expected to transfer 
to alternative schools, the authority would not expect the proposal to 
have a negative impact on leadership and management at the affected 
schools. 
 
The headteacher of Rhayader C. in W. School is also currently acting 
headteacher at Nantmel C. in W. School, therefore it is possible that 
closure of Nantmel C. in W. School would have a positive impact on 

Page 17



10 

 

leadership and management at Rhayader C. in W. School as it would 
enable the headteacher to focus solely on one school.  

 
  2.1.2 Impact on Staff 
 

If a decision is made to proceed with the closure of Nantmel C. in W. 
School, a staff redundancy process would be necessary. This would be 
conducted in line with the school’s adopted Redundancy Policies for 
teaching and support staff.  
 
2.1.3 Impact on access to places at Church in Wales  Schools 

 
The named receiving school in relation to this proposal, Rhayader C. in 
W. School, is a school with the same designated religious character as 
Nantmel C. in W. School and is less than 5 miles from Nantmel. 
 
Further to this, there are two other Church in Wales primary schools in 
the area surrounding Nantmel C. in W. School, namely Newbridge-on-
Wye C. in W. School and Llandrindod Wells C. in W. School, 
Trefonnen. 
 
Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the authority is satisfied that 
there are alternative schools available that have the same religious 
character. 

 
2.1.4 Impact Assessments 

 
i) Equality Impact Assessment 
 
An Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out on the proposal 
to close Nantmel C. in W. School. This assessment is provided in 
Appendix A.  
 
The assessment found that the proposal would impact on a small 
number of pupils that belong to the protected characteristic groups. 
However, the authority is confident that Rhayader C. in W. School and 
any other school pupils might access can meet the needs of all pupils 
attending Nantmel C. in W. School. 
 
In terms of any pupils from low income families, free home to school 
transport will be provided to the alternative provision for qualifying 
pupils. This will ensure that the proposal does not have an adverse 
impact on pupils from lower income families. However, the authority 
does accept that might be more difficult for pupils from lower income 
families for whom Nantmel C. in W. School is currently their closest 
school to access extra-curricular activities offered after school at 

Page 18



11 

 

Rhayader C. in W. School or any alternative school due to their 
reliance on home to school transport. The school could use its Pupil 
Deprivation Grant to maximise opportunities for pupils in receipt of free 
school meals. 
 
ii) Community Impact Assessment 
 
A Community Impact Assessment has been carried out in respect of 
the proposal to close Nantmel C. in W. School. This assessment is 
provided in Appendix B.  
 
The authority acknowledges that the closure of any school will have a 
detrimental impact on the facilities available in the local community. It is 
clear that the community of Nantmel makes use of Nantmel C. in W. 
School’s facilities for a range of activities and events, due to the fact 
that there is no other suitable location to hold these activities in the 
village. It is currently unclear where these activities could take place 
should Nantmel C. in W. School close. However, the school building is 
owned by the Church in Wales, and will remain in the Church’s 
ownership if the school should close. The future use of the building 
would be a decision for the Church.  

 
In terms of extra-curricular activities, a wide range of activities are 
offered by both schools, and the authority is satisfied that pupils would 
have the opportunity to take part in a similar range of activities at the 
proposed receiving school. However, as many of these are offered 
after school, it is acknowledged that it would be more difficult for those 
pupils for whom Nantmel C. in W. School is their closest school to 
access these activities if they were reliant on home to school transport.  
 

2.2 Other Implications 
 

i) Financial Implications 
 

An assessment of the potential financial savings from the closure of 
Nantmel C. in W. School has been carried out. 

 
The estimated savings following closure of the school are provided 
below, based on the school’s budget for 2015/16. The assessment 
does not include any possible redundancy costs. 
 
Area of Funding  Full year 

Saving 
Total Delegated Budget not transferring with the 
pupils to their alternative school 
 

72,853 

Additional Projected Savings   

Page 19



12 

 

 
Savings re Headteacher’s Post (L12 – UPS3) 
Projected Reduction in Canteen Subsidy 
 
Total Additional Savings 
 

 
15,580 
10,000 
 
25,580 

Total Estimated Savings  
 

98,433 

Less Estimated Additional Transport Costs 
 

(30,400) 

Net Estimated Savings  
 

68,033 

 
Any savings to the authority realised as a result of the closure of 
Nantmel C. in W. School will be deployed in line with the Schools 
Service Medium Term Financial Strategy to support other schools’ 
delegated budgets and to support the authority’s 21st Century Schools 
programme through prudential borrowing. 
 
ii) Land, buildings and resources 

 
No capital funding is required in order to achieve the proposal. It is not 
anticipated that any building works would be necessary to ensure that 
the pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School could be 
accommodated at Rhayader C. in W. School or any other school which 
might be affected by this proposal. 
 
The land and buildings currently occupied by Nantmel C. in W. School 
are owned by the Church in Wales, and the playing field is leased by 
the County Council. If the school were to close, the building would 
remain in the ownership of the Church in Wales, and the lease in 
respect of the playing field would be surrendered. 

 
iii) Transport and Travel 
 
In the event of the closure of Nantmel C. in W. School, pupils currently 
attending the school would receive transport to Rhayader C. in W. 
School if they live two miles or more from the school. It should be noted 
that this arrangement would only apply to those pupils where Nantmel 
C. in W. School is their nearest provision. If on closure of Nantmel C. in 
W. School, another Powys school was the closest provision to their 
home address, pupils would receive transport to that school if they lived 
more than two miles from the school, if that school was the preferred 
school for their children. 

   
For new pupils from the area of the closed school who would be 
attending alternative provision, entitlement to free transport would be in 

Page 20



13 

 

accordance with the Council’s policy at the time. The current policy is 
that pupils are eligible for free transport if they meet each of the 
following criteria: 

 
• They are of primary school age, in accordance with Powys’ 

admissions policy 
• They attend their nearest school, or the school designated by the 

Council 
• They live further away from the school than the statutory walking 

distance of two miles 
 

It should be noted: 
 

• Distance is measured by the shortest walking route between 
home and school (from the nearest council maintained road to the 
property, to the nearest school entrance onto the school site). 

• Where contract or public passenger vehicles are used, it is not 
always possible to arrange the routes of vehicles to pass close to 
the home of all pupils. Therefore, parents may be required to 
make their own arrangements for their children to get to and from 
the nearest ‘pick-up’ point of the vehicle. Every effort is made to 
keep this distance to a minimum and it should not exceed 1 mile. 

 
The actual transport arrangements would be known as soon as a 
contractor was appointed. Parents would be advised accordingly in 
relation to pick-up points, times etc. 
 
In the event of closure of Nantmel C. in W. School, where pupils who 
transfer to their closest school do not qualify for home to school 
transport to their closest school, a risk assessment would be carried 
out on their shortest walking route to school to assess safety. For 
pupils living within the towns of Llandrindod Wells and Rhayader, it is 
likely that there would be a safe walking route available to the closest 
school. However this may not always be the case for pupils living in 
more rural areas. If the walking route was deemed to be unsafe, home 
to school transport would be provided.  

 
iv) Admissions 

 
Admissions for both Nantmel C. in W. School and Rhayader C. in W. 
School are administered by the authority. 

 
In the event of closure of Nantmel C. in W. School, parents of pupils 
currently attending the school would be allocated places at Rhayader 
C. in W. School, or they would need to apply for a place in another 
chosen school in accordance with the authority’s admissions process, if 

Page 21



14 

 

this was the parents’ preference. The authority’s admissions process is 
as follows: 

 
i) Parents to complete an application form, which will be provided by 

the authority 
ii) Admissions form to be returned to the authority 
iii) Authority to inform parents whether admission to the chosen 

school has been granted. 
 
The authority’s Admissions Team can be contacted be e-mailing 
admissionsandtransport@powys.gov.uk or by phoning (01597) 826477. 

  

Page 22



15 

 

3. DETAILS OF AFFECTED SCHOOLS 
 

The School Organisation Code states that information must be provided 
during a consultation about any schools affected by the proposal – these 
include any schools to which it might reasonably be considered that pupils 
may wish to transfer.  
 
Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, there are five alternative schools 
which would be the closest school for pupils that currently attend Nantmel C. 
in W. School. These are: 
 
- Rhayader Church in Wales Controlled School, Bryntirion, Rhayader, 

Powys, LD6 5LT 
- Crossgates Community Primary School, Crossgates, Llandrindod Wells, 

Powys, LD1 6RE 
- Newbridge-on-Wye Church in Wales Controlled School, Newbridge-on-

Wye, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 6LD 
- Llandrindod Wells Church in Wales Controlled School Trefonnen, 

Trefonnen Lane, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 5EB 
- Llandrindod Wells Community Primary School Cefnllys, Cefnllys Lane, 

Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 6AH 
 
Information about these five schools, as well as Nantmel Church in Wales 
Controlled School, Nantmel, Llandrindod Wells, Powys, LD1 6EL are provided 
below. 
 
3.1 Location Map of the Affected Schools 
 
The following map shows the location of Nantmel C. in W. School and the 
other schools which may be affected by this proposal: 
 

 

Page 23



16 

 

 
The distance from Nantmel C. in W. School by road to the other schools is as 
follows: 
 
Rhayader C. in W. School – 4.9 miles 
Crossgates C.P. School – 3.7 miles 
Newbridge-on-Wye C. in W. School – 6.6 miles 
Llandrindod Wells C. in W. School, Trefonnen – 4.5 miles 
Llandrindod Wells C.P. School, Cefnllys – 5.2 miles  
 
3.2 General School Information 
 

S
ch

oo
l 

S
ch

oo
l 

T
yp

e 

La
ng

ua
ge

 
C

at
eg

or
y 

A
dm

is
si

on
 

N
um

be
r 

C
ap

ac
ity

 (
R

 
– 

Y
r 

6)
  

N
ur

se
ry

 
P

la
ce

s 

A
ge

 R
an

ge
 

Nantmel C. in 
W. School  

Voluntary 
Controlled 

English 
medium 

8 62 8 4 – 11  

Rhayader C. 
in W. School  

Voluntary 
Controlled 

Dual 
Stream 

30 213 30 4 – 11 

Crossgates 
C.P. School 

Community 
Primary 

English 
medium 

30 210 28 4 – 11 

Newbridge -
on-Wye C. in 
W. School 

Voluntary 
Controlled 

English 
Medium 

15 107 15 4 – 11  

Llandrindod 
Wells C. in W. 
School 
Trefonnen 

Voluntary 
Controlled 

Dual 
Stream 

30 210 30 4 – 11  

Llandrindod 
Wells C.P. 
School 
Cefnllys 

Community 
Primary 

English 
Medium 

37 258 37 4 – 11  

 
3.3 Pupil numbers 
 
i) Current and Historical Pupil Numbers 
 
Based on PLASC information, the total number of pupils (R – Yr 6) in each of 
the schools over the last 5 years is as follows: 
 
 January  

2015 
January  
2014 

January  
2013 

January  
2012 

January  
2011 

Nantmel C. 
in W. School  

32 25 29 36 36 

Rhayader C. 
in W. School  

151 146 143 153 151 

Page 24



17 

 

Crossgates 
C.P. School 

142 120 126 138 143 

Newbridge -
on-Wye C. in 
W. School 

93 90 82 76 68 

Llandrindod 
Wells C. in 
W. School 
Trefonnen 

181 184 166 182 180 

Llandrindod 
Wells C.P. 
School 
Cefnllys 

218 219 223 201 220 

 
ii) Projected Pupil Numbers  
 
The current projected pupil numbers (R – Yr 6) for each of the schools is as 
follows 
 
School  Jan. 

20162 
Jan. 
2017 

Jan. 
2018 

Jan. 
2019 

Jan. 
2020 

Jan. 
20213 

Nantmel C. 
in W. School  

29 29 30 30 30 30 

Rhayader C. 
in W. School  

154 165 165 170 170 170 

Crossgates 
C.P. School 

140 144 140 145 147 145 

Newbridge -
on-Wye C. 
in W. School  

97 102 108 109 108 107 

Llandrindod 
Wells C. in 
W. School 
Trefonnen 

182 186 192 190 192 192 

Llandrindod 
Wells C.P. 
School 
Cefnllys 

249 245 246 239 237 245 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
2 Actual pupil numbers taken from Teacher Centre on the 14th January 2016, however these are not verified 

PLASC figures 
3 Provisional projection based on the number of year 6 pupils that would be leaving the school in 2020. 

Page 25



18 

 

3.4 School Building Condition 
 
The Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools Survey identified that the 
quality of accommodation at each of the affected schools is as follows4: 
 
 Condition  Suitability  Sustainability  
Nantmel C. in W.  
School  

C C C 

Rhayader C. in W.  
School  

B B D 

Crossgates C .P. 
School 

B A B 

Newbridge -on-Wye 
C. in W. School 

A A A 

Llandrindod Wells 
C. in W. School 
Trefonnen 

A A A 

Llandrindod Wells 
C.P. School 
Cefnllys 

C B C 

 
3.5 Quality of the Current Provision 

 
i) Estyn 

 

Details of the most recent inspection for Nantmel C. in W. School, Rhayader 
C. in W. School, Newbridge-on-Wye C. in W. School and Llandrindod Wells 
C. in W. School Trefonnen are provided in the following table: 
 
 Nantmel C. 

in W. 
School 

Rhayader C. 
in W. 
School 

Newbridge -
on-Wye C. 
in W. 
School  

Llandrindod 
Wells C. in 
W. School 
Trefonnen 

 
Date of 
Inspection 
 

 
May 2012 

 
January 
2014 

 
February 
2011 

 
October 
2013 

 
School’s 
Current 
Performance 
 

 
Good 

 
Adequate 

 
Good 

 
Adequate 

                                                           
4 The categories used in the Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools Survey are defined as follows: 

 

Category A Good 

Category B Satisfactory 

Category C Poor 

Category D Bad 

 

Page 26



19 

 

 
Prospects 
for 
Improvement  
 

 
Good 

 
Good 

 
Good 

 
Adequate 

 
Follow up 
activity 
 

 
N/A 

 
Estyn 
Monitoring 
 
Estyn 
Monitoring 
visit January 
2015 – The 
school was 
judged to 
have made 
good 
progress, 
and was 
removed 
from the list 
of schools 
requiring 
Estyn 
monitoring 
 

 
N/A 

 
Estyn 
monitoring 
 
Estyn 
monitoring 
visit October 
2014 – The 
school was 
judged to 
have made 
good 
progress, 
and was 
removed 
from the list 
of schools 
requiring 
Estyn 
monitoring 

 

Crossgates C.P. School and Llandrindod Wells C.P. School, Cefnllys were 
last inspected before 2011, under the previous Estyn Inspection 
arrangements. The grades awarded for each of the key questions are 
provided in the following table: 
 

 Crossgates C.P. 
School  

Llandrindod 
Wells C.P. 

School 
Cefnllys 

Date of inspection June 2010 December 
2009 

KQ 1: How well do learners achieve? 2 1 
KQ 2: How effective are teaching, 
learning and assessment? 

2 1 

KQ 3: How well do learners’ 
experiences meet the needs and 
interests of the learners and the 
wider community? 

1 2 

KQ 4: How well are learners cared 
for, guided and supported? 

2 1 

KQ 5: How effective are leadership 
and strategic management? 

2 1 

Page 27



20 

 

KQ 6: How well do leaders and 
managers evaluate and improve 
quality and standards? 

2 2 

KQ 7: How efficient are leaders and 
managers in using resources? 

1 1 

 

ii) National School Categorisation System 
 

The National School Categorisation system gives a clear and fair picture of 
how well a school is performing compared with other schools across Wales 
and helps to identify the schools that need the most help, support and 
guidance to improve. 
 

The system has been developed collectively between regional education 
consortia and Welsh Government. Its primary function is to identify, across 
Wales, the schools that need the most support. The colour category of 
support allocated to a school will trigger a bespoke, tailored support 
programme. 
 

The system is based on three steps. It is not purely data-driven and takes into 
account the quality of leadership, teaching and learning in schools. 
 

- Step one – Standards group: A range of information is used to make a 
judgement about the school’s standards, resulting in a standards group 

- Step two – Improvement capacity: An evaluation of the school’s 
capacity to improve further, taking account of the evidence about the 
standards and the quality of leadership, teaching and learning, resulting in 
an improvement capacity 

- Step three – Support category: Bringing the judgement on the standards 
group and improvement capacity together to decide on the school’s 
support category, colour coded either green, yellow, amber of red 

 

The affected schools were categorised as follows during 2015/16: 
 

School  
 

Standards 
Group 

Improvement 
Capacity 

Support 
Category 

Nantmel C. in W. 
School 

3 B Yellow 

Rhayader C. in W. 
School 

1 B Yellow 

Crossgates CP 
School 

2 B Yellow 

Newbridge-on-Wye 
C. in W. School 

1 B Yellow 

Llandrindod Wells C. 
in W. School 
Trefonnen 

2 B Yellow 

Llandrindod Wells 
C.P. School Cefnllys 

3 C Amber 

  

Page 28



21 

 

4. CONSULTATION DETAILS 
 
4.1 Who will we Consult with? 
 

The authority will consult with a range of stakeholders in accordance with the 
School Organisation Code 2013, which include the following: 

 

• The Governing Body of Nantmel 
C. in W. School, Rhayader C. in 
W. School, Crossgates CP, 
Newbridge-on-Wye C. in W. 
School, Llandrindod Wells C. in 
W. School and Llandrindod Wells 
C.P. School 

• The Church in Wales and Roman 
Catholic Diocesan Authorities 

• The Welsh Minister for Education & 
Skills 

• Local Powys County Councillors 
• Town and Community Councils in 

the local area 
• Parents, carers, guardians and 

staff of Nantmel C. in W. School, 
Rhayader C. in W. School, 
Crossgates CP, Newbridge-on-
Wye C. in W. School, Llandrindod 
Wells C. in W. School and 
Llandrindod Wells C.P. School 

• The AM for Brecknock & Radnor 
and regional AMs for the area  

• The MP for Brecknock & Radnor 
• Estyn 
• Teaching and staff trade unions 
• ERW 
• The Police & Crime Commissioner 

• Pupils of Nantmel C. in W. 
School, Rhayader C. in W. 
School, Crossgates CP, 
Newbridge-on-Wye C. in W. 
School, Llandrindod Wells C. in 
W. School and Llandrindod Wells 
C.P. School 

• The Regional Transport Consortium 
• Nursery providers in the local area 
• The Powys Children and Young 

People’s Partnership 

  
4.2 The Consultation Period 
 

The consultation period for the current proposal to close Nantmel C. in W. 
School from the 31st December 2016 will commence on the 29th January 2016 
and will end on the 11th March 2016. 

 
4.3 The Statutory Process 
 

Consultation on this proposal will follow the guidelines set out by the Welsh 
Government in the School Organisation Code (2013). The process is 
summarised below: 
 
4.3.1 Consultation 
 
Consultation will start on the 29th January 2016 and will end on the 11th March 
2016. Feedback from the consultation will be collated and summarised, and it 
is anticipated that a report will be presented to the authority’s Cabinet during 
the summer term 2016. The authority’s Cabinet will consider the report and 
the feedback received during the consultation period, and will decide whether 
to proceed with the proposal, to make changes to the proposal or to not 

Page 29



22 

 

proceed with the proposal. If the Cabinet decides not to proceed, that will be 
the end of this proposal. 
 

4.3.2 Statutory Notice 
 
If the Cabinet decides to proceed, a Statutory Notice will be published, which 
will give a period of 28 days for people to submit written objections. 
 

If there are objections, the authority will publish an objection report providing a 
summary of the objections and the authority’s response to them before the 
end of 7 days beginning with the day of the local authority’s determination. 
Only written objections submitted during the statutory notice period will be 
considered in this report. Comments submitted as part of the consultation 
period will need to be re-submitted in writing during the statutory notice period 
if they are to be considered as objections. 
 

A further report will be presented to the authority’s Cabinet, which they will 
consider alongside the objection report, in order to decide whether or not to 
approve the proposal. 
 
4.3.3 Implementation 
 
If the Cabinet approves the proposal, it will be implemented in accordance 
with the date given in the Statutory Notice or any subsequently modified date. 

 

4.4 How to respond to the Consultation 
 

A consultation questionnaire is attached to this document, and is also 
available on the authority’s internet site at 
http://www.powys.gov.uk/en/schools-students/plans-for-powys-schools/. 
Alternatively, you can respond in writing. 
 

Completed questionnaires and other written responses should be sent to the 
following address: 
 
School Modernisation Team, Powys County Council, County Hall, Llandrindod 
Wells, LD1 5LG 
 
E-mail: school.modernisation@powys.gov.uk 
 

Responses must be received by the 11th March 2016. 
 
If you have any further questions about this proposal, you can contact the 
School Modernisation Team using the above contact details, or on (01597) 
826265.  

Page 30



APPENDIX A  EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) – Decision Assessment reporting template 

This EqIA reporting template is designed to assist in the analysis of gathered data and evidence, to determine the equality impact of a proposal to change 

existing practices of a Council service.  Once complete, the template should be made fully accessible to the public e.g. inclusion with publicly available 

Cabinet reports and/or publication on the Powys County Council website.  For confidential matters, this should be made available once a decision has been 

taken.     

Proposal  To close Nantmel C. in W. School from 

the 31st December 2016 with 

Rhayader C. in W. School to be named 

as the receiving school 

Lead Person undertaking the assessment Sarah Astley 

Service Area Schools Service Relevant Head of Service who has agreed this assessment 

 

Ian Roberts 

Head of Schools 
Date of 

Assessment 

19th November 2015, updated 13th 

January 2016 

The Equality Act 2010, requires that public sector organisations in the exercise of their functions, pay due regard to the following ‘general duty’:  

(a) Eliminating discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

(b) Advancing equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

(c) Fostering good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

The protected characteristics include: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, marriage and civil 

partnership, sex and sexual orientation.  This assessment also includes a consideration of impact upon people and communities whose language of choice 

is Welsh.   

The specific regulations for Wales [Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011] require public sector bodies to monitor relevant policy 

and practises and then assess and report on the impact based upon an analysis of relevant data and evidence.   

1.  AIM or PURPOSE 

Briefly describe the aim or 

purpose of the change 

proposal being assessed.  

This consultation is about whether Powys County Council should commence the statutory process for the following: 

P
age 31



24 

 

Closure of Nantmel C. in W. School from the 31st December 2016. Rhayader C. in W. School to be named as the receiving 

school.  

2.  OBJECTIVES 
Please state the current 

business objectives of the 

change proposal. 

 

The authority is considering commencing the statutory process to close Nantmel C. in W. School because: 

- The school has had fewer than 50 pupils on roll for the three previous years and numbers are not projected to 

increase to above 50 

- There are more than 15% surplus places at the school 

- The funding per pupil is more than 120% of the council’s average 

3.  BENEFITS and OUTCOMES 

i) What are the intended 

benefits or outcomes from 

the change proposal? 

The benefits of the proposal are: 

- More efficient use of resources 

- Reduction in surplus places 

4.  CORPORATE RELEVANCE 

How does this change 

proposal relate to the 

Powys Change Plan and/or 

Powys One Plan? 

The proposal supports Powys County Council’s vision for education, which is outlined within the One Powys Plan for 2014-

17. ‘Transforming Learning and Skills’ is one of the priorities within this plan, and within this priority, the Plan states that  

‘We need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate 

leadership capacity’ 

5.  DATA USED 

5.1. What data has been used to 

conduct this assessment?   

Tick/shade boxes as appropriate. 

Profiling of service users, providing a breakdown of who uses the service by the 

protected characteristics. 

���� 

Service user satisfaction rates, broken down by the protected characteristics.  

 

 

P
age 32



25 

 

Qualitative data (analysed against the protected characteristics) which provides 

evidence about current services users experience accessing the service. 

 

Qualitative data gathered from those that are not currently using the service.  

Complaints monitoring against the protected characteristics  

Wider research reports and findings.   

Relevant service based Equality Impact Assessment  

5.2. Are there any gaps in the 

data?  

 

 

 

 Yes  □ ���� 

Please state the gaps: Qualitative data is not currently provided 

How will the gaps be addressed going forward? 

Qualitative data will be gathered during the consultation process, and the EqIA 

will be updated to reflect the qualitative information received. 

No □ 

6.  DATA ANALYSIS 

6.1 Quantitative  

Summarise the key quantitative data 

analysis results, providing key headline 

statistics.   

Include data that relates to existing 

provision and also data relating to 

proposal. E.g. statistics generated from a 

consultation questionnaire. 

Key questions:  

Information on pupils who attend Nantmel C. in W. School can be obtained via the Pupil Level Annual 

School Census 2015 (PLASC), which shows the profile of pupils according to a range of criteria, including 

age, free school meals, gender, special educational needs, ethnicity, use of Welsh and disabilities. In 

relation to the protected characteristic groups, the profile of pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School is as follows: 

- 32 pupils in total, aged between 3 and 11. 26 pupils aged between 5 and 11. 

- Gender: Of the pupils attending the school, 53% are boys and 47% are girls. 

- Free school meals: 3% are eligible for free school meals. 

- SEN: 0 pupils in the school have Statements of Special Educational Needs. 9% of pupils have special 

needs but do not have a statement 

- Disabilities: 9% of pupils have additional learning needs 

- English as an Additional Language: English is not an additional language for any of the pupils at the 

school. 

P
age 33



26 

 

i) Are certain groups currently 

underrepresented in service user 

figures?  Will a change affect this? 

ii) How do satisfaction levels compare 

across the protected characteristic 

groups?  How will a change affect this? 

 

- Welsh Language: 3% of pupils comes from homes where some Welsh is spoken.  

- Race/ethnicity: PLASC only provides information about the ethnic group of pupils aged 5 and over. 

- The ethnic group of pupils aged 5 and over at the school is as follows: 

- White British – 92% 

- White and Black African – 4% 

- White and Black Caribbean – 4% 

 

This information shows that the proportion of pupils in the school that belong to the protected 

chatacteristic groups is very small.  

 

In addition to the PLASC data, information has been received from the governing body of Nantmel C. in W. 

School which suggests that a number of Gypsy Traveller pupils attend the school, however none of the 

pupils that were registered at the school on the PLASC counting date in January 2015 have been identified 

as Gypsy Travellers on the school’s PLASC return. 

6.2 Qualitative   

Summarise the key qualitative data 

analysis, providing key themes or 

patterns.  

Include data that relates to existing 

provision and also data relating to 

proposal. E.g. protected characteristics 

focus group on the proposal.   

Key questions:  

i) Do certain groups have a different 

service   user experience? How will a 

change affect this? 

ii) Have any areas for improvement been 

communicated by particular groups? 

Consultation on the closure of Nantmel C. in W. School will be carried out in accordance with the 

requirements of the School Organisation Code (2013), and will include a meeting with pupils of Nantmel C. 

in W. School. This will provide qualitative data in respect of the proposal, and the impact on pupils that 

belong to the protected characteristic groups. 

Further detail will be added to the EqIA following the conclusion of the consultation period and 

consideration of the responses received. 

 

P
age 34



27 

 

Will a change have an impact upon 

these views? 

iii) What are the reasons behind some 

groups not using the service?  How will 

a change affect this position? 

iv) What has consultation on your 

proposals revealed about impact on 

the protected characteristics? 

 

7. EqIA RESULT 

Based on an analysis of the available 

qualitative and quantitative data, please 

tick/shade the appropriate box opposite to 

provide the EqIA assessment result. 

 

 

 

The proposal does not present any adverse impact on 

equality.  

[Proceed to question 10] 

 

The proposal presents some adverse impact on equality. 

[Proceed to question 8] 

� 

The prosposal presents significant impact on equality 

[Proceed to question 8] 

 

8. AREAS for IMPROVEMENT 

Please provide detail of weak or sensitive 

areas of the proposal identified by the 

assessment.  

i) Which protected characteristic groups are 

particularly affected?  

ii) Will people on low incomes be affected?  

iii) Will Welsh speakers be affected? 

i) Based on the pupils that were registered at the school on the 2015 PLASC counting date, a 

small number of pupils are in a protected characteristic group due to having additional 

learning needs, and a small number of pupils are in a protected characteristic group due to 

their ethnic group. In addition, information from the school’s governing body suggests that 

pupils from the Gypsy Traveller community attend the school and would be impacted by the 

proposal.  

ii) Free transport will be provided to all qualifying pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. 

School. However, it is acknowledged that it may be more difficult for the parents of pupils on 

P
age 35



28 

 

 

 

 

low incomes that live in Nantmel, due to the additional travel required of parents in order to 

attend activities at the school, or to collect pupils from after school activities.  

iii) Although a very small percentage of pupils come from a home where some Welsh is 

spoken, Nantmel C. in W. School is an English-medium school therefore it is not anticipated 

that the proposal would have an adverse impact on Welsh speakers.  

9.  EQUALITY IMPROVEMENT  

9.1 Having identified problematic aspects to the 

proposal, how will this now be addressed?  

 i.e. Are you able to involve (in some capacity) people 

from protected characteristic groups, Welsh Speakers, 

people on low incomes, to assist you in this process? 

i) Can the impact be mitigated, and how will this be 

done?  

ii) Does the proposal require modification to reduce 

or remove this impact? 

iii) Should the proposal be considered for removal, 

owing to the degree of impact it is likely to have? 

i) The authority is confident that the proposed receiving school and any other schools in 

the local area which pupils may prefer to transfer to would be able to meet the need of 

pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School who belong to the protected 

characteristic groups. Free home to school transport would be provided to qualifying 

pupils to the proposed receiving school or to their closest school.  

ii) At the current time, the proposal does not require modification to reduce or remove the 

impact, however this EqIA will be reviewed and updated following the consultation 

exercise. 

iii) At the current time, the proposal should not be considered for removal. However this 

EqIA will be reviewed and updated following the consultation exercise.  

9.2 Will the management of the impact as outlined in 

9.1, be included in the Service Improvement Plan? 

 

 

Yes  □  

Date added………………. 

Reference………………… 

No □� 

If no, please explain why not: 

Need was not identified at 

time of writing Service Strategy 

10. ONGOING MONITORING 

 Please tick/shade 

P
age 36



29 

 

How will the decision now be monitored on an ongoing 

basis to consider its impact over time?  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Equality monitoring of uptake of the service within which 

the decision was made 

 

Satisfaction monitoring of service users (broken down by 

protected characteristic) 

 

Recording and analysing complaints/requests/compliments  

Targeted periodic focus groups/service user 

interviews/feedback sessions 

 

Other (please specify)  

Monitoring arrangements  

The School Transformation Programme Board is responsible for overseeing the strategic direction of the modernisation agenda: setting direction, implementing 

change, monitoring and reporting to the Cabinet of the Council. 

Equality monitoring will form an integral part of the County Council’s arrangements for any school reorganisation and will be undertaken where a significant or 

material change in provision is proposed.   

The Head of Schools Service will be responsible for on-going monitoring. 

Publication of r esults of the impact assessment  

The results of the impact assessment will be published on the Council’s website 

Equality  Impact Assessment Action Plan  

Any actions identified as a result of this impact assessment will be taken forward for inclusion in the Schools Service Business Plan  

 

P
age 37



APPENDIX B  COMMUNITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT 

 
1.  The Affected Communities  
 
 1.1  Nantmel 

 
Nantmel is a small village located approximately 5 miles from the town of 
Rhayader in Mid Powys. According to the 2011 Census, there are 637 
residents in the area served by Nantmel Community Council5.  
 
English is the main language spoken in the area, however according to the 
2011 Census, 19% of the population have one or more skills in Welsh. 0.94% 
of the population belong to ethnic groups other than White. 
 
The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2014 ranks areas known as Local 
Super Output Areas (LSOA) in terms of deprivation, where 1 is the most 
deprived and 1909 is the least deprived. The Nantmel LSOA is ranked as 
follows6: 
  

Local Super Ou tput Area 
(LSOA) 

WIMD Rank 2014 

Nantmel 1222 
 
Nantmel C. in W. School is a Voluntary Controlled Church in Wales English-
medium Primary School. 
 

 1.2 Rhayader 
 
Rhayader is a small town located in Mid Powys. Acording to the 2011 Census, 
the Rhayader Community Council area had 2088 residents7. 
 
English is the main language spoken in the area, however according to the 
2011 Census, 20% of the population of Rhayader have one or more skills in 
Welsh. 1.15% of the population belong to ethnic groups other than White. 
 
There is 1 Local Super Output Area within the town of Rhayader. The Welsh 
Index of Multiple Deprivation ranks the Rhayader LSOA as follows, where 1 is 
the most deprived LSOA and 1909 is the least deprived8: 

                                                           
5 2011 Census information for the Nantmel Community Council area, taken from 

http://www.powys.gov.uk/en/statistics/view-statistics-about-your-area/detailed-census-information/  
6 https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-

Deprivation/WIMD-2014 
7 2011 Census information for the Rhayader Community Council area, taken from 

http://www.powys.gov.uk/en/statistics/view-statistics-about-your-area/detailed-census-information/ 
8 https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-

Deprivation/WIMD-2014 

Page 38



31 

 

 
Local Super Output Area 
(LSOA) 

WIMD Rank 2014 

Rhayader 1007 
 
Rhayader C. in W. School is a Voluntary Controlled Church in Wales Primary 
School. It is a dual stream school, which means that pupils are either taught 
through the medium of Welsh or English.  

 
2. Community Impact Assessment  

 
2.1  Impact on pupil travel 
 
The home addresses of the 32 children that were attending Nantmel C. in W. 
School on the PLASC counting day in January 2015 were analysed by the 
council’s Research and Information Unit. This analysis showed that Nantmel 
C. in W. School was only the closest school for 19 pupils, which is 59% of the 
pupils attending the school. The closest schools for all of the 32 pupils are 
summarised in the following table: 
 

Closest School  Number of Pupils  
Nantmel C. in W. School 19 
Rhayader C. in W. School 4 
Crossgates C.P. School 3 
Llandrindod Wells C.P. School 
Cefnllys 

3 

Llandrindod Wells C. in W. School 
Trefonnen 

2 

Newbridge-on-Wye C. in W. School 1 
 
Based on this analysis, the average one way journey to school per child for 
pupils attending Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2015 was 3.02 miles. 
 
If there were no school in Nantmel, the next closest school for the children 
that were attending Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2015 would be as 
follows: 
 

Closest School  Number of Pupils  
Crossgates C.P. School 14 
Rhayader C. in W. School 9 
Llandrindod Wells C.P. School 
Cefnllys 

3 

Llandrindod Wells C. in W. School 
Trefonnen 

3 

Newbridge-on-Wye C. in W. School 3 
 

Page 39



32 

 

Based on this analysis, the average one way journey to school per child for 
the pupils that were attending Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2015 would 
be 3.18 miles. 
 
Should there be no school in Nantmel, there would be an increase in travel for 
the 19 pupils for whom Nantmel C. in W. School was their closest school. 
However, there would be a reduction in travel for the remaining 13 pupils, 
should they transfer to their closest school.  
 
2.2  Extra-curricular activities provided by the sc hools 
 
Nantmel C. in W. School 
 
The following clubs are provided by the school outside school hours: 
 
i) Sports Clubs (some run by the pupils who have been elected as Sports 

Ambassadors), including Dragon Sports – cricket, netball, athletics, 
rounders 

ii) PE Club 
iii) Gardening Club 
iv) Other activity sessions, including craft, cookery, computer skills 
 
The following extra-curricular activities are provided by the school: 
Guitar Club; Recorder Lessons; Chess Club; Cross-county Running; 
Swimming Lessons & Gala; Singing; Activities at the Willow Globe. 
 
Rhayader C. in W. School 
 
The following clubs are provided by the school after school hours: 
 
i) Art Club 
ii) Gardening Club 
iii) Clwb yr Urdd 
iv) Dance Club 
v) Running Club 
vi) Sports Club 
 
The following extra-curricular activities are provided during the school day: 
 
Lego Club (lunchtime); Running Club (lunchtime); Sports activities 
(lunchtime); Singing/Music Lessons (lunchtime); Badminton Club (lunchtime) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 40



33 

 

2.3 Community Use of the School Building 
 
Nantmel C. in W. School 
 
The school’s facilities are used by the community for the following activities: 
 
‘Play Radnor’ use the school during the school holidays, as well as after 
school and lunchtimes, and they enjoy the benefit of the outdoor grass area. 
 
A pre-school play group and a mother and toddler group meet at the school. 
 
In addition, the school’s facilities are used by the community regularly for the 
following activities: 
 
Evening classes for children e.g. jewellery making; Children’s parties; Charity 
auction; Women’s Institute (monthly); Community Council meetings; Nantmel 
Show Committee meetings; Marquee section of Nantmel Show moved to the 
school in adverse weather; Golden Hour; Church services held in the school 
when St Cynllo’s Church is inaccessible due to snow & ice; fundraising events 
for the church; refreshments and receptions after Harvest and Carol services, 
funerals, christenings, special occasions such as retirements.  
 
Rhayader C. in W. School 
 
The school’s facilities are used by the community for the following activities: 
 
Community Nursery, Cylch Meithrin, Junior Football, Rhayader Running Club; 
Young Farmers Club 
 
2.4 Other links with the community 
 
Nantmel C. in W. School 
 
The school has strong links with the community, which include the following: 
 
Significant number of entries to the Nantmel Show; Current and former pupils 
help with setting up the Nantmel Show; Voluntary support for the school by 
members of the community – reading, after school clubs and sports, repair 
work on buildings and grounds; talks in support of the school garden; Annual 
school and community BBQ – WI involved in refreshment provision; Used as 
a Polling Station by Powys County Council; The school provides storage for 
tables, chairs and crockery which are used for community events; The school 
uses the Church for special school services, e.g. Harvest Service; Carol 
Service; mock weddings, Eisteddfod. 
 
 

Page 41



34 

 

Rhayader C. in W. School 
 
The school has links with a number of organisations within the community, 
which include the following: 
 
Church, Carad, Community Support, Carnival, Elan Valley Trust, YFC, 
Community Nursery, Male Voice Choir, Cylch Meithrin, Dyfed Powys Police, 
Rhayader RFC, Rhayader Under 5’s, Rhayader Leisure Centre, 
Rainbows/Brownies & Scouts, WI & Mothers Union 
 
2.5 Support that could be offered by the receiving school to Parents 

and Pupils that currently attend Nantmel C. in W. S chool 
 
Pupils from Nantmel C. in W. School and Rhayader C. in W. School are 
already participating together in a number of activities, such as Orienteering, 
School Discos, Cross Country, Residential Trips and Visits.  
  
2.6 Conclusion 
 
The authority acknowledges that the closure of any school will have a 
detrimental impact on the facilities available in the local community. It is clear 
that the community of Nantmel makes use of Nantmel C. in W. School’s 
facilities for a range of activities and events, due to the fact that there is no 
other suitable location to hold these activities in the village. It is currently 
unclear where these activities could take place should Nantmel C. in W. 
School close. However, the school building is owned by the Church in Wales, 
and will remain in the Church’s ownership if the school should close. The 
future use of the building would be a decision for the Church. 
 
In terms of extra-curricular activities, a wide range of activities are offered by 
both schools, and the authority is satisfied that pupils would have the 
opportunity to take part in a similar range of activities at the proposed 
receiving school. However, as many of these are offered after school, it is 
acknowledged that it would be more difficult for those pupils for whom 
Nantmel C. in W. School is their closest school to access these activities if 
they were reliant on home to school transport.  
 

  
 

 
  

Page 42



35 

 

APPENDIX C RESPONSE FORM – NANTMEL C. IN W. SCHOOL 
 
Please provide your comments in the space provided. You can use additional sheets 
if necessary. 
 
1. Please let us know your views on the proposal to close Nantmel C. in W. 

School, including any alternatives to the proposal you think we should 
consider: 

 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
 

Page 43



36 

 

2. Please indicate who you are (e.g. parent, member of staff, governor) 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
3. Name (optional) 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
4(a). Would you like to be informed of the publication of the consultation report? 
 

Yes  No 
 
4(b). If you answered ‘Yes’, please provide an e-mail address or postal address: 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
___________________________________________________________________ 
 
Completed questionnaires should be sent to the following address, by the 11th 
March 2016 : 
 
School Modernisation Team, Powys County Council, County Hall, Llandrindod Wells, 
LD1 5LG 
 
E-mail: school.modernisation@powys.gov.uk 

Page 44



1

Consultation on the proposal to close 
Nantmel C. in W. School

Consultation Report

June 2016

Page 45



2

CONTENTS
Page

1 Overview of the Consultation 3

1.1 Consultation Methods 3
1.2 Responses Received 3

2 Consultation with Pupils 4

2.1 Written responses from pupils 4
2.2 Meeting with the School Council 5

3 Consultation Meetings 7

4 Estyn 12

5 Issues raised during the Consultation 16
Period

Page 46



3

Consultation on the proposal to close Nantmel C. in W. School

1. Overview of the consultation

Powys County Council consulted on a proposal to close Nantmel C. in W. School 
with effect from the 31st Decembe 2016 during the period 29th January 2016 to the 
22nd April 2016. 

1.1 Consultation methods

The consultation documentation was available on the council’s website throughout 
the consultation period, and was distributed to stakeholders, as required by the 
School Organisation Code (2013). A separate version for young people was also 
available and distributed to pupils, and was also available on the council’s website 
throughout the consultation period.

Consultees were invited to respond to the consultation by either completing an online 
consultation form, filling in a paper copy of the form and returning it to the School 
Modernisation Team at County Hall, or writing to the School Modernisation Team.

Meetings were also held with the following:

- School Council – 22nd February 2016
- Staff – 25th February 2016
- Governors – 25th February 2016
- Parents / community – 25th February 2016

1.2 Responses received

A total of 127 written responses were received to the consultation. These included:

i) 46 responses to the online questionnaire
ii) 81 other written responses

This included a response from Estyn, which is provided on page 12.

34 written responses were received from pupils.

Page 47



4

2 Consultation with pupils

2.1 Written responses from pupils

34 written responses were received from pupils. The majority of these were from 
pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School, however a response was also 
received from the School Council of Rhayader C. in W. School.

The issues raised in the responses received from pupils currently attending Nantmel 
C. in W. School are summarised below:

- Pupils have lots of friends in the school
- Pupils learn lots in the school
- There is a wonderful garden at the school
- Pupils attend the school because their parents didn’t want them to go to other 

schools
- Concern about bullying in other schools
- Pupils with additional needs get extra help in Nantmel C. in W. School
- Pupils are happy sharing with Rhayader C. in W. School
- Pupils like the teachers and helpers at the school
- Pupils feel safe in Nantmel C. in W. School
- Pupils enjoy taking part in sports activities on the field and the playground
- Nantmel C. in W. School is the greatest school ever
- Great facilities at the school – massive play areas, big field, orchard, woods, 

fort
- Closing the school would be bad for the community
- Concern about additional travel – environmental impact of extra fumes, fuel 

costs
- Pupils learn more in a small school than they would in a big school
- Pupils from a farming community want to go to a country school
- Concern about capacity in other schools
- Concern that the council wastes money e.g. three people came to speak to 

the school council – why were three people needed?
- Closing the school in the winter will be unsettling for pupils
- There are more distractions in bigger schools
- It is a Church school
- The school achieved ‘Village School of the Year’ in 2002.
- The school is friendly

The issues raised in the response received from the School Council of Rhayader C. 
in W. School are summarised below:

- It would be sad for the children in Nantmel School if the school were to close
- Pupils at Rhayader School enjoy doing things with pupils from Nantmel 

School

Page 48



5

- Rhayader School would have a better running team and a better football team 
if pupils from Nantmel came to the school

- Rhayader School is friendly and fun and Nantmel pupils would like it

2.2 Meeting with the School Council

Officers from the local authority met with the School Council of Nantmel C. in W. 
School to get their views on the proposal. The issues raised in this meeting are 
summarised below:

What do you like about Nantmel School?

- It’s colourful
- There is a good environment – a large field, a garden, a fort
- Everyone is friendly
- They enjoy golden time (a longer playtime on a Friday)
- It is in the Countryside
- There are small classes so less distractions and more attention from 

teachers
- The teachers are nice
- Enjoy the work and the teachers are helpful
- Enjoy planting plants
- Links with the Church, they like going on Church Visits
- There are fun activities, going on school trips, making things (Dens, forts 

etc.) Sports day.
- Santa visits them
- Enjoy games day, they can take their own games and toys in
- They think it’s the best school in the world
- The school is close and they don’t have to travel far
- The football goals
- The food
- Family members work there
- They can sit out of lessons if they are ill or get hurt
- There is a good office
- The school is small so they won’t get lost
- There are no bullies in the school

What don’t you like about Nantmel School?

- The farm toys aren’t very good
- The playground is slanted and isn’t big enough
- There is too much football
- The whiteboards are too small
- The taps in the toilet drip
- There aren’t enough toilets

Page 49



6

What would be worse if you had to move to a different school?

- Additional travel
- The extra traveling with damage the environment
- Money will be wasted on petrol
- Pupils would have to make new friends
- Pupils would lose friends they currently have but they can invite them over 

to their own houses
- The teachers would lose their jobs
- They would lose their head teacher
- They won’t be a part of Nantmel any more
- They will have to go to a bigger schools and there will be more distractions
- There is a difference between country children and town children
- Towns are too noisy
- They may get bullied or feel isolated or excluded
- There are monkey bars in Rhayader – they may fall off and hurt 

themselves

Is there anything that would be better if you had to move to a different 
school?

- There would be more pupils, which would help confidence

If the school were to close and one of the pupils here had additional needs, 
how do you think it would affect them?

- They may get bullied in a bigger school
- It would be harder for them because they are used to the teachers in this 

school

Pupils were asked whether they had any further comments or concerns to 
raise. The following issues were asked:

- Why does the council want to wreck the school?
- The more schools the council closes, the more sad children there will be
- What happens if there isn’t enough room at the other schools?
- Half of what will be saved from closing our school will be spent on 

employing new teachers at another school
- Could the pupils arrange activities to raise money so that the school can 

be kept open?
- They are like a big family here
- It would be unsettling to move schools half way through the year
- Where would the money go?
- What would happen to all our stuff in the school?

Page 50



7

3 Consultation meetings

Consultation meetings with staff, governors and parents / the community were held 
during the consultation period. The issues raised at these meetings are listed below:

3.1 Meeting with staff

- What is the expected timescale for Cabinet to consider the outcome of 
consultation and for a final decision to be made?

- What notice would be given to staff should the school close?
- When will staff actually know what is going to happen?
- Do staff have to accept jobs offered to them via the redeployment 

process?
- What would happen if parents decide to take children out of the school 

before Christmas?
- If the school closed from December 2016, would you be looking for some 

staff to consider staying beyond that date to assist with the closedown?
- Could there be a point where, if staff were redeployed, they would not be 

receiving payment?
- What would be the impact on redundancy payment if we wished to 

continue with supply work?
- If staff take redundancy, is it true that they would not be able to apply for 

another job in Powys County Council within a year?
- If staff were on the redeployment list, what support would be provided to 

enable them to continue to develop skills and training?
- What support would there be from September, if staff do not have a job to 

go to?
- What would happen to the school’s resources should the school close?
- What would happen to any resources paid for by the school fund?
- What are the tax liabilities on any compensatory payments made to staff?
- How do you qualify for redundancy payment?
- If a decision is made to keep the school open, would the school operate as 

usual from January 2017?
- Would the decision on the school’s future need to be referred to the 

Minister for Education?
- If a decision is made not to close the school, how frequently could the 

school be reviewed under the School Transformation Policy?
- There is a high turnover of staff at Nantmel School because it is a small 

school under threat of closure
- What would happen if there were so few pupils left in the school in the 

autumn term that the school became unviable, and how would this affect 
staff?

- Cabinet members are out of touch with the community – they need to take 
time to visit the school and find out more about it

- The Cabinet need to look at personal circumstances when making a 
decision

Page 51



8

- The process is very lengthy
- Proposal goes against Powys’ mission statement – ‘stronger communities 

in the green heart of Wales’
- The good standards at Nantmel School haven’t been mentioned.

3.2 Meeting with governors

- Why aren’t councillors attending the meeting with governors?
- Why is there a separate meeting with governors in addition to the meeting 

with parents?
- Concern that time will be limited for the public meeting
- Why was a request for the public meeting to be recorded denied?
- Having a separate meetings for governors and parents reinforces some 

parents’ perception that governors are given more information than they 
are

- If the school closed, what would happen if there was a deficit budget?
- Are we required to restrict our spending on the children still remaining at 

the school?
- Are there any financial reasons for the proposed closure date of 31st 

December 2016?
- Why was the proposal of federation or split site school not been given 

more consideration?
- No consideration has been given to standards – you are not operating 

under the premise of the quality of education being most important
- There has been no engagement with Cabinet members up until this point 

– there is only one Cabinet member on the School Organisation Review 
Panel – it is mainly made up of officers.

- Awaiting responses to 3 Freedom of Information requests – it is painful to 
have to wait 20 days for this information – request for responses to be 
received before the end of the consultation period.

- Concerns about Rhayader school building – access to the building, car 
parking, no disabled access, school building is categorised as Category D

- Will Cabinet members be visiting the school?
- Feeling that the process isn’t transparent as Cabinet members are 

presented with the information that officers choose to present to them
- Request to extend the consultation period
- Query re funding formula – who determines this? 
- Funding formula does not reflect the locality
- Nobody wants to live in an area where there are no schools
- Seems that the only way to get money from Welsh Government is by 

building schools
- We have the money in Wales but Powys is poor at negotiating for its 

share of it
- The Council seems determined to close small schools – I don’t believe 

this is a democratic consultation process

Page 52



9

3.3 Meeting with parents / community

- What reference has been made to the outcome of the Community Impact 
Assessment in relation to the use of the school building and the school’s 
place in the community?

- Reference to impact of closure of Beguildy School on the community of 
Beguildy

- Nantmel School has been under threat of closure for 8 years and the 
Authority does not say that Nantmel School is available to take pupils

- Rhayader School is not fit for purpose e.g. has a narrow entrance, por 
visibility from site entrance, congestion at drop off and pick up times

- Will access and parking at Rhayader School be reviewed?
- The decision has been made long ago – you haven’t given the school a 

chance
- Nantmel School has managed its budget a lot better than Powys County 

Council has
- Concern about more vehicles using the access to Rhayader School – 

access is the same as it was in the 1940s and there are now 200 children 
using the school

- For what period of time is the playing field leased, how much is paid for it 
and is that charged back to the school’s delegated budget?

- Consultation does not mention DDA ratings for Nantmel and Rhayader 
schools

- Access problems at Knighton School have not been sorted in spite of 
assurances made to parents of pupils of Beguildy School – how can the 
Council make promises about improvements to access at Rhayader 
School?

- School Organisation Code refers to other models of governance e.g. 
federation, as an alternative to closure and a way of keeping children 
within their local communities – why hasn’t this option been afforded to 
this community?

- As creators of the fair funding formula, Powys County Council is 
responsible for making small schools unviable but they are spending 
money on consultants – frustrating for communities to see the Council 
spending money on things we don’t want

- Powys is a very rural county – has sparsity issues
- Parents are about to lose freedom of choice about what type of school 

their children go to.
- There will be longer journey times for small children
- Would the Cabinet be open to collaboration with the community in order to 

save the school – e.g. by the Community Council raising the precept in 
order to fund the shortfall.

- If there was a possibility of Llanfihangel Rhydithon C.P. School becoming 
a church school, would that make the possibility of federation stronger?

Page 53



10

- If Nantmel School closed, it is likely that more than half would go to 
Crossgates. What would be the criteria in terms of allocating places if 
Crossgates School reaches capacity?

- Would it be possible to secure a place in a school now for a move in 
January 2017?

- In the Ystradgynlais area, the Council recognised parental choice and 
make special arrangements for children to stay together – need to treat 
communities consistently.

- There has been no reference to standards
- No consideration of geography of Radnorshire
- Request for Cabinet members to visit the school and the named receiving 

school
- Alternative options appear to have been disregarded – it seems that 

consultation on closure is premature when there are other options
- If a local business wanted to support the school to enable it to remain 

open would that be an option?
- What would be the timescale for the community to submit a business case
- Why should rural schools have to meet the same per pupil cost as town 

schools?
- Request to know what sum of money would need to be found to enable 

the school to continue
- £1000 discrepancy between the Cabinet report and the consultation 

document in relation to savings
- In terms of standards, Rhayader was graded ‘adequate’ at its last 

inspection, Nantmel was graded ‘good’.
- Can you clarify the reference in the document to £10,000 kitchen subsidy?
- Nantmel School has been a centre of excellence for 160 years
- The proposal is all about money
- Concern about the impact of closure of 3 schools on the rural area
- Nantmel only has the school and the church – does not have a village hall
- Powys is trying to deal with schools as if they are in urban communities
- By closing rural schools you are tearing the heart out of the communities
- How many Cabinet members are from Radnorshire?
- Concern about capacity of Crossgates School
- Budger approved by the Council today included projected savings of £60k 

for small school closures – if no decisions have been made how could the 
portfolio holder name Dolau, Llanbister and Nantmel schools?

- What evidence are you gathering on the impact of closure of schools on 
the educational outcomes and wellbeing of pupils?

- Is there any evidence available to indicate outcomes on wellbeing of 
children who have moved from a small to a larger school environment?

- Query about transport costs
- All children at the school can join in activities such as the cricket team – 

there is no selection
- Mistrust and hostility towards the Authority within the community

Page 54



11

- Parents feel that they are being bullied and scared into taking children 
away from the school

- Parents are frightened to enrol their children at Nantmel School because 
of the uncertainty – there are children who might have come to this school 
but have gone to other schools

- What weight will be given to the Community Impact Assessment?
- Why haven’t you already discussed with the Church what conditions relate 

to the school building?
- How have you been able to determine that the birth rate in Nantmel won’t 

increase?
- Parents from outside Nantmel choose to send their children to Nantmel 

School
- There are easier ways for the Council to save £40-60K other than by 

closing Nantmel School 

Page 55



12

4 ESTYN

Estyn’s response to the consultation is provided below:

Estyn’s response to the proposal to close Nantmel Church in Wales Controlled 
School, Powys, from the 31 December 2016. 

This report has been prepared by Her Majesty’s Inspectors of Education and 
Training in Wales. 

Under the terms of the School Standards and Organisation (Wales) Act 2013 and its 
associated Code, proposers are required to send consultation documents to Estyn. 
However, Estyn is not a body which is required to act in accordance with the Code 
and the Act places no statutory requirements on Estyn in respect of school 
organisation matters. Therefore as a body being consulted, Estyn will provide their 
opinion only on the overall merits of school organisation proposals. 

Estyn has considered the educational aspects of the proposal and has produced the 
following response to the information provided by the proposer and other additional 
information such as data from Welsh Government and the views of the Regional 
Consortia, which deliver school improvement services to the schools within the 
proposal. 

Introduction 

The proposal is by Powys County Council. 

The local authority proposes to: 
 close Nantmel Church in Wales Controlled School, Powys, from the 31 

December 2016; and 
 name Rhayader Church in Wales Controlled School, Powys, as the receiving 

school. 

Summary/Conclusion 

While the local authority provides a suitable rationale for the proposal, it has not 
analysed the current performance of the schools affected by the proposal nor has it 
provided a robust enough consideration of its own, or the regional consortium’s view 
of the performance of the schools. This lack of information does not make it possible 
for Estyn to judge the likely impact of the proposal on standards and the quality of 
provision for pupils in the area. 

Description and benefits 

The local authority appears to give an appropriate rationale for the proposal based 
on the local authority’s ‘School Transformation Policy’. The proposer basis its 
reasoning on: pupil numbers that are consistently fewer than 50; surplus places at 
the school that are higher than 15%; funding per pupil is more than 120% of the 
council’s average and an overall building condition categorised as category C or D, 
based on the Welsh Government’s assessment of building condition. 

Page 56



13

However, when quoting the schools’ building condition figures in the document the 
proposer notes that all assessments of Nantmel Church in Wales School are ‘C’. It 
also recognises that the schools’ survey identifies ‘sustainability’ at Rhayader Church 
in Wales School (the school to which it proposes all pupils transfer) as being ‘D’ (the 
lowest score). 

When considering the disadvantages of the proposal, the local authority 
acknowledges that one disadvantage is ‘additional travel for those pupils for whom 
Nantmel Church in Wales School is currently the closest school’. This makes up 
around 60% of the school’s current population. The local authority does not deal 
robustly with many of the disadvantages and risks identified in the proposal. For 
example, the proposal notes that ‘it is acknowledged that it may be more difficult for 
the parents of pupils on low incomes that live in Nantmel, due to the additional travel 
required of parents in order to attend activities at the school, or to collect pupils from 
after school activities.’ However, it makes no suggestions as to how it may address 
this. 

The local authority acknowledges that the closure of the school will have a 
detrimental impact on the facilities available in the local community. It notes that ‘it is 
clear that the community of Nantmel makes use of Nantmel Church in Wales 
School’s facilities for a range of activities and events, due to the fact that there is no 
other suitable location to hold these activities in the village’. For example, the school 
facilities are used for many events, such as evening classes for children and 
meetings of the Women’s Institute and Community Council. The proposer notes that 
it is unclear where these activities could take place should Nantmel Church in Wales 
School close. 

The proposer has considered the impact of the proposed changes on learner travel, 
in detail. However, in a few cases, the local authority’s provision for travel appears at 
odds with the stated aim of the proposal and the local authorities has not considered 
well enough the impact of the proposal on nursery age children. The proposer also 
notes a possible issue concerning pupils’ health and safety should the proposal go 
ahead. 

The stated aim of this proposal is for pupils from Nantmel Church in Wales School to 
transfer to Rhayader Church in Wales School. In support of this the proposal notes 
that ‘in the event of the closure of Nantmel Church in Wales School, pupils currently 
attending the school would receive transport to Rhayader Church in Wales School’. 
However, the proposal also states that, ‘it should be noted that this arrangement 
would only apply to those pupils where Nantmel Church in Wales School is their 
nearest provision’ and ‘if on closure of Nantmel Church in Wales School, another 
Powys school was the closest provision to their home address, pupils would receive 
transport to that school if they lived more than two miles from the school. From the 
local authority’s own figures, it would appear that Nantmel is not the closest school 

Page 57



14

for around 40% of its current pupils and that if Nantmel closes then Rhayader is not 
the closest school for around 70% of Nantmel’s pupils. Therefore, while the proposer 
has based its case on the assumption that pupils will transfer to Rhayader, it would 
appear that the local authority may support only a few pupils to travel to that school. 
The proposal notes that the local authority’s transport policy applies only to pupils ‘of 
primary school age’. Therefore, it is not clear how the local authority will provide for 
children of nursery age should Nantmel Church in Wales School close. The proposer 
does not outline how many children of nursery age are at Nantmel Church in Wales 
School, projected nursery numbers, where the nearest alternative nursery provision 
is, how far away it is, or whether it has places for these children. 

The local authority notes that in the event of the closure of Nantmel Church in Wales 
School, where pupils who transfer to their closest school do not qualify for home to 
school transport, they would carry out a risk assessment on their shortest walking 
route to school to assess safety. It notes that for pupils living within towns, it is likely 
that there would be a safe walking route available to the closest school. However, 
the proposer recognises that ‘this may not always be the case for pupils living in 
more rural areas’. The local authority does state that, ‘If the walking route was 
deemed to be unsafe, home to school transport would be provided’. However, it is 
not clear whether this would be transport to the parent and child’s school of choice or 
only to a school designated by the local authority. 

The current proposal does not appear to create any surplus places. The local 
authority includes information on the maximum admission numbers for statutory age 
pupils (from Reception to Year 6) and Nursery age pupils for all of the schools in the 
proposal. However, when considering current and projected pupil numbers, the 
proposal does not contain figures for pupils who are currently in the Nursery at 
Nantmel Church in Wales School or any of the other receiving schools. Therefore, 
while it appears that there are sufficient places at Rhayader Church in Wales School 
to accept pupils from Nantmel Church in Wales School from Reception to Year 6, it 
is unclear whether nursery age pupils would be able to transfer to Rhayader Church 
in Wales School, or to which other schools they could go. 

It would appear that the local authority has considered the impact of the proposal on 
Welsh medium provision within the local authority suitably, and that the current 
proposal would seem to have little or no impact on this area. 

Educational aspects of the proposal 

The proposer has considered the outcomes of recent relevant Estyn inspection 
reports and noted the national schools’ categorisation level for all of schools in the 
proposal. However, the proposal provides no other information on the local 
authority’s or the consortium’s view on the current performance of the schools or the 
quality of leadership and management at the schools. 

The proposer provides no data and no analysis of the performance of the schools in 
the proposal. This makes it difficult to judge the strength of the proposal in terms of 
its impact on outcomes for pupils. 

Page 58



15

When considering the impact of the proposals on pupil outcomes and provision, the 
local authority does not consider sufficient evidence. It states that due to the low 
numbers involved in the proposal, ‘it is not anticipated that the proposal would have 
a significant impact on outcomes at any of the affected schools’. In terms of extra-
curricular activities, both schools appear to offer a worthwhile range of activities. 
However, the proposer acknowledges that Rhayader Church in Wales School offers 
many of these activities after school and that it would be more difficult for those 
pupils for whom Nantmel Church in Wales School is their closest school to access 
these activities if they were reliant on home to school transport. The proposer makes 
no suggestion as to how it could address this issue. 

In terms of leadership, the proposer notes that the headteacher of Rhayader Church 
in Wales School is also currently the acting headteacher at Nantmel Church in Wales 
School. Therefore the proposer asserts reasonably that, ‘it is possible that the 
closure of Nantmel Church in Wales School would have a positive impact on 
leadership and management at Rhayader Church in Wales as it would enable the 
headteacher to focus solely on one school’. 

Currently no pupil at Nantmel Church in Wales School has a statement of special 
educational needs. However, the proposer notes that of the pupils registered at the 
school on the 2015 counting date, a small number of pupils are in a protected 
characteristic group due to having additional learning needs or due to their ethnic 
group. It assumes, reasonably, that any receiving school could make suitable 
provision for these pupils. It also notes that ‘information from the school’s governing 
body suggests that pupils from the Gypsy Traveller community attend the school and 
would be impacted by the proposal.’ However, the proposal goes onto state that, no 
pupil that the school registered on the counting date in January 2015 was identified 
as a Gypsy Traveller. Therefore, it is unclear whether the local authority has 
identified all vulnerable groups and considered them robustly enough.

Page 59



16

5 ISSUES RAISED DURING THE CONSULTATION PERIOD

The following tables list the issues raised during the consultation period, including issues raised in writing by pupils and all other 
consultees, and issues raised in the consultation meetings held with the School Council, staff, governors and parents / the 
community.

REF ISSUE LOCAL AUTHORITY RESPONSE

1 IMPACT ON PUPILS

1.1 Pupil well-being

1.1.1 Is there any evidence available to 
indicate the impact of closure of 
schools on the educational outcomes 
and wellbeing of pupils? What 
evidence are you gathering on this?
 

The closure of 10 primary schools in the Maesydderwen catchment and the establishment 
of 4 new primary schools has resulted in improved outcomes and standards of wellbeing. 
This is evidenced in the recent Estyn inspections of the four new schools.

1.1.2 Is there any evidence available to 
indicate the impact on the wellbeing 
of children who have moved from a 
small to a larger school environment?

The closure of 10 primary schools in the Maesydderwen catchment and the establishment 
of 4 new primary schools has resulted in improved outcomes and standards of wellbeing. 
This is evidenced in the recent Estyn inspections of the four new schools.

1.1.3 The school must remain open for 
emotional well-being of the children

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition. The authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to 
minimise this period of uncertainty.

1.1.4 The proposals have already begun to 
affect the pupils emotionally

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition. The authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to 
minimise this period of uncertainty for pupils.

P
age 60



17

1.1.5 What special measures will the 
council put in place to ensure the 
wellbeing of children due to the 
disruption of their education, 
friendship groups and their stable 
daily routine?

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils. Should the school close, the receiving school or any other school 
pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their transition. The 
authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to minimise this 
period of uncertainty for pupils.

1.1.6 Pupils are upset and crying at the 
thought of closure and having to 
leave their friends and their school

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils. Should the school close, the receiving school or any other school 
pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their transition. The 
authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to minimise this 
period of uncertainty for pupils.

1.1.7 Closing the school will cause distress 
to pupils

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils. Should the school close, the receiving school or any other school 
pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their transition. The 
authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to minimise this 
period of uncertainty for pupils.

1.1.8 Some children would not be happy 
and confident in a class of 30+ 
children

The authority acknowledges that some pupils might be happier in a small class situation, 
however all schools are expected to ensure that pupils are happy in their learning 
environment, and should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would be expected to provide full support to pupils 
to aid their transition.

1.1.9 Concern about the wellbeing of the 
quiet, shy, timid child in a larger 
school

The authority acknowledges that some pupils might be happier in a small class / school 
situation, however all schools are expected to ensure that pupils are happy in their 
learning environment, and should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the receiving school or 
any other school pupils might wish to transfer to would be expected to provide full support 
to pupils to aid their transition.

1.1.10 Pupils can feel intimidated and 
unhappy in larger classes

The authority acknowledges that some pupils might be happier in a small class situation, 
however all schools are expected to ensure that pupils are happy in their learning 
environment, and should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would be expected to provide full support to pupils 

P
age 61



18

to aid their transition.

1.2 Separation from friends

1.2.1 Pupils would lose their friends and 
would have to make new friends

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition, and to ensure that the pupils settle into their new classes. 

1.2.2 There are no plans to transport pupils 
to new schools, so this would lead to 
a breakdown in friendship groups

The authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving school in respect of 
this proposal, and transport would be provided to this school for all pupils for whom 
Nantmel C. in W. School is currently the closest school. Alternatively, pupils living closer to 
a school other than Nantmel C. in W. School would be eligible for transport to their closest 
schools, if they meet the requirements of the authority’s Home to School Transport Policy.

1.2.3 Sending pupils to different schools 
will mean that children will be 
educated in different places to their 
childhood friends

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils. The authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving 
school in respect of this proposal, and is confident that this school has sufficient available 
places to accommodate all pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School. However, 
should Nantmel C. in W. School close, parents would be entitled to apply for a place for 
their child in any alternative school. Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the named 
receiving school or any other school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support 
to pupils to aid their transition, and to ensure that they make new friends and settle into 
their new classes.

1.2.4 Concern that pupils would have to 
attend different schools if there was 
insufficient capacity at Crossgates 
C.P. School

The authority notes this concern. Rhayader C. in W. School is the named receiving school 
in respect of this proposal, and the authority is confident that there are sufficient places in 
this school to accommodate all pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School. Should 
Nantmel C. in W. School close, parents would be entitled to apply for a place for their child 
in any school they wish, and places will be allocated if there are places available. At the 
current time, there is sufficient capacity in Crossgates C.P. School to accommodate all 
pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School. Should the position in respect of 
Crossgates C.P. School change in the future, places at the school would be allocated in 
accordance with the authority’s Admissions Criteria.

P
age 62



19

1.3 Disruption to pupils

1.3.1 It will be unsettling for pupils to move 
school during the school year

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition. Due to the lengthy statutory process that must be followed, it would not be 
possible to conclude this process in time for the school to close at the end of the summer 
term 2016, therefore the authority is currently proposing closure of the school from the end 
of December 2016.

1.3.2 Closure of the school would be 
disruptive to the existing pupils’ 
education

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition. The authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to 
minimise this period of uncertainty for pupils.

1.3.3 Concern that pupils would struggle to 
fit into their new classes and to make 
new friends

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, however the receiving school or any other school pupils might wish 
to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their transition.

1.3.4 Pupils would lose their headteacher The authority notes that any school reorganisation proposal leads to a period of 
uncertainty for the pupils involved. Nantmel C. in W. School does not currently have a 
permanent headteacher. The headteacher of Rhayader C. in W. School, the named 
receiving school for this proposal, is currently the acting headteacher of Nantmel C. in W. 
School, therefore pupils would not lose their headteacher should they transfer to this 
school.

1.3.5 Closing the school would take 
children out of their comfort zone

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, and that some pupils might be concerned about the possibility of 
having to move to a different school. However, should the school close, the receiving 
school or any other school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils 
to aid their transition. The authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible 
in order to minimise this period of uncertainty for pupils.

1.3.6 It would be traumatic for young The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 

P
age 63



20

children should the school close uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition.

1.3.7 Some pupils have just arrived at 
Nantmel C. in W. School

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition.

1.3.8 Concern that the same children will 
be subjected to a second move of 
school within their secondary 
education under the Council’s plans 
to relocate secondary provision to a 
new site

The authority notes this concern. The current proposal for the reorganisation of secondary 
schools includes retaining provision on the Llandrindod High School site.

1.3.9 The proposal to close the school and 
move children in the middle of an 
academic year will unsettle children – 
teachers would normally assess a 
child’s ability when they move into 
their class in September

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, and that it would be preferable for a school to close at the end of an 
academic year where possible. However it is not true that teachers would only assess a 
child’s ability in September – assessment does not happen at one point in the year, and 
formative assessment which is on-going is a requirement for all schools.

1.4 Impact of moving to a larger school

1.4.1 Pupils would have to go to bigger 
schools where there would be more 
distractions

The authority accepts that should Nantmel C. in W. School close, pupils would have to go 
to bigger schools. 

1.4.2 Pupils might feel subsumed into a 
much larger school

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition. The authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to 
minimise this period of uncertainty for pupils.

P
age 64



21

1.4.3 Pupils would be in larger classes and 
would get less attention from the 
teacher

The authority accepts that should Nantmel C. in W. School close, pupils would have to go 
to alternative schools where they would most likely be in larger classes. However the 
current small class sizes at Nantmel C. in W. School are unviable.

1.5 Impact on standard of education provided to pupils

1.5.1 Children will not get the best start in 
their educational journey if Nantmel 
School closes

‘Transforming learning and skills’ is one of the priorities in the One Powys Plan, and within 
this priority, the plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children and young 
people are supported to achieve their full potential’. The Plan also states that ‘we need to 
re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability 
and appropriate leadership capacity.’
 

1.5.2 Pupils won’t learn as much in a big 
school

The authority does not agree with this statement. In the Maesydderwen catchment, the 
authority closed 10 primary schools and established four new larger primary schools. This 
has resulted in improved outcomes and standards of wellbeing, which is evidenced in the 
recent Estyn inspections of all four schools. 

1.5.3 Standard of teaching may be affected 
in larger classes

There is no evidence that teaching is less effective in larger classes. In the Maesydderwen 
catchment, the authority closed 10 primary schools and established four new larger 
primary schools. This has resulted in improved outcomes and standards of wellbeing, 
which is evidenced in the recent Estyn inspections of all four schools.

1.6 Separation from the community

1.6.1 Pupils wouldn’t be part of Nantmel 
anymore

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, pupils would attend a different school, however 
they would still live in Nantmel and would still be able to play a full part in the community

1.6.2 Closure would remove the chance for 
rural children to be educated in their 
own local surroundings

Rhayader C. in W. School, the named receiving school, serves a wide catchment area, 
and the pupils that attend are a mixture of pupils living within Rhayader and pupils living in 
the rural area surrounding Rhayader. The authority is confident that Rhayader C. in W. 
School, and any other school pupils may wish to transfer to, would be able to meet the 
needs of children from a rural background.

1.7 Lack of equal opportunity

P
age 65



22

1.7.1 Pupils should be able to benefit from 
the same opportunities their parents 
did in this small village community

The authority is committed to ensuring the best possible opportunities for pupils, and is 
satisfied that should the proposal be implemented, pupils would be able to access a wide 
range of opportunities in the schools to which they may wish to transfer. The authority 
acknowledges the range of opportunities provided by Nantmel C. in W. School, however 
as stated in the One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary 
and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

1.8 Other

1.8.1 Concern that pupils would be forced 
to go to other schools

Whilst the authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving school in 
respect of this proposal, parents can apply for a place at any school they wish, and the 
authority would allocate a place at the chosen school as long as there were places 
available. However, pupils would not be eligible for school transport unless the chosen 
school was their closest school.

1.8.2 What measures have the authority 
taken to monitor children from 
schools that have closed to ensure 
that they settle in and don’t fall 
behind?

The authority monitors, supports and challenges all schools to ensure that pupils make 
good progress.

1.8.3 Closure would be devastating for the 
children – would have to leave the 
little school they love and move 
somewhere larger in a town they are 
not familiar with – this will have a 
detrimental effect on their education 
and their emotional development and 
self-esteem

‘Transforming learning and skills’ is one of the priorities in the One Powys Plan, and within 
this priority, the plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children and young 
people are supported to achieve their full potential’. Whilst the authority accepts that any 
school reorganisation proposal creates a period of uncertainty, the authority is committed 
to ensuring that the best possible opportunities are available to all pupils, and should 
Nantmel C. in W. School close, the named receiving school or any other school pupils 
might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their transition, and to 
ensure that the proposal does not have a detrimental effect on their education, their 
emotional development and their self-esteem.
 

1.8.4 Little attention is being paid to the 
needs of and impact on pupils

‘Transforming learning and skills’ is one of the priorities in the One Powys Plan, and within 
this priority, the plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children and young 
people are supported to achieve their full potential’. Whilst the authority accepts that any 
school reorganisation proposal creates a period of uncertainty, the authority is committed 

P
age 66



23

to ensuring that the best possible opportunities are available to all pupils, and should 
Nantmel C. in W. School close, the named receiving school or any other school pupils 
might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their transition, in order to 
meet the needs of all pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School and to minimise 
the impact on these pupils.

1.8.5 Closure of Nantmel C. in W. School 
will lead to an increase in pupils being 
home schooled

The authority notes this comment.

2 IMPACT ON PUPILS WITH ADDITIONAL NEEDS

2.1 Pupils with additional needs may get 
bullied or feel isolated or excluded in 
a different school

All Powys schools are sensitive to the needs of vulnerable children, and the school’s 
resources are available to ensure that new pupils feel happy and safe in school, and that 
pupils with any particular needs have those needs understood and provided for.

2.2 The impact on pupils with additional 
needs would be greater because they 
are used to the teachers in Nantmel 
School

Individual children will find a move more or less stressful according to their needs and 
personality. Staff in the new school will be particularly sensitive to those with additional 
needs, and transition planning would ensure that children were as familiar as possible with 
their new surroundings and their new teachers before they went.

2.3 Pupil with dyslexia – dyslexia was 
spotted early on and addressed 
accordingly. May not have been 
recognised and dealt with in the same 
way if he was in a large school with a 
large class.

Identification of a special educational need such as dyslexia is dependent on good quality 
teaching and assessment together with effective SENCo practice and expertise. All Powys 
schools have access to advisory support and so there is no reason why a pupil with a 
specific learning difficulty will not have those needs recognised and responded to in the 
alternative schools.

2.4 Smaller classes mean that pupils with 
learning difficulties such as dyslexia 
can get the support they need

Identification of special educational need such as dyslexia is dependent on good quality 
teaching and assessment together with effective SENCo practice and expertise. All Powys 
schools have access to advisory support and so there is no reason why a pupil with a 
specific learning difficulty will not have those needs recognised and responded to in the 
alternative schools.

2.5 In the past, many pupils have needed The authority is pleased to note the successes of previous pupils of Nantmel C. in W. 

P
age 67



24

additional support but all have left 
high school with good GCSEs

School. There is no reason to think that these successes would not be replicated should 
pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School transfer to one of the alternative 
schools.

2.6 Pupils with dyslexia have progressed 
well at Nantmel School – would not 
have progressed as well in a bigger 
school

Identification of a special educational need such as dyslexia is dependent on good quality 
teaching and assessment together with effective SENCo practice and expertise. All Powys 
schools have access to advisory support and so there is no reason why a pupil with a 
specific learning difficulty will not have those needs recognised and responded to in the 
alternative schools.

2.7 There will always be children that 
need more investment and this needs 
to be accounted for in this 
consultation

The authority recognises that there are children who need more in terms of resourcing to 
support their learning, and this is accounted for in the ALN delegated budget as well as 
access to the graduated response to need e.g. top up funding. The ALN budget currently 
provided to Nantmel C. in W. School is small due to the school’s size and demography, 
the ALN budget in the alternative schools is significantly larger.

2.8 Powys County Council’s SEN 
Strategy states that ‘monitoring and 
evaluation of data and outcomes will 
take place to inform policies and 
provision’ – request for evidence of 
this.

There is no change to the ALN provision in this proposal in terms of structure and delivery, 
therefore there is no need to ‘monitor and evaluate data and outcomes’. The ALN Strategy 
is applicable to all maintained schools and the processes to support children with 
additional needs are embedded within them.

3 IMPACT ON VULNERABLE PUPILS

3.1 Concern about impact on looked after 
children as carers would not be able 
to go into the school so easily if the 
child was reliant on school transport 

Communication between all parents and children is critical to their success at school. The 
particular needs of a looked after child with regard to partnership working with the foster 
carer are recognised by all schools and if the foster carer is unable to have regular face to 
face contact with the teacher, other methods such as home to school books, regular 
telephone contact, e-mail etc. have been found to be successful.

3.2 Concern about additional disruption to 
looked after children if they have to 
move school

The authority notes this concern. The authority’s LAC manager has confirmed that 
Rhayader C. in W. School and Crossgates C.P. School have experience of supporting 
looked after children in an educational setting, therefore the authority would have no major 
concerns about looked after children moving to either of these schools.

P
age 68



25

3.3 Looked after children feel safe in 
Nantmel C. in W. School 

There is no reason to think that any child will not feel safe in any of the alternative schools 
proposed for current pupils of Nantmel C. in W. School. Transition planning would ensure 
that all pupils are as familiar as possible with their new surroundings and their new 
teachers before they went.

3.4 Needs to be choice for more 
vulnerable groups – taking Nantmel 
School away would be taking away 
that choice

All parents have the ability to express a preference for a school, and Powys will allocate 
places in the chosen school if there are places available. There is nothing to evidence that 
vulnerable groups would be affected negatively by the closure of Nantmel C. in W. School. 

3.5 Would like Cabinet to explain how 
they speak out and represent the 
vulnerable

‘Transforming learning and skills’ is one of the priorities in the One Powys Plan, and within 
this priority, the plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children and young 
people are supported to achieve their full potential’. This aspiration relates to all pupils, 
including vulnerable pupils. Whilst the authority accepts that any school reorganisation 
proposal creates a period of uncertainty, the authority is committed to ensure the best 
possible opportunities are available to all pupils.

3.6 School Organisation Code states that 
the ‘impact on vulnerable groups 
should be considered’ – request for 
evidence of this.

An equality impact assessment was carried out, and was considered by Cabinet before 
making the decision to commence consultation in relation to closure of Nantmel C. in W. 
School, and was included in the consultation document. This will be updated following the 
consultation period to include information received in consultation responses.

3.7 Nantmel School has a wonderful way 
of integrating children from the local 
traveller community

The authority notes this comment. None of the pupils registered at the school on the 
PLASC counting date in January 2015 and January 2016 were identified as Gypsy 
Travellers on the school’s PLASC return. The authority is not aware that any Gypsy 
Traveller children are currently attending the school. 

4 TRAVEL IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Additional travel time / distance for pupils

4.1.1 Concern about the impact of 
additional travel / longer journey times 
on small children

The authority accepts that there will be some additional travel times / journeys for children, 
however these will be within the time limits identified within the authority’s home to school 
transport policy. 

P
age 69



26

4.1.2 Concern that due to the additional 
travel, children would be putting in 
more hours than their teachers

The authority accepts that for some children there will be an increase in the time they 
would be required to travel, however it is the authority’s view that this increase would not 
be significant as the closest alternative school is within a 5 miles radius for most children.

4.1.3 Concern about the additional length 
of the school day for pupils due to 
additional travel

The authority accepts that the increase in travel will increase the length of the school day 
for the children, but it is the authority’s view that this will not result in an excessive length 
of school day for any of the children currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School.

4.1.4 Children will not see their homes in 
daylight in winter months due to 
additional travel time

The authority notes this comment, however it is the authority’s view that this proposal will 
not result in an excessive length of school day for any of the children currently attending 
Nantmel C. in W. School.

4.1.5 Additional travel will impact on 
children’s education and general well-
being by adding time to their school 
day

The authority notes this comment, however it is the authority’s view that this proposal will 
not result in an excessive length of school day for any of the children currently attending 
Nantmel C. in W. School.

4.1.6 Bussing children for long periods of 
time cannot be preferable to children 
being schooled in their own 
community

The authority notes this comment, however it is the authority’s view that this proposal will 
not result in an excessive length of school day for any of the children currently attending 
Nantmel C. in W. School.

4.1.7 Pupils would have to travel up to 10 
miles

The authority notes this comment. The authority’s view is that this proposal will not result 
in an excessive length of school day for any of the children currently attending Nantmel C. 
in W. School.

4.1.8 Approximately 70% of pupils will have 
to travel further

The authority notes this comment, however it is the authority’s view that this proposal will 
not result in an excessive length of school day for any of the children currently attending 
Nantmel C. in W. School.

4.2 Cost of additional travel

4.2.1 Concern that money will be wasted 
on petrol

The authority notes this comment, and accepts that implementation of the proposal would 
lead to an increase in transport costs. The estimated additional cost of school transport 

P
age 70



27

should the proposal be implemented was included in the consultation document.

4.2.2 The cost of transporting pupils over 
greater distances will outweigh any 
savings made

The authority notes this comment, and accepts that implementation of the proposal would 
lead to an increase in transport costs. The estimated additional cost of school transport 
should the proposal be implemented was included in the consultation document.

4.2.3 Will lead to an increase in transport 
costs

The authority notes this comment, and accepts that implementation of the proposal would 
lead to an increase in transport costs. The estimated additional cost of school transport 
should the proposal be implemented was included in the consultation document.

4.2.4 Increases to transport costs would put 
further pressures on PCC’s budget, 
so the savings may not be as 
extensive as claimed

The authority notes this comment, and accepts that implementation of the proposal would 
lead to an increase in transport costs. The estimated additional cost of school transport 
should the proposal be implemented was included in the consultation document.

4.3 Environmental impact of additional travel

4.3.1 Concern that the additional travel 
would damage the environment

The authority accepts that there will be an environmental impact due to the provision of 
additional transport, however this will be mitigated to some extent by a reduction in the 
building footprint of schools and the reduction in parental transport.

4.3.2 How will transporting children to 
school help to reduce Powys County 
Council’s carbon emissions?

The authority accepts that the provision of additional transport will result in an increase in 
carbon emissions from transport, however this will be mitigated to some extent by a 
reduction in the building footprint of schools and the reduction in parental transport.

4.4 Impact on access to after school activities

4.4.1 Concern about additional travel for 
after school clubs

The authority notes this comment and accepts that parents will have increased travel to 
allow their children to access after school clubs. The authority will work and support the 
receiving school and any other school to which pupils may transfer to maximise the 
access to extra-curricular opportunities for all pupils.

4.4.2 The Council will fail the children of 
Nantmel by not being able to provide 
transport to allow them to participate 

The authority recognises that all pupils who are transported to school on authority 
commissioned Home to School Transport do not have the same access to extra-curricular 
activities that take place outside the school day, and this applies to those pupils in the 

P
age 71



28

in extra-curricular activities school that live more than 2 miles from the school and live in its catchment area.

The authority will work with the Headteachers and Governing Bodies of the named and 
other receiving schools to ensure that participation in all school activity is maximised for all 
learners.

4.5 Additional transport requirements for pupils who currently make their own way to school

4.5.1 Pupils can currently walk or cycle to 
school, which gives health and well-
being benefits

The authority accepts that the proposal will result in those children who currently live 
under the 2 mile limit for home to school transport having to be transported to a school, 
which will have an impact on the level of exercise undertaken by those children who 
currently walk or cycle to school. 

4.5.2 A lot of pupils can currently find their 
own way to school, so no transport 
needs to be provided

The authority notes this comment. 

4.6 Other

4.6.1 Concern that pupils would only get 
transport to their closest school, not 
the named receiving school, therefore 
some children will have no option but 
to go to Crossgates School

As the authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving school in respect 
of this proposal, home to school transport would be provided to existing pupils who live in 
the catchment area of Nantmel C. in W. School to Rhayader C. in W. School or the closest 
school to their home address if this was the parental choice.

4.6.2 Unacceptable to expect children 
whose parents / guardians prefer 
them to be educated in a rural setting 
to be bussed into an urban setting 
that is far larger

Although both Rhayader C. in W. School and Crossgates C.P. School are larger than 
Nantmel C. in W. School they both serve a mixture of children from towns, smaller 
villages, hamlets and farms. Although the alternative schools will have more children from 
the towns, both also have a significant percentage of children from more rural areas. 

4.6.3 School transport may not be suitable 
for working parents, so would have to 
transport pupils themselves

The authority notes this comment. Transport would be provided in accordance with the 
authority’s Home to School Transport Policy, however if the arrangements were not 
acceptable to parents they could choose to transport pupils themselves at their own cost.

P
age 72



29

4.6.4 Closure of Nantmel C. in W. School 
would result in an increase in busses 
and cars to a site that is not fit for 
purpose

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality, however the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and meets the authority’s requirements. The number of car parking 
places at the school is lower than the number that would be provided for a new school, 
however this is in-line with the number of places at similar sized older schools. The 
majority of children currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School would be eligible for home 
to school transport to Rhayader C. in W. School, therefore this would reduce the additional 
number of cars that would be accessing the site.

5 IMPACT ON STAFF

5.1 Concern that the teachers would lose 
their jobs

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal will lead to a period of 
uncertainty for teachers and other staff working in any school affected by the proposal.

5.2 What notice would be given to staff 
should the school close?

Staff would not be given notice until a full HR process has been followed. Nothing would 
happen until a final decision on the school’s future had been made by Cabinet.

Should Cabinet agree to the closure of Nantmel C. in W. School, there would be a 
consultation process with staff, consulting on redundancy before notice is given. 

Notice of redundancy for teachers must be provided no later than:

• 31st October for termination of employment on 31st December
• 28th February for termination of employment 30th April
• 31st May for termination of employment on 31st August. 

However for December and April dismissals, if the teacher has more than 8 years' service 
a longer (statutory) notice period will apply - 1 week per year of service up to a maximum 
of 12 weeks. 

The notice period for support staff is normally 1 month, but if a member of staff has more 
than 4 years’ service, it will be longer – a week per year of service up to a maximum 
period of 12 weeks. 

5.3 When will staff know what is going to The School Organisation Code requires the authority to inform staff at each stage of the 

P
age 73



30

happen? process therefore staff will be informed of progress throughout. The authority is aiming for 
a final decision to be made by Cabinet before the end of July 2016, however this is subject 
to change.

5.4 Do staff have to accept jobs offered to 
them via the redeployment process?

Staff do not have to accept jobs offered to them via the redeployment process, however if 
staff turned down what was considered by the authority to be a suitable offer of 
employment, they might make themselves ineligible for redundancy pay, although the 
authority would take personal, individual circumstances into consideration. The offer of 
employment must be “reasonable” in the circumstances. Staff are entitled to a 1 month 
trial period in a new role.

5.5 If the school closed from December 
2016, would some staff be needed 
beyond that point to help with the 
closedown?

The authority would be looking to retain some staff to carry out the formal closure process.

5.6 Could there be a point where staff 
would not be receiving payment, if 
they were redeployed?

Staff would be paid as usual for the period for which they were employed. Redundancy 
would take effect from the end date of the notice period. If redeployed, staff would be paid 
in their new role from the date of commencement in that post.

5.7 What would be the impact on 
redundancy payment if staff wanted 
to continue with supply work?

Staff can undertake supply work after the 1 month break so long as this is not a regular 
pattern of work (in which case the Council’s Reemployment of Former Employees policy 
would apply if adopted by the school in question)

5.8 If staff take redundancy, is it true that 
they would not be able to apply for 
another job in Powys County Council 
within a year?

There is a Powys County Council Reemployment of Former Employees policy which 
states that staff cannot be re-employed by the authority within a year of their redundancy 
date – if staff were re-employed by the authority within a year, they would have to pay 
back the redundancy payment. Staff would need to check with individual schools to check 
whether they have adopted that policy. 

5.9 It staff were on the redeployment list, 
what support would be provided to 
enable them to continue to develop 
skills and training?

During their employment staff are able to access all the usual training and development 
activities. They are only included on the redeployment list until their employment 
terminates. Staff can then access support through ReAct via the following links:

http://intranet.powys.gov.uk/uploads/media/ReAct_Leaflet_English.pdf

P
age 74

http://intranet.powys.gov.uk/uploads/media/ReAct_Leaflet_English.pdf


31

http://intranet.powys.gov.uk/uploads/media/ReAct_Leaflet_Welsh.pdf

5.10 What are the tax liabilities on any 
compensatory payments made to 
staff?

If, in the event of closure of the school, staff were redeployed by the authority to a job with 
reduced hours or lower pay, a compensatory payment would be made. This compensatory 
payment would be liable for tax, whereas redundancy pay is tax free for any redundancy 
payment less than £30K.  

5.11 How do staff qualify for redundancy 
payment?

Staff need to have 2 years continuous service with local government in order to qualify for 
redundancy – not necessarily in the same school. 

5.12 If parents moved their children from 
the school in the autumn term, 
leaving so few pupils in the school 
that it became unviable, how would 
this affect staff?

If pupil numbers in the school reduced to such an extent that it was not good educationally 
for the children, there would need to be discussion with the parents of those pupils. If the 
school subsequently closed early, staff would be temporarily redeployed (with agreement) 
until their start date in any new role (where appropriate) or the end of their notice period.

5.13 We would lose the talented teachers 
at Nantmel C. in W. School

The authority notes this comment. 

5.14 Human cost of closure e.g. effect on 
staff losing their jobs does not always 
seem to be taken into consideration

The authority notes this comment, and accepts that any school reorganisation proposal 
will lead to a period of uncertainty for teachers and other staff working in any school 
affected by the proposal.

5.15 Uncertainty and anxiety regarding the 
future may well continue for staff after 
a school has closed

The authority notes this comment, and accepts that any school reorganisation proposal 
will lead to a period of uncertainty for teachers and other staff working in any school 
affected by the proposal.

5.16 1 member of staff has already left to 
take up a permanent position 
elsewhere due to the threat of closure

The authority notes this comment.

5.17 7 of the 8 employees at the school 
are female

The authority notes this comment.

5.18 The school’s employees are mothers, The authority notes this comment.

P
age 75

http://intranet.powys.gov.uk/uploads/media/ReAct_Leaflet_Welsh.pdf


32

daughters, sisters in the community. 
Their loss of earnings will have an 
impact on their families in the 
community, where wages are already 
low

5.19 Will redundancy packages really 
compensate for loss of earnings?

A redundancy payment is compensation because your job has disappeared. There are 
two sorts of redundancy pay:

 Statutory redundancy pay, which is set down by law
 Contractual statutory pay, which applies for employment in Powys County Council.

The details are set out in the relevant Redundancy Policy (Teaching or Support 
Staff)

You cannot be paid less redundancy pay than the amount of statutory redundancy pay 
you are entitled to. If your contractual redundancy scheme gives you less money than the 
statutory amount, you must still get the statutory amount.

5.20 Will employees actually be entitled to 
redundancy, based on their 
contractual status or length of 
service?

Redundancy is based on length of service and applies to anyone with 2 or more years 
continuous service. In this context, continuous service means employment within Local 
Government with no break in service.

5.21 There is a high turnover of staff at 
Nantmel School because it is a small 
school under threat of closure

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal will lead to uncertainty for 
staff at any school affected by the proposal.

6 IMPACT ON PARENTS / FAMILIES

6.1 Restricting choice for families

6.1.1 Parents will lose freedom of choice 
about what type of school their 
children go to.

Whilst the authority has named a receiving school as part of the proposal to close Nantmel 
C. in W. School, parents could apply for a place in any other school should Nantmel C. in 
W. School close, therefore parents would still have freedom of choice about what type of 
school they wished their children to go to. 

P
age 76



33

6.1.2 Parents from outside Nantmel choose 
to send their children to Nantmel C. in 
W. School

The authority notes this comment, however the authority needs to ensure that education is 
provided in a cost effective way. This is reflected in the One Powys Plan which states that 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity.

6.1.3 Prospective parents stated that they 
wanted to send their children to 
Nantmel School in the future

The authority notes this comment. However the current pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in W. 
School are low, and the projected pupil numbers show that pupil numbers are not 
expected to increase significantly. The One Powys Plan states that ‘we need to re-
organise schools (primary, secondary and post-16) to ensure affordability, sustainability 
and appropriate leadership capacity.’

6.1.4 Parental choice is under threat Whilst the authority has named a receiving school as part of the proposal to close Nantmel 
C. in W. School, parents would be entitled to apply for a place in any other school should 
Nantmel C. in W. School close, therefore parental choice remains. Pupil numbers at 
Nantmel C. in W. School are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated 
in the One Powys Plan ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post-16) 
to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity.’

6.1.5 Parents should have the right to 
choose if they wish their children to 
be educated in a small rural school or 
a larger town/village school

Whilst the authority has named a receiving school as part of the proposal to close Nantmel 
C. in W. School, parents would be entitled to apply for a place in any other school should 
Nantmel C. in W. School close, therefore parents still have freedom of choice about what 
type of school they wish their children to go to. Pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post-16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity.’

6.1.6 Families moved back to Powys for 
their children to have the opportunity 
to attend a small school – don’t want 
their children to attend a large school

The authority notes this comment. However pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in W. School are 
low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, ‘we 
need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post-16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity.’

6.1.7 The school has been a direct choice 
for many families over the 
generations

The authority notes this point, however the most recent projections for Nantmel C. in W. 
School show that no significant increase in pupil numbers is expected. As stated in the 
One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post-16) to 

P
age 77



34

ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity.’

6.1.8 Most Nantmel parents would prefer 
their children to go to Crossgates 
rather than Rhayader if the school 
closes

The authority notes this point. Whilst Rhayader C. in W. School is named as the receiving 
school in respect of this proposal, parents are entitled to apply for a place for their children 
in any school, and the authority is required to allocate at the chosen school, as long as 
there are places available.

6.2 Proposal has caused distress for families

6.2.1 Parents feel that they are being 
bullied and scared into taking their 
children away from the school

No decisions have yet been made on the future of Nantmel C. in W. School, however 
parents are free to choose to move their children to different schools if that is their wish.

6.2.2 Parents are frightened to enrol their 
children at Nantmel School because 
of the uncertainty

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal leads to a period of 
uncertainty for those affected. However, pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in W. School have 
been low for a number years, and were not projected to increase significantly before the 
consultation period commenced.

6.2.3 Threat of closure of Nantmel C. in W. 
School has meant that many parents 
have not been prepared to take the 
risk of enrolling their children at the 
school

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal leads to a period of 
uncertainty for those affected. However, pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in W. School have 
been low for a number years, and were not projected to increase significantly before the 
consultation period commenced.

6.2.4 Parents have been panicked by the 
lack of capacity at other rural Church 
in Wales schools such as Trefonnen 
and Newbridge, and have already 
completed applications in advance to 
guarantee a place for September

No decisions have yet been made on the future of Nantmel C. in W. School, however 
parents are free to choose to move their children to different schools if that is their wish.

6.2.5 Proposal is also causing distress for 
families in other areas e.g. Newbridge 
as they are having to go through 
admissions appeals

The authority acts as the admissions authority for all Community and Church Controlled 
Schools and allocated places in accordance with each individual school’s capacity and 
admissions numbers.

P
age 78



35

6.3 Other

6.3.1 The One Powys Plan states that 
“Families need access to good 
childcare and education to remain in 
Powys”

The authority notes this comment. The authority is committed to ensuring that families can 
access good childcare and education, and needs to ensure that education is provided in a 
cost effective way to ensure that good standards can be maintained in the future. The One 
Powys Plan also states that ‘We need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and 
post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

6.3.2 Busy Bees playgroup ensures that 
parents don’t become isolated

The authority acknowledges the important role of the Busy Bees playgroup in providing 
support to parents of young children and ensuring that they do not become isolated.

The named receiving school and other schools in the area have early years provision at 
the school and it is the authority’s view that due to the small distances from Nantmel to 
Rhayader and the other schools that it would only impact on those parents of young 
children who do not have available transport to travel to the named receiving school and 
other schools.

6.3.3 If families move out of the area, there 
will be no one to carry on the family 
farms

The authority acknowledges this concern about the future of farms in the Nantmel area. 
However, the current number of pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School is small, and pupil 
numbers are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, ‘we 
need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. Should the proposal be implemented, 
the authority’s view that the distance to the closes alternative school would not be 
excessive, as this would be within a 5 miles radius for most children.

6.3.4 Several generations of families have 
attended Nantmel School

The authority notes this comment. However the current pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in W. 
School are low, and the projected pupil numbers show that pupil numbers are not 
expected to increase significantly. The One Powys Plan states that ‘we need to re-
organise schools (primary, secondary and post-16) to ensure affordability, sustainability 
and appropriate leadership capacity.’

6.3.5 The majority of pupils attending Busy 
Bees playgroup come from families 
whose parents and grandparents 

The authority notes this comment. However the current pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in W. 
School are low, and the projected pupil numbers show that pupil numbers are not 
expected to increase significantly. The One Powys Plan states that ‘we need to re-

P
age 79



36

attended the school organise schools (primary, secondary and post-16) to ensure affordability, sustainability 
and appropriate leadership capacity.’

6.3.6 In the Ystradgynlais area, the Council 
recognised parental choice and made 
special arrangements for children to 
stay together following school 
closures – the authority needs to treat 
communities consistently.

If the authority approves the closure of the school the authority would work closely with the 
parents and their chosen school to meet their parental choice where possible.

6.3.7 The school is open during the 
holidays for summer activities, this 
helps working parents

The authority has checked this issue with the current acting headteacher, who has 
advised that Nantmel C. in W. School is not open during the holidays for summer 
activities.

7 IMPACT ON THE COMMUNITY

7.1 Community Impact Assessment

7.1.1 What reference has been made to the 
outcome of the Community Impact 
Assessment in relation to the use of 
the school building and the school’s 
place in the community?

The Community Impact Assessment states that significant use of the school building is 
made by the community for a range of activities. This information was considered by 
Cabinet when deciding to commence consultation on closure of the school. The issues 
raised in the consultation responses in relation to the proposal’s impact on the community 
will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet when determining how to proceed. 

7.1.2 What weight has been given to the 
Community Impact Assessment?

The Community Impact Assessment is one of a number of considerations to be taken into 
account by Cabinet when determining how to proceed. There is no weighting to any of the 
considerations.

7.1.3 Community Impact Assessment 
shows that the school building is used 
for a wide range of community 
activities

As stated in this comment, the authority acknowledged in the Community Impact 
Assessment that the school building is used for a wide range of community activities. This 
will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet when determining how to proceed in 
relation to this proposal.

7.2 Community use of the school building

P
age 80



37

7.2.1 The school building is used for a large 
number of activities

This has been acknowledged by the authority in the Community Impact Assessment. 

7.2.2 There is no other venue in the village 
where meetings could be held

The authority has acknowledged this in the Community Impact Assessment. All issues 
raised during the consultation period will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet when 
determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

7.2.3 The school is the focus of a wide 
range of community events, giving 
residents of the sparsely populated 
area the opportunity to get together.

The authority notes this comment. All issues raised during the consultation period in 
relation to the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the 
Cabinet when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

7.2.4 Nantmel Show and Sports 
Committee, Women’s Institute and 
the Church all hold meetings and 
events in Nantmel School

The authority has acknowledged in the Community Impact Assessment that a number of 
organisations use the school facilities to hold meetings. This was taken into consideration 
by Cabinet before they decided to proceed with consultation in relation to closure of 
Nantmel C. in W. School, and all issues raised during the consultation period in relation to 
the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet 
when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

7.2.5 Members of the community work with 
the school to bring the community 
together at events e.g. Summer BBQ 
event, hosted in the school. The WI 
supply the puddings and the Church 
supply the salads – the event brings 
the whole community together

The authority has acknowledged in the Community Impact Assessment that a number of 
organisations use the school facilities to hold meetings. This was taken into consideration 
by Cabinet before they decided to proceed with consultation in relation to closure of 
Nantmel C. in W. School, and all issues raised during the consultation period in relation to 
the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet 
when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

7.2.6 The school provides a focus for much 
wider activity in the community, and 
provides a base for after school clubs 
and other social events

The authority has acknowledged in the Community Impact Assessment that a number of 
organisations use the school facilities to hold meetings. This was taken into consideration 
by Cabinet before they decided to proceed with consultation in relation to closure of 
Nantmel C. in W. School, and all issues raised during the consultation period in relation to 
the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet 
when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

7.2.7 Nantmel school serves the wider The authority has acknowledged in the Community Impact Assessment that a number of 

P
age 81



38

‘local’ community, providing a variety 
of activities and involving local 
families in many ways

organisations use the school facilities to hold meetings. This was taken into consideration 
by Cabinet before they decided to proceed with consultation in relation to closure of 
Nantmel C. in W. School, and all issues raised during the consultation period in relation to 
the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet 
when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

7.2.8 Spare classroom in the school is used 
to run Parent and Toddler sessions

The authority notes this comment.

7.3 Concern about loss of community facilities

7.3.1 The school and the church are the 
only ‘public’ buildings in Nantmel – it 
doesn’t have a village hall

The authority notes this comment. Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, it would be a 
matter for the church to determine the future use of the school building.

7.3.2 Impact on Nantmel Show – hold 
regular show meetings in the school; 
marquee sections held in the school 
in adverse weather; show committee 
decide competitions to tie in with 
school topics; many entries to the 
show are received from the school; 
PTA help run some aspects of the 
show

The authority notes this comment in relation to the specific impact closure of Nantmel C. in 
W. School could have on Nantmel Show. 

7.3.3 Closure would see the loss of the only 
communal space in Nantmel

The authority notes this comment. As the school is owned by the Church, the Church 
would decide what would happen to the school building should Nantmel C. in W. School 
close. 

7.3.4 Nantmel has already lost its pub and 
shop many years ago

The authority notes this concern. All issues raised during the consultation period in relation 
to the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet 
when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School. 

P
age 82



39

7.4 Concern about impact of closing a school on the community

7.4.1 Closure of Beguildy School has had a 
negative impact on the community of 
Beguildy

The authority notes this comment.

7.4.2 Concern about the impact of closure 
of 3 schools on the rural area

The authority notes this concern. This impact will be taken into consideration by the 
Cabinet when determining how to proceed in relation to the three schools which are 
currently the subject of consultation.

7.4.3 Closing rural schools will tear the 
heart out of the communities

The authority notes this comment. The impact of closing rural schools on the communities 
they serve will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet when determining how to 
proceed in relation to the schools.

7.4.4 Closing a school closes a village The authority notes this comment. However there are examples of villages which are 
thriving despite there being no school in the village.

7.4.5 The school must remain open for the 
emotional well-being of the 
community

The authority notes this comment. All issues raised during the consultation period 
regarding the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the 
Cabinet when determining how to proceed in respect of this proposal. 

7.4.6 Closure would have a large, negative 
impact on the community

The authority notes this comment. All issues raised during the consultation period 
regarding the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the 
Cabinet when determining how to proceed in respect of this proposal. 

7.4.7 Denuding rural communities of 
schools and community buildings will 
lead to an erosion of community 
identity and morale which will 
manifest itself in other problems of 
social isolation

The authority notes this concern. All issues raised during the consultation period in relation 
to the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet 
when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School. 

7.4.8 A school is the fundamental 
cornerstone of a community. A 

The authority notes this concern. All issues raised during the consultation period in relation 
to the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet 

P
age 83



40

community is the cornerstone of a 
civil society. You lose one and you 
will certainly lose the other

when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School. 

7.4.9 Village schools are needed to ensure 
a sustainable rural culture

The authority notes this comment. All issues raised during the consultation period in 
relation to the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the 
Cabinet when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

7.4.10 The importance and significance of 
the school to the village of Nantmel 
cannot be stressed too much

The authority notes this comment. All issues raised during the consultation period in 
relation to the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the 
Cabinet when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

7.5 Closure of the school would mean that people would not want to live in Nantmel

7.5.1 Nobody wants to live in an area 
where there are no schools

The authority notes this comment. However, the number of pupils at Nantmel C. in W. 
School are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys 
Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post-16) to ensure 
affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity.’

7.5.2 This cost cutting exercise is leading 
people to choose not to live here, 
invest here or have any future here

The authority notes this concern. All issues raised during the consultation period in relation 
to the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet 
when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School. 

7.6 Reference to Powys County Council’s Vision – ‘Stronger Communities in the Green Heart of Wales’

7.6.1 The proposal goes against Powys’ 
mission statement – ‘Stronger 
Communities in the Green Heart of 
Wales’

It is true that the council’s vision is ‘Stronger Communities in the Green Heart of Wales’. 
However, one of the council’s priorities, as outlined in the One Powys Plan, is 
‘Transforming Learning and Skills’. Within this priority, the Plan states that ‘we need to ‘re-
organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability 
and appropriate leadership capacity’. 

7.6.2 Maintaining viable rural communities 
should be central to the sustainable 
development of Powys

The authority’s vision is to ensure strong communities in the green heart of Wales. 
However, the One Powys Plan also refers to the need to ‘re-organise schools (primary, 
secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership 
capacity’. 

P
age 84



41

7.7 Other

7.7.1 Disappointed that Radnorshire will 
have lost 3 schools within 5 years 
with 3 more to close

The authority notes this comment.

7.7.2 What would happen to the school 
building should the school close?

As the school is owned by the Church, the Church would decide what would happen to the 
school building should Nantmel C. in W. School close. 

7.7.3 Closure would have a considerable 
impact on community cohesion

The authority notes this concern. All issues raised during the consultation period in relation 
to the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet 
when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School. 

7.7.4 The school is the most cohesive thing 
left in the community

The authority notes this concern. All issues raised during the consultation period in relation 
to the proposal’s impact on the community will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet 
when determining how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School. 

7.7.5 A local business owner struggles to 
recruit professional staff locally. 
Closing a local school will further this 
problem.

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

8 IMPACT ON THE CHURCH

8.1 Closure of the school would impact 
on the Church and the Diocese

The authority notes this concern. 

8.2 There is an excellent relationship 
between the school and the church

The authority notes this concern. 

8.3 Strong links between the school and 
the church

The authority notes this concern. 

8.4 Links between the school and the The authority notes this concern.

P
age 85



42

church due to the fact that 2 of the 
governors are foundation governors 
and represent the interests of the 
church

8.5 Special school services are hosted at 
the church e.g. Harvest Festival, 
Caraol Service, Mock Weddings, 
Eisteddfod

The authority notes this concern. 

8.6 Pupils take an active part in the 
church Harvest festival

The authority notes this concern. 

8.7 Groups of children occasionally form 
walking parties to tidy up the 
churchyard and have been introduced 
to different parts of the church 
building

The authority notes this concern. 

8.8 Diocesan officers are concerned that 
a thriving Church in Wales school is 
under threat of closure

The authority notes this concern. The named receiving school in respect of this proposal is 
also a Church in Wales school, therefore should Nantmel C. in W. School, pupils would 
continue to be able to access Church in Wales provision. Pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in 
W. School are low, and are not expected to increase significantly, and as stated in the 
One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to 
ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

8.9 Members of the Nantmel church 
congregation are strongly opposed to 
the proposal as this would diminish 
the bond between the church and the 
school

The authority notes this concern. 

9 ISSUES RELATING TO PUPIL NUMBERS / SURPLUS PLACES

9.1 Decline in pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in W. School

P
age 86



43

9.1.1 The pupil population of Nantmel C. in 
W. School has declined since 
2010/11 and has not recovered 
sufficiently to exceed 50 pupils

The authority notes this comment. As stated in the consultation document, there were 36 
pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2011, and pupil numbers have decreased 
since then. The pupil projections for Nantmel C. in W. School that were considered before 
this process started did not suggest any significant increase in pupil numbers. The 
authority notes that any school reorganisation process will lead to a period of uncertainty 
for those affected, however no formal consultation has previously taken place in respect of 
closure of Nantmel C. in W. School.

9.1.2 Nantmel C. in W. School has 
repeatedly been targeted for closure 
over the years e.g. 2010/11 – this has 
impacted on pupil numbers

The authority notes this comment. As stated in the consultation document, there were 36 
pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2011, and pupil numbers have decreased 
since then. The pupil projections for Nantmel C. in W. School that were considered before 
this process started did not suggest any significant increase in pupil numbers. The 
authority notes that any school reorganisation process will lead to a period of uncertainty 
for those affected, however no formal consultation has previously taken place in respect of 
closure of Nantmel C. in W. School.

9.1.3 There are children who might have 
come to this school but have gone to 
other schools because of this process

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation process will lead to a period of 
uncertainty for those affected. However, the pupil projections for Nantmel C. in W. School 
that were considered before this process started did not suggest any significant increase 
in pupil numbers

9.1.4 There were more than 70 pupils on 
the register in 2004, however the 
school has constantly been plagued 
by rumours and consultations 
regarding its future. Many parents 
who would have sent their children to 
this school didn’t do so because of 
the rumours

The authority notes this comment. As stated in the consultation document, there were 36 
pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2011, and pupil numbers have decreased 
since then. The pupil projections for Nantmel C. in W. School that were considered before 
this process started did not suggest any significant increase in pupil numbers. The 
authority notes that any school reorganisation process will lead to a period of uncertainty 
for those affected, however no formal consultation has previously taken place in respect of 
closure of Nantmel C. in W. School. 

9.1.5 Closure of the school has been 
threatened for several years, this has 
deterred parents from sending their 
children to the school

The authority notes this comment. As stated in the consultation document, there were 36 
pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2011, and pupil numbers have decreased 
since then. The pupil projections for Nantmel C. in W. School that were considered before 
this process started did not suggest any significant increase in pupil numbers. The 

P
age 87



44

authority notes that any school reorganisation process will lead to a period of uncertainty 
for those affected, however no formal consultation has previously taken place in respect of 
closure of Nantmel C. in W. School.

9.1.6 Nantmel C. in W. School has suffered 
an underhand calculating campaign 
to actively discourage families from 
choosing Nantmel

The authority does not accept this statement. As stated in the consultation document, 
there were 36 pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2011, and pupil numbers have 
decreased since then. The pupil projections for Nantmel C. in W. School that were 
considered before this process started did not suggest any significant increase in pupil 
numbers. The authority notes that any school reorganisation process will lead to a period 
of uncertainty for those affected, however no formal consultation has previously taken 
place in respect of closure of Nantmel C. in W. School.
 

9.1.7 If Powys had provided genuine 
support to Nantmel C. in W. School, 
numbers would be greater and 
average cost per pupil would be in 
line with the county average.

As stated in the consultation document, there were 36 pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School 
in January 2011, and pupil numbers have decreased since then. The pupil projections for 
Nantmel C. in W. School that were considered before this process started did not suggest 
any significant increase in pupil numbers.

9.2 Surplus places at Nantmel C. in W. School

9.2.1 Chipping away at surplus capacity 
figures to facilitate the current trend in 
Performance Indicators from the 
Welsh Assesmbly Government does 
not seek to serve the best interests of 
learners

The authority recognises that to ensure the efficient use of resources and planning for 
future school places that a level of surplus places is required to meet the demographic 
changes between and over years. Due to the statutory class size and leadership and 
management requirements, the lower Adult:Pupil ratio in a small school, the financial cost 
of a surplus place in a small school (under 50 pupils) is significantly higher than that for a 
school of over 80 pupils.

9.2.2 Capacity of 62 for Nantmel is 
misrepresentative and overstated – 
best fit with the current layout of the 
school should be a capacity of 51 – 
this is based on the calculating 
guidance book which states “if a 
school has no hall or access to a hall, 
a suitably sized classroom may be 

The capacity of a school is calculated in accordance with the Measuring Capacity of 
Schools in Wales (MCSW) regulations and is based on the school’s use of its current 
physical facilities. The measurement is undertaken by officers of the authority and 
checked and confirmed with headteachers and members of the governing body.

The authority recognises that if one of the spaces included in the calculation was identified 
as a non-teaching space that the capacity of the school would be reduced.

P
age 88



45

deemed to be a hall by the authority 
for the purposes of the capacity 
calculation. This means that it can be 
counted as an ancillary area, rather 
than being counted as a classbase”

9.3 Issues relating to other schools

9.3.1 20% of Powys’ primary schools have 
under 50 pupils

The authority is aware that a number of Powys schools have less than 50 pupils. Nantmel 
C. in W. School was identified for review based on a number of criteria, as outlined in the 
School Transformation Policy (2014).

9.3.2 63% of primary schools in Powys 
have 15% surplus capacity, so why is 
this being used as one of the main 
reasons to close Nantmel C. in W. 
School?

The authority is aware that a number of Powys schools have more than 15% surplus 
capacity. Nantmel C. in W. School was identified for review based on a number of criteria, 
as outlined in the School Transformation Policy (2014).

9.3.3 Inappropriate that Nantmel C. in W. 
School should be closed to decrease 
surplus capacity at Crossgates and 
Rhayader

Although closure of Nantmel C. in W. School would lead to a decrease in overall surplus 
capacity in Powys schools due to the expected reduction in surplus capacity at the schools 
to which pupils will transfer, this is not the reason for proposing closure of Nantmel C. in 
W. School. Nantmel C. in W. School was identified for review based on a number of 
criteria, as outlined in the School Transformation Policy (2014).
 

9.3.4 Reduction of surplus places will result 
in larger or maximum number class 
sizes at receiving / neighbouring 
schools – this conflicts with providing 
better education

There is no evidence that pupils do less well in larger classes. The closure of 10 primary 
schools in the Maesydderwen catchment and the establishment of 4 new primary schools 
has resulted in improved outcomes and standards of wellbeing. This is evidenced in the 
recent Estyn inspections of all four schools.

9.4 Suggestions to increase pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in W. School

9.4.1 Accept that pupil numbers at the 
school need to increase for a 
sustainable future, but for this to 

As stated in the consultation document, there were 36 pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School 
in January 2011, and pupil numbers have decreased since then. The pupil projections for 
Nantmel C. in W. School that were considered before this process started did not suggest 

P
age 89



46

happen the Schools Service need to 
relinquish its preoccupation with 
closing the school

any significant increase in pupil numbers. The authority notes that any school 
reorganisation process will lead to a period of uncertainty for the affected schools, 
however no formal consultation has previously taken place in respect of closure of 
Nantmel C. in W. School.

9.4.2 Pupil numbers can increase if the 
school is given the opportunity to re-
establish and promote itself – e.g. 
Michaelchurch Escley School in 
Herefordshire faced closure in 2013 
due to falling pupil numbers, now has 
a waiting list

The authority notes this comment and the reference to Michaelchurch Escley School. As 
stated in the consultation document, there were 36 pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School in 
January 2011, and pupil numbers at the school have decreased since then. The pupil 
projections for Nantmel C. in W. School that were considered before this process started 
did not suggest any significant increase in pupil numbers.

9.4.3 Nantmel School could offer flexi 
schooling to attract more pupils, such 
as parents who want more input into 
their children’s learning

Flexi schooling is a situation where a child attends a school for part of the week and for 
the rest of the week is taught by their parent under Elective Home Education 
arrangements. There is no statutory entitlement of a parent to receive flexi schooling and it 
can only take place if the school and the parent are in agreement as to how it will operate, 
and how the child will cope with work that has taken place when the child is being taught 
by his / her parents. 

Schools often are not keen to go down the road of flexi schooling as the time when the 
child is being taught by their parents is recorded an unauthorised absence at the school, 
affecting the total absence figures in relation to the school.  Schools are now being 
scrutinised very carefully in relation to attendance figures and, as indicated above, flexi 
schooling can operate against a school’s ranking in relation to attendance.  Schools 
usually consider requests for flexi schooling on a case-by-case basis.  

9.4.4 Nantmel School has facilities to offer 
new ideas such as “Work experience 
based play learning” which could 
attract new parents

The authority notes this comment.

9.4.5 Need to promote the school to boost 
numbers going forward, by marketing 
the school via websites, newspapers 

The authority notes this comment. However pupil numbers at Nantmel C. in W. School 
have been low for a number of years and are not projected to increase significantly. The 
school has had ample opportunity to market the school in order to attempt to increase 

P
age 90



47

as being ideal for outdoor learning 
with smaller class sizes, which would 
be a big advantage for those that 
struggle in bigger classes and prefer 
outdoor learning opportunities

pupil numbers.

9.5 Other

9.5.1 41% of pupils at the school are not 
attending their closest school – 
families are choosing a village school, 
therefore whilst birth rate population 
data may be a significant contributing 
factor, this is not the only indicator yet 
it is too readily focussed on

The authority notes this comment. 

9.5.2 Unclear how you concluded that 50 
pupils is the reason to review a 
school – there is no reference to this 
in the Welsh Government ‘Measuring 
Capacity’ document or the ‘School 
Organisation Code’

The authority funds primary schools on a 1:25 teacher:pupil ratio before lump sums, 50 
pupils therefore equates to 2.0 teachers funded through that allowance.

10 ISSUES RELATING TO BUILDING CONDITION

10.1 Dispute that the building condition of 
Nantmel School is CCC

As stated in the consultation document in respect of this proposal, the survey of school 
buildings carried out by the Welsh Government in 2009 identified the building condition of 
Nantmel C. in W. School as C for Condition, C for Suitability and C for Sustainability.

The authority has agreed with the governing body that with some work to the fabric of the 
school, the overall condition of the school would improve to a Condition B.

10.2 Building reports produced by WAG in 
2009 are not fit for purpose, the 
simplistic statistics they provide are 

The authority notes this comment. The authority has agreed with the governing body that 
with some work to the fabric of the school the overall condition would improve to a 
Condition B.

P
age 91



48

inconsistent and inaccurate but are 
being used in this consultation 
document to advocate closure

10.3 Nantmel School is a traditional stone 
building of sturdy construction in a 
spacious rural setting, the original 
building if maintained will serve 
another century unlike the receiving 
school which has been graded 
inconsistently better on some 
outcomes by the 2009 survey

The authority notes this comment. The authority has agreed with the governing body that 
with some work to the fabric of the school the overall condition would improve to a 
Condition B.

The authority notes the comment in respect of the named receiving school.

10.4 Contractor who built Trefonnen 
School would only have given a 
warranty that would be a fraction of 
the age of Nantmel’s building

Ysgol Trefonnen has been built with a life expectancy of 60 years in accordance with the 
Authority and the Welsh Government’s aspirations, subject to the authority and governing 
body making the required periodic building investment into the school buildings and fabric.

10.5 Nantmel building needs only limited 
modernisation in terms of double 
glazing on some of the windows

The authority has agreed with the governing body that with some work to the fabric of the 
school the overall condition of the school would improve to a Condition B. However, this 
work would not address the suitability issues at the school.

10.6 Dispute the report on disabled access 
– DDA access at Nantmel is graded D 
and it states that there is no disabled 
access, however this is not the case. 
Rhayader is graded C, however it 
would be impossible to manouvere 
around the maze of staircases – 
Nantmel School is all on one level

The authority notes the comment in respect of the multi-level nature of the named 
receiving school in Rhayader. The authority has a multidisciplinary officer team who 
identify any adaptations required to schools to allow access in line with DDA requirements 
of children who are expected to attend the school in the short to medium term. The 
adaptations required are dependent on the specific needs of the individual child and are 
therefore planned to be undertaken in the year prior to the child’s admission to the school.

10.7 Of concern that by increasing 
capacity in schools such as 
Crossgates, PCC will be placing more 
reliance on the use of mobile 

The authority recognises that the capacity of 240 includes the use of a single mobile 
classroom in addition to the 7 permanent class bases.

P
age 92



49

classrooms

10.8 Some of the children that move from 
Nantmel to Crossgates may end up in 
temporary accommodation – this is in 
direct conflict with Powys School 
Transformation Policy which states: 
“The aim of the new transformation 
policy is to establish an infrastructure 
of schools which: Minimises 
dependence on temporary 
accommodation”

The authority recognises that the capacity of 240 includes the use of a single mobile 
classroom in addition to the 7 permanent class bases.

10.9 Costs and responsibility of ensuring 
the school premises meets legal 
requirements could be outsourced to 
the local community or a community 
cooperative – finance could be raised 
through charitable donation, 
fundraising, community precept or 
private investment

The authority notes this comment.

10.10 PCC have not addressed the 
windows and maintenance 
requirements stated in EC Harris 
within stated timescale – community 
would do no less of a job

The authority has recognised the significant backlog in its repairs and maintenance 
requirements at all its schools and has identified an increase in the Major Repairs Capital 
building and improvements budget for the 2017-18 financial year.

10.11 Would be useful if PCC could provide 
to the community any expenditure on 
maintenance upgrades and a report 
on jobs undertaken that have taken 
place in the last 10 years to evaluate 
whether this could be feasible

The authority can provide a list of the jobs undertaken over the last ten years together with 
an updated condition and suitability assessment which would identify the main works 
required on the building.

P
age 93



50

11 POSITIVES ABOUT NANTMEL SCHOOL

11.1 Standards / educational provision

11.1.1 The educational standards at 
Nantmel C. in W. School are good / 
excellent

Educational standards at Nantmel C. in W. School is not one of the reasons why closure 
of the school is being proposed. However should the school close, the authority is satisfied 
that education of a comparable standard would be provided to pupils at the named 
receiving school.

11.1.2 Nantmel pupils have historically been 
high achievers

The authority notes this comment.

11.1.3 Standard of teaching and governance 
is high

The authority notes this comment.

11.1.4 The school provides a good standard 
of education – no reason to close on 
standards issues

The authority notes this comment. Educational standards at Nantmel C. in W. School is 
not one of the reasons why closure of the school is being proposed. However, pupil 
numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School are low and are not expected to increase 
significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, 
secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership 
capacity’.

11.1.5 The school has an excellent record The authority notes this comment. Educational standards at Nantmel C. in W. School is 
not one of the reasons why closure of the school is being proposed.

11.1.6 The school’s last Estyn report was 
one any school would be proud to 
receive

The authority notes this comment. Educational standards at Nantmel C. in W. School is 
not one of the reasons why closure of the school is being proposed.

11.1.7 Nantmel School meets every target 
presented to it

In the National Categorisation of Schools, Welsh Government judged standards at 
Nantmel C. in W. School as 3, which suggests that there are areas which need to be 
developed further.

11.1.8 Pupils enjoy the work The authority notes this comment.

P
age 94



51

11.1.9 Nantmel punches above its weight as 
educational and well-being standards 
never fall below par

In the National Categorisation of Schools, Welsh Government judged standards at 
Nantmel C. in W. School as 3.

11.2 Buildings

11.2.1 Pupils like the fact that the school is 
colourful

The authority notes this comment.

11.2.2 Pupils like that the school building is 
small so they won’t get lost

The authority notes this comment.

11.2.3 The school building is in good 
condition

As stated in the consultation document, based on the Welsh Government survey carried 
out in 2009, the condition of the school building at Nantmel C. in W. School was identified 
as condition C.

The authority has agreed with the governing body that with some work to the fabric of the 
school, the overall condition of the school would improve to a Condition B. However, this 
work would not address the suitability issues at the school.

11.2.4 School has ample parking and safe 
visibility splays for junction access

The authority notes this comment.

11.3 Facilities

11.3.1 Pupils like the environment – a large 
field, garden, fort, and that the school 
is in the countryside

The authority notes this comment.

11.3.2 Pupils like the football goals The authority notes this comment.

11.3.3 There is a wonderful garden where 
pupils grow things to sell to parents, 
grandparents and others

The authority notes this comment.

P
age 95



52

11.3.4 The school is fortunate to be 
surrounded by grounds and 
countryside well suited to outdoor 
education

The authority notes this comment.

11.3.5 Extensive facilities at Nantmel – 
buildings, woodland, polytunnel 
located on a school field donated by 
grandparents of children currently at 
the school

The authority notes this comment.

11.3.6 Nantmel C. in W. School provides 
good opportunities for play-based 
learning which is a key component of 
the Foundation Phase

The authority notes this comment.

11.3.7 Pupils can make dens in the woods The authority notes this comment.

11.3.8 Pupils like that they can learn 
outdoors

The authority notes this comment.

11.3.9 It looks small on the inside, but there 
are massive play areas outside, e.g. 
big field, orchard, woods, fort

The authority notes this comment.

11.3.10 There is a garden where children can 
learn to plant and grow vegetables 
and flowers

The authority notes this comment.

11.3.11 Pupils like the food The authority notes this comment.

11.4 Opportunities for pupils

11.4.1 Pupils enjoy the activities e.g. 
planting plants, going on school trips, 

The authority notes this comment.

P
age 96



53

making things (dens, forts etc), sports 
day, visits from Santa at Christmas

11.4.2 Pupils enjoy games day, where they 
can take their own games and toys 
into school

The authority notes this comment.

11.4.3 As Nantmel C. in W. School is a small 
school, all children can join in 
activities such as the cricket team – 
there is no selection

The authority accepts that the small number of pupils at the school mean that all pupils 
can take part in activities. The authority is satisfied that pupils would be able to access a 
wide range of activities in alternative schools, should Nantmel C. in W. School close.

11.4.4 All children have the best 
opportunities possible

The authority notes this comment. The authority is committed to ensuring that all children 
have the best opportunities possible. However, as stated in the One Powys Plan, ‘we need 
to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.
 

11.4.5 Pupils like playing football, rugby, 
rounders and running on the field and 
playground

The authority notes this comment.

11.4.6 Pupils like ‘golden time’ – where 
pupils have an hour on Fridays to 
play 

The authority notes this comment.

11.4.7 Pupils enjoy music lessons and art 
lessons

The authority notes this comment.

11.5 Staff

11.5.1 The teachers are nice and are helpful The authority notes this comment.

11.5.2 Pupils like that their family members 
work at the school

The authority notes this comment.

P
age 97



54

11.5.3 The school cares about the progress 
of all children and will do their best to 
support each child

The authority notes this comment. 

11.5.4 The staff are dedicated The authority notes this comment.

11.5.5 Pupils have a great singing teacher The authority notes this comment.

11.5.6 There is a good office at the school The authority notes this comment.

11.6 Friendly nature of the school

11.6.1 Nantmel C. in W. School is like a big 
family

The authority notes this comment.

11.6.2 Pupils like that everyone is friendly The authority notes this comment.

11.6.3 There are no bullies in the school Nantmel C. in W. School is a very small school, and therefore it is possible that there are 
fewer incidents of bullying at this school than at larger schools. However, bullying occurs 
in all schools and the important issue is how the school responds to bullying, when it 
occurs, addressing the needs of both the young person who has experienced the bullying 
and the young person who has carried out the bullying.  

All the schools that pupils would transfer to from Nantmel C. in W. School have effective 
anti-bullying policies, which are regularly reviewed, and these are part of the Safeguarding 
arrangements within those schools.  

11.6.4 Pupils have developed strong 
friendship groups within the school

The authority notes this comment.

11.6.5 It is a welcoming school with an 
outward looking attitude

The authority notes this comment.

11.6.6 Everyone in the school are friends / 
get on well together

The authority notes this comment.

P
age 98



55

11.6.7 The school is a ‘home from home’ for 
children

The authority notes this comment.

11.6.8 Everyone is friendly and polite The authority notes this comment.

11.6.9 Nantmel C. in W. School is a happy 
school and everyone likes it at the 
school

The authority notes this comment.

11.6.10 Nantmel School is a lovely safe 
environment

The authority notes this comment.

11.6.11 Nantmel School is a magical place The authority notes this comment

11.6.12 The school has a unique character The authority notes this comment. 

11.6.13 The school caters for the needs of the 
children in a holistic way

The authority notes this comment.

11.7 Budgetary / financial issues

11.7.1 Nantmel C. in W. School has 
managed its budget better than 
Powys County Council has

The authority notes this comment

11.7.2 Nantmel School provides value for 
money based on the last Estyn 
inspection report

The authority accepts that the schools last Estyn report from March 2012 states that ‘In 
view of the recent progress made in improving provision and standards of attainment, the 
school provides good value for money.’ However, the cost per pupil for Nantmel C. in W. 
School for 2015/16 is £4926 as per the authority’s Section 52 return, which is higher than 
the Powys average.

11.7.3 The school budget is run in the black The authority acknowledges this point, and accepts that the school had a surplus of 
£24,338 at the end of the 2015/16 financial year.

P
age 99



56

11.8 Success of previous Nantmel pupils

11.8.1 In the high school, Nantmel pupils are 
known by the teachers as being polite 
and kind to others

The authority notes this comment. 

11.8.2 The way pupils have been taught has 
been an enormous advantage to 
them later in life with job opportunities 
etc.

The authority notes this comment. The authority is committed to ensuring the best 
possible opportunities for pupils in all Powys schools, to ensure that all pupils are 
equipped with the skills they need to secure jobs.

11.8.3 Children from Nantmel School are 
excellent

The authority notes this comment. The authority is committed to ensuring the best 
possible education for all pupils in Powys, and would expect pupils to continue to be 
‘excellent’ should they attend different schools.

11.8.4 The school produces pupils with 
maturity and high expectations of 
themselves

The authority notes this comment. The authority is committed to ensuring the best 
possible education for all pupils in Powys, and would expect pupils to continue to have 
maturity and high expectations of themselves should they attend different schools. 

11.8.5 Pupils who were shy and timid have 
developed into strong, confident 
individuals at Nantmel C. in W. 
School

The authority notes this comment. The authority is committed to ensuring the best 
possible education for all pupils in Powys, and would expect all pupils to continue to 
develop into strong, confident individuals should they attend different schools.

11.8.6 Nantmel School supports the needs 
of the children attending

The authority notes this comment. The authority is committed to ensuring the best 
possible education for all pupils in Powys and should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the 
authority would expect any alternative schools to which pupils might transfer to support the 
needs of all pupils.

11.9 Other

11.9.1 Nantmel C. in W. School has been a 
centre of excellence for 160 years

The authority accepts that Nantmel C. in W. School has provided education for the local 
community over many years. However pupil numbers at the school are low, and are not 
expected to increase. As stated in the One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools 
(primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate 

P
age 100



57

leadership capacity’.

11.9.2 Pupils like the small classes which 
means there are less distractions and 
pupils get more attention from 
teachers

The authority notes this comment. However, effective teaching ensures that all pupils are 
taught effectively, regardless of the number of pupils in the class.

11.9.3 It is a Church school – pupils like the 
links with the Church and going on 
Church visits

The authority notes this comment. The named receiving school in respect of this proposal 
is also a Church school.

11.9.4 Pupils think it’s the best school in the 
world

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

11.9.5 Pupils like that the school is close and 
they don’t have to travel far

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. The authority has acknowledged that 
closure of the school would lead to an increase in travel for some pupils, however the 
authority’s view is that the proposal would not lead to excessive additional travel for pupils.

11.9.6 Pupils can sit out of lessons if they 
are ill or get hurt

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. The authority would expect similar 
arrangements to be in place in alternative schools to which pupils might wish to transfer.

11.9.7 The school has been in existence for 
over 150 years providing quality 
primary education and offering a 
great opportunity for children living in 
Nantmel

The authority notes this comment. However, the One Powys Plan states that ‘we need to 
re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability 
and appropriate leadership capacity’.

P
age 101



58

11.9.8 Many parents living in the Rhayader 
area choose to send their children to 
Nantmel as it provides a more 
‘intimate’ experience

The authority notes this comment, however pupil numbers are Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not projected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

11.9.9 Nantmel School feels like it’s going 
forward

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

11.9.10 Provides excellent education in a 
rural setting

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

11.9.11 The school and grounds offers a 
unique relationship between parents, 
staff and community that you don’t 
find at other schools

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

11.9.12 The school is nice and small with 
hardly any people

The authority notes this comment. As implied by this comment, pupil numbers at Nantmel 
C. in W. School are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the 
One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to 
ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

11.9.13 There are rules in Nantmel C. in W. 
School not to tell lies, not to run, not 
to be mean and not to run out of 
school without a teacher

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

11.9.14 The school’s location enables the 
rural family to combine the school run 
with work e.g. enough room to bring 
trailers as shown in picture

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

P
age 102



59

11.9.15 The benefit to pupils of being able to 
attend schools like the one in 
Nantmel can only be assessed many 
years down the line

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

11.9.16 Powys County Council should be 
opening schools like Nantmel, not 
closing the ones it has

Nantmel C. in W. School was identified for review based on the criteria outlined in the 
2014 School Transformation Policy. Pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School are low 
and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, ‘we need 
to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

12 NEGATIVES ABOUT NANTMEL C. IN W. SCHOOL 

12.1 The farm toys at the school aren’t 
very good

The authority notes this comment

12.2 The playground is slanted and isn’t 
big enough

The authority notes this comment

12.3 There is too much football at the 
school

The authority notes this comment

12.4 The whiteboards are too small The authority notes this comment

12.5 There aren’t enough toilets The authority notes this comment

12.6 The taps in the toilet drip The authority notes this comment

13 POSITIVES ABOUT SMALL / RURAL SCHOOLS

13.1 Benefits of small schools

13.1.1 In small schools pupils are taught to 
respect teachers and elders better

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 

P
age 103



60

sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. There is no evidence that small 
schools promote personal and social development better than larger schools.

13.1.2 Children get more attention in smaller 
schools

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

13.1.3 Children moved to Nantmel from a 
larger school on the advice of their 
headteacher who believed a small 
school setting would better suit their 
needs, educationally and socially. 
They have flourished in Nantmel 

The authority acknowledges that some pupils might be happier in a small class / school 
situation, however all schools are expected to ensure that pupils are happy in their 
learning environment, and should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the receiving school 
would be expected to provide full support to pupils to aid their transition.

13.1.4 Small schools are at the heart of the 
community

The authority notes this comment. The impact on the community will be taken into 
consideration by Cabinet when determining how to proceed in relation to this proposal.

13.1.5 Small schools give children the 
chance to learn more

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. The authority is confident that should 
Nantmel C. in W. School close, pupils have education of a comparable standard to the 
education they currently receive.

13.1.6 In small schools, pupils mix with 
children of all ages

This is the case in schools of all sizes

13.1.7 Adore the nature of a smaller school, 
how staff know the children, their 
background and understand their 
individual needs

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

13.1.8 Children learn / benefit more in a 
small school / classes than a large 

There is no evidence to substantiate this. The closure of 10 primary schools in the 
Maesydderwen catchment and the establishment of 4 new primary schools has resulted in 

P
age 104



61

school improved outcomes and standards of wellbeing. This is evidenced in the recent Estyn 
inspections of all four schools.

13.1.9 In small schools, children get their 
first taste of education in a cosy, safe 
environment

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

13.1.10 In small schools, any issues such as 
bullying, not keeping up with work, 
sickness etc are quickly spotted

All schools are expected to monitor pupil well-being, to quickly respond to any concerns 
around standards and well-being and to address any issues with bullying. 

13.1.11 All staff know the pupils and their 
parents in small schools

The authority acknowledges that it is true that all staff know the pupils and their parents in 
small schools. 

13.1.12 Children in smaller settings benefit 
from receiving more one to one 
attention and teaching

The authority notes this comment. However, effective teaching ensures that all pupils are 
taught effectively, regardless of the number of pupils in the class.

13.1.13 When pupils from small schools go to 
high school they excel because they 
have had such a good solid start

The authority notes this comment. Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the authority 
would expect that pupils would continue to have a good solid start in their education 
should they transfer to alternative schools.

13.1.14 Benefits of small schools are totally 
undervalued because they are not 
obviously there right now

The authority notes this comment.

13.1.15 It is easy to find your friends in a 
small school

The authority notes this comment. The authority accepts that any school reorganisation 
proposal creates a period of uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the 
receiving school or any other school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support 
to pupils to aid their transition, and to ensure that the pupils settle into their school. 

13.1.16 In a small school you know everyone The authority notes this comment. The authority accepts that any school reorganisation 
proposal creates a period of uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the 
receiving school or any other school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support 

P
age 105



62

to pupils to aid their transition, and to ensure that the pupils settle into their school. 

13.1.17 Making everything ‘big’ is not always 
in the best interests of all children

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

13.1.18 Larger schools are not always 
suitable for all children

The authority acknowledges that some pupils might be happier in a small class / school 
situation, however all schools are expected to ensure that pupils are happy in their 
learning environment, and should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the receiving school 
would be expected to provide full support to pupils to aid their transition.

13.1.19 Quote from Mervyn Benford, National 
Association of Small Schools: 
“Instead of looking at pupil unit costs 
in isolation, councils should evaluate 
the benefit of small schools in wider 
economic and social terms. Children 
educated in small schools 
consistently do well academically, 
with good behaviour and positive 
attitudes to life and learning. They 
avoid the heavy costs of later 
educational disaffection and failure 
while their more enduring school 
performance enhances their career 
prospects and boosts future tax 
revenues.”

The authority notes this comment.

13.2 Benefits of small classes

13.2.1 Smaller class sizes are more effective 
at building relationships between 
children, staff and parents

The authority notes this comment. However, class sizes in Nantmel C. in W. School are 
very small. In addition, pupil numbers at the school are low and are not expected to 
increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools 
(primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate 

P
age 106



63

leadership capacity’.

13.2.2 Children in smaller classes / schools 
often score higher than children in 
overcrowded classes in bigger 
schools

There is no evidence to substantiate this comment. Pupils achieve well in larger classes / 
schools as well as in smaller classes / schools. 

13.2.3 Mixed age classes are of benefit to 
children’s social and learning 
outcomes

The authority notes this comment and acknowledges that there are good examples in both 
mixed age classes and single age classes. 

13.2.4 In larger primary schools, children are 
just a number

The authority notes this comment. However, all schools are expected to treat pupils fairly 
and equally, regardless of the school’s size.

13.3 Benefits of rural schools

13.3.1 There are advantages to having 
education within a close / rural 
community

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

13.3.2 Taking away rural schools will lower 
the standard of education

The authority does not agree with this comment. 

13.3.3 Rural schools are a community in 
themselves

The authority notes this comment.

13.3.4 Rural people want their children to 
receive rural education

Rhayader C. in W. School, the named receiving school, serves a wide catchment area, 
and the pupils that attend are a mixture of pupils living within Rhayader and pupils living in 
the rural area surrounding Rhayader. The authority is confident that Rhayader C. in W. 
School, and any other school pupils may wish to transfer to, would be able to meet the 
needs of children from a rural background.

13.3.5 Benefits of rural schools cannot be 
quantified on any statistical chart

The authority notes this comment.

P
age 107



64

13.3.6 Education and all round experiences 
of a rural school are very different to a 
town school

The authority notes this comment. Whilst Rhayader C. in W. School, the named receiving 
school, is located in the town of Rhayader, the school serves a wide catchment area, and 
the pupils that attend are a mixture of pupils living within Rhayader and pupils living in the 
rural area surrounding Rhayader. The authority is confident that Rhayader C. in W. 
School, and any other school pupils may wish to transfer to, would be able to meet the 
needs of children from a rural background.

13.3.7 Naïve to think that closure of village 
schools will serve communities better 
and provide better education

Whilst Rhayader C. in W. School, the named receiving school, is located in the town of 
Rhayader, the school serves a wide catchment area, and the pupils that attend are a 
mixture of pupils living within Rhayader and pupils living in the rural area surrounding 
Rhayader. The authority is confident that Rhayader C. in W. School, and any other school 
pupils may wish to transfer to, would be able to meet the needs of children from a rural 
background.

13.3.8 Important for those brought up in a 
farming community to go to a country 
school

The authority notes this comment. Whilst Rhayader C. in W. School, the named receiving 
school, is located in the town of Rhayader, the school serves a wide catchment area, and 
the pupils that attend are a mixture of pupils living within Rhayader and pupils living in the 
rural area surrounding Rhayader. The authority is confident that Rhayader C. in W. 
School, and any other school pupils may wish to transfer to, would be able to meet the 
needs of children from a rural background.

13.3.9 Children can pick up bad habits in a 
town school

The authority notes this comment. Whilst Rhayader C. in W. School, the named receiving 
school, is located in the town of Rhayader, the school serves a wide catchment area, and 
the pupils that attend are a mixture of pupils living within Rhayader and pupils living in the 
rural area surrounding Rhayader. The authority is confident that Rhayader C. in W. 
School, and any other school pupils may wish to transfer to, would be able to meet the 
needs of children from a rural background.

13.3.10 Village schools enable children to 
grow up together

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. 

13.3.11 There is a difference between country Rhayader C. in W. School, the named receiving school, serves a wide catchment area, 

P
age 108



65

children and town children and the pupils that attend are a mixture of pupils living within Rhayader and pupils living in 
the rural area surrounding Rhayader. The authority is confident that Rhayader C. in W. 
School would be able to meet the needs of children from a rural background.

13.4 Other

13.4.1 Ethos of the smaller rural school 
gives children confidence and allows 
them to grow, thus becoming high 
achievers once they get to secondary 
education

The authority notes this comment. However, should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the 
authority would expect this to continue to be the case.

13.4.2 Children that have been to small rural 
schools form an unbreakable bond 
which lasts a lifetime – this does not 
happen in a larger school 
environment in a more urban area

The authority notes this comment. Rhayader C. in W. School, the named receiving school, 
serves a wide catchment area, and the pupils that attend are a mixture of pupils living 
within Rhayader and pupils living in the rural area surrounding Rhayader. The authority is 
confident that Rhayader C. in W. School would be able to meet the needs of children from 
a rural background.

13.4.3 Small rural schools draw pupils from 
much further afield than their 
immediate vicinity

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

13.4.4 Some parents prefer the ethos of a 
small rural school for their child and 
will make a real effort to transport 
them

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

13.4.5 Closing rural schools is a backwards 
step

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

13.4.6 A rural community school such as 
Nantmel cannot be compared to a 

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 

P
age 109



66

town school ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

13.4.7 Powys’ approach to learning where 
one size fits all fails to celebrate small 
rural schools

The authority’s Schools Organisation Policy, approved by Cabinet in November 2015, 
acknowledges that ‘In a rural county as diverse as Powys there is no one size fits all 
approach to school organisation. Consideration will be given to the specific circumstances 
of each school/s and community.’ A range of options were taken into consideration by the 
School Organisation Review Panel before agreeing the draft recommendation in relation 
to closure of the school. 

14 ISSUES RELATING TO THE NAMED RECEIVING SCHOOL

14.1 Access and car parking

14.1.1 Concerns about access to Rhayader 
C. in W. School

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality but the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health and 
Safety officer and meets the authority’s requirements, however it will continue to be 
monitored by both the school and the local authority

14.1.2 Concerns about car parking at 
Rhayader C. in W. School

The number of car parking places at the school is lower than the number that would be 
provided for a new school but are in line with the number of places at similar sized older 
schools, the majority of the children in Nantmel would be transported to the school.

14.1.3 Concerns about disabled access to 
Rhayader C. in W. School

The School currently meets the DDA requirements of current pupils on roll, the authority 
has a multi agency officer group who identify and plan any required works for prospective 
pupils taking account of their individual needs and requirements.

14.1.4 Concern about narrow entrance to 
Rhayader C. in W. School

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader School is not of the highest quality 
but the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health and Safety 
officer and meets the authority’s requirements, however it will continue to be monitored by 
both the school and the local authority

14.1.5 Concern about poor visibility from site 
entrance

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader School is not of the highest quality 
but the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health and Safety 
officer and meets the authority’s requirements, however it will continue to be monitored by 

P
age 110



67

both the school and the local authority

14.1.6 Concern about congestion at drop off 
and pick up times

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader School is not of the highest quality 
but the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health and Safety 
officer and meets the authority’s requirements, however it will continue to be monitored by 
both the school and the local authority. The authority would also work with and support the 
school in developing and implementing a traffic management scheme at the start and end 
of the school day. There is also a large car park within close proximity of the school which 
could be used by parents. 

14.1.7 Concern about more vehicles using 
the access to Rhayader C. in W. 
School

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader School is not of the highest quality 
but the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health and Safety 
officer and meets the authority’s requirements, however it will continue to be monitored by 
both the school and the local authority

14.1.8 Concern about pot holes in the car 
park of Rhayader School

The authority notes this comment and has discussed the situation with the Headteacher 
and Governing Body of Rhayader C. in W. School.

14.1.9 Request for risk assessment of the 
car park to be carried out

The authority notes this comment. The authority’s health and safety officer has visited 
Rhayader C. in W. School to view the parking and traffic arrangements, and does not 
believe that the addition of pupils from Nantmel C. in W. School will greatly affect the 
parking arrangements at the school.

14.1.10 Access to the school is not adequate 
for the amount of traffic that goes 
there now, let alone extra traffic from 
Nantmel

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority

14.1.11 The lane from the main road to the 
school is very narrow – causes chaos 
twice a day

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority.

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, and pupils transferred to Rhayader C. in W. 
School, the authority would work with and support the school in developing and 

P
age 111



68

implementing a traffic management scheme at the start and end of the school day.

14.1.12 A car caught fire in the car park last 
year and the fire service had great 
difficulty getting to the car

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, and pupils transferred to Rhayader C. in W. 
School, the authority would work with and support the school in developing and 
implementing a traffic management scheme at the start and end of the school day.

14.1.13 Concern about the emergency 
services’ ability to access the car park 
and school buildings

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority.

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, and pupils transferred to Rhayader C. in W. 
School, the authority would work with and support the school in developing and 
implementing a traffic management scheme at the start and end of the school day.

14.1.14 Visibility on the school / main road 
junction isn’t good

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, and pupils transferred to Rhayader C. in W. 
School, the authority would work with and support the school in developing and 
implementing a traffic management scheme at the start and end of the school day.

14.1.15 Parents have to park on the main 
road on days where there’s an event 
at the school

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority.

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, and pupils transferred to Rhayader C. in W. 

P
age 112



69

School, the authority would work with and support the school in developing and 
implementing a traffic management scheme at the start and end of the school day.

14.1.16 Can you confirm that access to 
Rhayader School is up to the 
acceptable highways standards?

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority.

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, and pupils transferred to Rhayader C. in W. 
School, the authority would work with and support the school in developing and 
implementing a traffic management scheme at the start and end of the school day.

14.1.17 Has a study been done to ensure that 
the entrance and parking at Rhayader 
C. in W. School come up to Powys 
Planning and Highways strict and 
stringent requirements?

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority.

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, and pupils transferred to Rhayader C. in W. 
School, the authority would work with and support the school in developing and 
implementing a traffic management scheme at the start and end of the school day.

14.1.18 Cars park on the road leading to the 
school with no thought for residents 
or other children and there are no 
adults supervising – a health and 
safety nightmare

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority.

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, and pupils transferred to Rhayader C. in W. 
School, the authority would work with and support the school in developing and 
implementing a traffic management scheme at the start and end of the school day.

14.1.19 Health and safety issues with the car 
parking arrangements

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority.

P
age 113



70

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, and pupils transferred to Rhayader C. in W. 
School, the authority would work with and support the school in developing and 
implementing a traffic management scheme at the start and end of the school day.

14.1.20 How would the emergency situation 
at Rhayader School recently be 
addressed to ensure the ongoing 
safety of our children?

The authority recognises that the access to Rhayader C. in W. School is not of the highest 
quality. However, the entrance has been assessed on a number of occasions by a Health 
and Safety Officer and it does meet the authority’s requirements, however it will continue 
to be monitored by both the school and the local authority.

14.2 Building condition

14.2.1 Concern that Rhayader C. in W. 
School’s building is categorised as 
Category D

As stated in the consultation document, the building at Rhayader was given a Condition 
assessment of B by surveyors appointed by the Welsh Government in 2009. The 
assessment of D was for Sustainability. 

The council’s Cabinet has recently agreed a rolling programme of updating the condition, 
suitability and sustainability assessments that were undertaken a number of years ago. 
This programme will commence with those schools who were given a condition 
assessment of C or D, and will start in the second quarter of the current financial year. The 
results of these assessments will be used to target the investments under the major 
repairs and improvement capital budget.

14.2.2 Layout of Foundation Phase classes 
are unsuitable for little children

This is not the case. In January 2014, Estyn stated: ‘The school building meets the needs 
of pupils and staff well. It is spacious and provides an effective environment for learning. 
The building is well maintained, litter free, safe and secure. All Foundation Phase 
classrooms enjoy direct access to the outside environment. The school makes good use 
of its well-developed outside area and pupils benefit from the extensive grounds.’

14.2.3 Pupils have to walk through other 
children’s classrooms to get to their 
own classrooms – this creates a 
distraction

In January 2014, Estyn stated: ‘The school building meets the needs of pupils and staff 
well. It is spacious and provides an effective environment for learning. The building is well 
maintained, litter free, safe and secure. All Foundation Phase classrooms enjoy direct 
access to the outside environment. The school makes good use of its well-developed 
outside area and pupils benefit from the extensive grounds.’

14.2.4 Concern about the large number of The authority notes the comments.

P
age 114



71

steps at Rhayader e.g. to access the 
school canteen and to access the 
school hall. Steps create hazards and 
more risks for small children

14.2.5 Rhayader School was built as a 
secondary school – doesn’t look or 
feel welcoming

It is true that Rhayader C. in W. School is a former Secondary Modern School, however 
the school has been adapted to deliver primary education, and has done so successfully 
for many years.

14.2.6 Layout of Crossgates School is better 
than the layout of Rhayader School

The authority notes this comment. Crossgates C.P. School was refurbished and a new 
extension was provided in the last 10 years. The design of Crossgates C.P. School is 
specific for primary education, whilst the school at Rhayader has been adapted for primary 
education following its closure as a secondary modern school in the 1970’s.

14.2.7 Sustainability of the Rhayader school 
building is assessed as ‘D’, which is 
lower than Nantmel.

It is correct that the sustainability of the Rhayader school building was assessed as ‘D’, 
which is lower than Nantmel. 

The council’s Cabinet has recently agreed a rolling programme of updating the condition, 
suitability and sustainability assessme4nts that were undertaken a number of years ago. 
This programme will commence with those schools who were given a condition 
assessment of C or D, and will start in the second quarter of the current financial year. The 
results of these assessments will be used to target the investments under the major 
repairs and improvement capital budget.

14.2.8 Nantmel School is a far more suitable 
and safer school for young children 
than Rhayader

All Powys Primary Schools provide a safe, suitable and secure environment for all 
children. 

14.3 Quality of education and standards

14.3.1 Rhayader C. in W. School was 
graded ‘adequate’ at its last 
inspection, Nantmel was graded 
‘good’. 

Rhayader C. in W. School is judged to have made good progress in respect of the key 
issues for action following the Estyn visit in January 2015. The school has been removed 
from the list of schools requiring Estyn monitoring. There will be no further Estyn 
monitoring visits.

P
age 115



72

In the National Categorisation of Schools carried out in 2015, Nantmel C. in W. School 
was judged 3B – Yellow, Rhayader C. in W. School was judged 1B – Yellow.

14.3.2 Based on information from the last 
Estyn inspection, Rhayader isn’t 
providing education of a standard 
which is the same, or better than 
Nantmel

Rhayader C. in W. School is judged to have made good progress in respect of the key 
issues for action following the Estyn visit in January 2015. The school has been removed 
from the list of schools requiring Estyn monitoring. There will be no further Estyn 
monitoring visits.

14.4 Support for pupils with additional needs

14.4.1 Concern that pupils wouldn’t get the 
same help with reading and spelling, 
especially pupils who are dyslexic

All schools are required to support children of all learning abilities and those with specific 
needs would be identified on the Schools SEN and ALN register with appropriate support 
and other learning measures implemented in accordance with the agreed actions, which 
are reviewed in accordance to the school policies.

14.5 Other issues

14.5.1 Concern that there would be more 
bullying 

It is the authority’s view that all of its schools have appropriate policies and procedures in 
place to ensure that appropriate action is taken in cases of bullying.  

14.5.2 Some parents currently drive pupils to 
Nantmel as Rhayader School was too 
big

The authority accepts that the closure of Nantmel School would reduce the level of choice 
of schools for parents and would potentially remove the option of a 2/3 class school for 
some parents. 

14.5.3 The named receiving school is not the 
closest for several of the children

The authority notes that many of the pupil currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School live 
closer to other schools, and this is stated in the Consultation Document. Should Nantmel 
C. in W. School close, parents would be entitled to apply for a place at any other school, 
and the authority would allocate a place at the chosen school, as long as there were 
places available in accordance to the admissions policy.

14.5.4 There are monkey bars at Rhayader 
School – pupils may fall off and hurt 
themselves

The use of these and other sporting facilities and equipment are subject to health and 
safety and risk assessments. The use of such facilities will be age and skills appropriate.

P
age 116



73

14.5.5 Pupils at Rhayader C. in W. School 
currently enjoying doing activities with 
pupils from Nantmel C. in W. School

The authority notes this comment.

14.5.6 Rhayader C. in W. School would have 
a better running team and a better 
football team if pupils from Nantmel 
C. in W. School came to the school

The authority notes this comment.

14.5.7 Rhayader C. in W. School is friendly 
and fun and Nantmel pupils would like 
it

The authority notes this comment.

15 CONCERNS ABOUT CROSSGATES C.P. SCHOOL

15.1 Capacity

15.1.1 If Nantmel C. in W. School closed, it 
is likely that more than half of pupils 
would go to Crossgates – concern 
about the capacity of Crossgates

The authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving school in respect of 
this proposal and is confident that there is sufficient capacity at Rhayader to accommodate 
all pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School. Should parents apply for places at 
Crossgates C.P. School or any other school, these applications would be managed 
through the Council’s Admissions process. The authority would work with the Governing 
Body of Crossgates C.P. School to fully meet parental demand for places, where possible.

15.1.2 What would be the criteria for 
allocating places if Crossgates School 
reaches capacity?

The criteria for allocating places at Crossgates C.P. School if it were oversubscribed 
would be in accordance with the Authority’s Admissions booklet:-

1. Looked After Children
2. Children living in the catchment area with siblings in the school
3. Children living in the  catchment area of the school without siblings in the school
4. Children living outside the catchment area of the school with siblings in the school
5. Children living outside the catchment area of the school without siblings in the 

School

Under each criteria places would be allocated in accordance to distance from the school 

P
age 117



74

should there be a need to decide between 2 children in the same criteria.

15.1.3 Would it be possible for parents to 
secure a place in Crossgates School 
now for a move in January 2017?

The authority does not hold places for periods of more than half a term.

15.1.4 As a parent at Crossgates School, 
ask that the school’s capacity is 
thoroughly investigated as don’t want 
their child to be taught in a portacabin

The authority notes this comment.

15.1.5 Concern about the capacity of 
Crossgates School given the 
proposals in relation to Llanbister and 
Dolau

The authority has recently carried out consultation on the closure of both Llanbister C.P. 
School and Llanfihangel Rhydithon C.P. School, Dolau. No final decision has been made 
to close either of these schools, or Nantmel C. in W. School. The authority is aware of the 
potential impact on the capacity at Crossgates C.P. School should a number of pupils 
currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School wish to transfer to Crossgates C.P. School.

15.1.6 Request for confirmation that there 
would be space for children in 
Crossgates if Nantmel were to close

The authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving school in respect of 
this proposal. Should parents apply for places at Crossgates C.P. School or any other 
schools, these applications would be managed through the Council’s Admissions process. 
The authority would work with the Governing Body of Crossgates C.P. School to fully meet 
parental demand, where possible.

15.1.7 Crossgates will be faced with 
accommodating up to 80 pupils when 
it is already fast approaching its 
capacity

The authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving school, should 
parents apply for places at Crossgates or other schools those applications would be 
managed through the councils Admissions process. The Authority would work with the 
Governing Body of schools to fully meet parental demand, where possible.

Should there be a significant increase in the number of pupils attending Crossgates C.P. 
School, the governing body would be responsible for ensuring that class sizes are within 
the statutory infant class sizes, and that reasonable arrangements are made in Key Stage 
2. 

15.1.8 Concern that class sizes in 
Crossgates could rise to above 30

The authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving school in respect of 
this proposal. Should parents apply for places at Crossgates C.P. School or any other 

P
age 118



75

schools, these applications would be managed through the Council’s Admissions process. 
The authority would work with the Governing Body of Crossgates C.P. School to fully meet 
parental demand, where possible.

15.2 Buildings and facilities

15.2.1 The current portacabin at Crossgates 
School used for after school club is 
not a fit/healthy environment to be 
taught in daily

The authority is undertaking some repairs to the building following which property services 
have confirmed that it would be assessed to be in a good condition (B)

15.2.2 Concern about parking in 
Crosssgates School

The car parking at Crossgates C.P. School was significantly increased in 2007-08 when 
the school was remodelled. The car parking operates through the use of a one way 
system with specific spaces for drop off and spaces for minibus and coach areas. The 
current number of available spaces is in excess of 65.

As a significant percentage of children are transported to the school on the authority run 
transport, it is the authority’s view that the car parking arrangements are suitable if they 
are managed and used appropriately by staff and parents.

There are no major incidents recorded in the authority’s health and safety records in 
respect of incidences in the car parking area at Crossgates C.P. School since the school 
was remodelled and extended.

15.2.3 The only additional space available in 
Crossgates is a disused portacabin

The authority is undertaking some repairs to the building, following which property 
services have confirmed that it would be assessed to be in a good condition (B)

15.2.4 Health and safety issues with the car 
parking arrangements at Crossgates 
C.P. School

The car parking at Crossgates C.P. School was significantly increased in 2007-08 when 
the school was remodelled. The car parking operates through the use of a one way 
system with specific spaces for drop off and spaces for minibus and coach areas. The 
current number of available spaces is in excess of 65.

As a significant percentage of children are transported to the school on the authority run 
transport, it is the authority’s view that the car parking arrangements are suitable if they 
are managed and used appropriately by staff and parents.

P
age 119



76

There are no major incidents recorded in the authority’s health and safety records in 
respect of incidences in the car parking area at Crossgates C.P. School since the school 
was remodelled and extended.

15.2.5 Crossgates C.P. School has a 
relatively small car park and is 
located next to a busy road – is there 
adequate space to ensure parents 
can safely deliver and collect their 
children?

The car parking at Crossgates C.P. School was significantly increased in 2007-08 when 
the school was remodelled. The car parking operates through the use of a one way 
system with specific spaces for drop off and spaces for minibus and coach areas. The 
current number of available spaces is in excess of 65.

As a significant percentage of children are transported to the school on the authority run 
transport, it is the authority’s view that the car parking arrangements are suitable if they 
are managed and used appropriately by staff and parents.

There are no major incidents recorded in the authority’s health and safety records in 
respect of incidences in the car parking area at Crossgates C.P. School since the school 
was remodelled and extended.

15.3 Other issues

15.3.1 Concern about impact on Crossgates 
C.P. School e.g. class sizes, transport 
arrangements, drop off and collection 
of children and space 

Crossgates C.P. School is funded in accordance with the authority’s fair funding formula 
and it is the governors’ responsibility to maintain class sizes within the statutory infant 
class sizes, and that reasonable arrangements are made in Key Stage 2. If the authority’s 
proposal proceeds, the children in Nantmel C. in W. School would transfer to schools with 
larger class sizes, but these classes will generally be classes with one or two age groups 
within them.

Crossgates C.P. School has a capacity of 240 pupils, including the mobile classroom. The 
authority has recently approved the change to the age of admission into schools from the 
start of the 2017-18 school year, which will potentially increase the school’s admission 
number.

16 CONCERNS ABOUT SCHOOLS PUPILS MIGHT WISH TO TRANSFER TO

16.1 Concern that there would be more It is the authority’s view that all of its schools have appropriate policies and procedures in 

P
age 120



77

bullying place to ensure that appropriate action is taken in cases of bullying.  

16.2 Concern about the capacity of 
schools in Llandrindod Wells

The authority is aware of the current situation in the schools in the whole Llandrindod 
Wells catchment area.

16.3 Cefnllys School is full to breaking 
point, where will the extra pupils go?

The authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving school in respect of 
this proposal and is confident that there is sufficient space in this school to accommodate 
all pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School. Should parents apply for places at 
any other schools, these applications would be managed through the Council’s 
Admissions process. The authority would work with the Governing Body of the schools 
concerned to fully meet parental demand, where possible.

16.4 Has not been a detailed explanation 
as to how the large number of pupils 
affected by closure of 3 schools will 
be accommodated in the surviving 
schools or how they will be integrated 
into year groups that already have 30 
pupils

The authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving school, should 
parents apply for places at Crossgates or other schools those applications would be 
managed through the councils Admissions process. The Authority would work with the 
Governing Body of schools to fully meet parental demand, where possible.

Schools are funded in accordance with the authority’s fair funding formula and it is the 
governors’ responsibility to maintain class sizes within the statutory infant class sizes, and 
that reasonable arrangements are made in Key Stage 2. If the authority’s proposal 
proceeds, the children in Nantmel C. in W. School would transfer to schools with larger 
class sizes, but these classes will generally be classes with one or two age groups within 
them.

Where additional pupils join year groups in the foundation phase that already have 30 
pupils, the governing body would need to make alternative arrangements to ensure that 
the school continues to conform with statutory guidance, which could include pupils being 
taught in other foundation phase classes.

16.5 We need to be sure of capacity of we 
will find ourselves transporting urban 
children out into rural areas – this will 
not be possible if rural schools are 
closed

The authority has a duty to plan future pupil numbers through its school asset 
management plan, and the Council’s Cabinet approved an initial paper on the service 
asset management plan in the Spring. 

The authority is fully aware of the pressure on pupil places in certain year groups and in 
certain catchment areas, especially in some areas where there is a significant level of 

P
age 121



78

turbulence in pupil numbers.

16.6 Disappointed in the outside spaces at 
Trefonnen, Cefnllys and Newbridge 
schools – failed to encourage 
imaginative outside play

The authority notes this comment and will consider what actions can be taken to improve 
the outside learning experience at the schools, and in particular the links to the foundation 
phase.

16.7 Concern about lack of capacity in 
Newbridge in the relevant year 
groups

The authority has named Rhayader C. in W. School as the receiving school for the pupils 
at Nantmel C. in W. School, and there are sufficient places at Rhayader C. in W. School 
for all pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. School. The authority is aware of the 
pressure on places in certain year groups in Newbridge-on-Wye and other schools in the 
Llandrindod Wells catchment.

Should the authority proceed with this proposal, the authority will work with the parents 
and their chosen school to meet parental preference for schools where possible.

17 ISSUES RELATING TO FINANCE

17.1 Average cost per pupil

17.1.1 Comparing Nantmel to the ‘average’ 
cost is ridiculous – a small rural 
school will likely cost more to run and 
this should be acceptable within limits

The authority notes this comment. However, one of the criteria for reviewing a school as 
stated in the School Transformation Policy (2014) is ‘The cost per pupil is more than 120% 
of the Council’s average for the sector.’ The cost per pupil for Nantmel C. in W. School, as 
stated in the Section 52 return for 2015/16, is £4926. The average for the sector is £3580. 
Therefore the cost per pupil at Nantmel C. in W. School is more than 120% of the 
Council’s average for the sector.

17.1.2 Why should rural schools have to 
meet the same per pupil cost as town 
schools?

The authority notes this comment. However, the average cost per pupil is a comparator 
used across Wales. One of the criteria for reviewing a school as stated in the School 
Transformation Policy (2014) is ‘The cost per pupil is more than 120% of the Council’s 
average for the sector.’

17.1.3 Cost per pupil takes the number of 
pupils at a given date but does not 
take account of any pupils moving in 

The cost per pupil is as stated in the authority’s annual Section 52 return, which is taken 
on the day that the funding formula is run, therefore the same number of pupils is used for 
the whole year.

P
age 122



79

and out of the school during the year 
– this can widely distort the figure for 
a small school

17.1.4 The average cost per pupil is a crass 
performance indicator and is 
misleading

The authority notes this comment. However, the average cost per pupil is a comparator 
used across Wales.

17.1.5 The overly simplistic cost per pupil 
figure is a watered down approach to 
measure performance

The average cost per pupil is a comparator used across Wales.

17.1.6 Request for explanation as to why 
only £2,753 per pupil would transfer 
with them when at the named 
receiving school it costs £3693 per 
pupil

The funding is generated through various allowances within the formula, some of which 
relate directly to the number of pupils and others that do not.

The allowances that relate to pupil numbers will therefore transfer with that pupil to the 
receiving school.  The fixed sum elements and other allowances that relate specifically to 
an individual school do not, e.g. Property allowances relating to floor area.  The receiving 
school will already be funded for these elements in their own funding.

The £2753 is the funding that would transfer to the pupil’s receiving school, the £3693 is 
the full cost per pupil generated by all elements of the formula.

17.2 Queries about estimated savings

17.2.1 Half of the money that would be 
saved from closing the school would 
be spent on employing new teachers 
at another school

The authority notes this comment.

17.2.2 Savings are so minimal that it does 
not justify closure

The authority notes this comment.

17.2.3 Considerable doubts about any 
alleged financial savings

The estimated savings are included in the consultation document. 

P
age 123



80

17.2.4 Redundancy costs have not been 
factored in

The authority acknowledges that redundancy costs have not been factored in. This is 
stated in the consultation document.

17.2.5 Any meagre saving which might be 
achieved by closure wouldn’t be 
enough to pay the salary of a single 
senior officer in Powys

The authority notes this comment.

17.2.6 A plethora of statistics and forecasts 
have been received indicating 
potential savings over recent months, 
these have differed on every 
occasion.

The estimated savings are included in the consultation document.

17.3 Queries about financial impact on Nantmel C. in W. School should the school close

17.3.1 If the school closed, what would 
happen if there was a deficit budget?

As per the Scheme for Financing Schools when a school closes, any balance surplus or 
deficit will revert to the authority. The school is in a surplus position as at the 31st March 
2016.

17.3.2 Is the school required to restrict its 
spending on the children still at the 
school?

The Governing Body is required to submit budget plans in line with the Scheme for 
Financing Schools and maintain spend within the plan. The authority may impose 
additional restrictions on a school scheduled to close, including but not limited to 
restriction of expenditure to agreed plans, removal of powers of virement.

17.3.3 Where would the money go should 
the school close?

Any savings to the authority realised as a result of the closure of Nantmel C. in W. School 
will be deployed in line with the Schools Service Medium Term Financial Strategy to 
support other schools’ delegated budgets and to support the authority’s 21st Century 
Schools programme through prudential borrowing.

17.4 Fair Funding Formula

17.4.1 Who determines the Fair Funding 
Formula?

Local authorities determine for themselves the size of their Local Schools Budget (LSB). 
Any proposed changes to the fair funding formula will be consulted upon and agreed by 

P
age 124



81

the Cabinet of the Council before the end of the December prior to the commencement of 
the financial year to which they apply. The Fair Funding Formula must comply with the 
legislative provisions of sections 45-53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 
and as further detailed in the School Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010.

17.4.2 Powys has the ability to alter its fair 
funding amounts and/or split site 
allowance

Any proposed changes to the fair funding formula will be consulted upon and agreed by 
the Cabinet of the Council before the end of the December prior to the commencement of 
the financial year to which they apply. The Fair Funding Formula must comply with the 
legislative provisions of sections 45-53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 
and as further detailed in the School Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010.

17.4.3 The Authority’s Fair Funding Formula 
does not reflect the rural nature of 
Powys

The authority notes this comment.

17.4.4 As creators of the Fair Funding 
Formula, Powys County Council is 
responsible for making small schools 
unviable

The authority notes this comment.

17.5 Suggestions for how the Council can save money

17.5.1 The Council should react to the 
budget cut with back office savings 
not attack front line services once 
more

The authority notes this comment

17.5.2 The Council should cut some of their 
overpaid staff at PCC headquarters 
instead

The authority notes this comment

17.5.3 There are easier ways for the Council 
to save £40-60K other than by closing 
Nantmel C. in W. School

The authority notes this comment

P
age 125



82

17.5.4 Frustrating for communities to see 
Powys County Council spending 
money on consultants

The authority notes this comment

17.5.5 £32,000 that has been noted for 
additional transport costs should be 
put towards teaching costs

The authority notes this comment

17.6 Issues relating to the Council’s financial strategy

17.6.1 Investment in the children would 
ultimately be an investment for us all

The authority notes this comment. Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, investment in 
the children would continue in their alternative schools.

17.6.2 The proposal is all about money The authority notes this comment. However, it is not true that ‘the proposal is all about 
money’. The reasons why closure of Nantmel C. in W. School is being proposed are 
outlined in the consultation document, and are as follows:

- The school has had fewer than 50 pupils on roll for the three previous years 
and numbers are not projected to increase to above 50

- There are more than 15% surplus places at the school
- The funding per pupil is more than 120% of the council’s average 

17.6.3 Concern that the Council is ready to 
put financial savings above the health 
and safety of our children

The authority notes this comment.

17.6.4 This is a short term financial strategy 
which will have irreversible damaging 
long term implications to Nantmel and 
rural Wales

The authority notes this comment.

17.6.5 Would appear that the barometer by 
which we are judging the importance 
of our children’s education is not by 
standards of achievements, 

The authority notes this comment. Standards at Nantmel C. in W. School is not one of the 
reasons why the authority is proposing closure of the school. Pupil numbers in Nantmel C. 
in W. School are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One 
Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure 

P
age 126



83

community spirit or convenience, but 
solely by monetary costs

affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

17.6.6 It is clear that Powys County Council 
are looking for the most straight 
forward route to solving a funding 
crisis rather than rising to the 
challenge of providing education in 
our local area. The funding crisis has 
evolved over time, it does not have an 
instant fix.

The authority notes this comment.

17.6.7 Council Tax and Business Rate 
payers of Powys pay substantially 
more than the estimated saving by 
way of contribution to Councillors 
pensions – given the choice, the 
majority of people would opt to fund 
education not Councillors pensions

The authority notes this comment.

17.7 Issues with funding received from Welsh Government

17.7.1 It seems that the only way to get 
money from the Welsh Government is 
by building new schools

The authority notes this comment.

17.7.2 There is money in Wales but Powys 
is poor at negotiating for its share of it

Officers and Members actively seek to influence funding levels for Powys whenever 
possible. Lobbying together with MPs and AMs successfully gained additional funding for 
Powys as part of the 2016/17 financial settlement from Welsh Government. An additional 
£1.2m was directed to Schools Delegated budgets for the 16/17 financial year.

17.7.3 Closing the most basic solitary village 
services such as the school is an 
affront to the extra funding bargained 
for from the Welsh Assembly 

The authority notes this comment

P
age 127



84

Government.

17.8 Other

17.8.1 The school is good value for money 
even if the cost per pupil is above the 
average – Estyn say that ‘value for 
money is based on outcomes’ – why 
is this being ignored?

Nantmel C. in W. School was identified for review as it met the following criteria as 
outlined in the Schools Transformation Policy (2014):

- Pupil Numbers: The school has had fewer than 50 pupils on roll for the three 
previous years

- Capacity: The percentage of surplus places in the school is higher than 15%
- Building Condition: The overall building condition is categorised as category 

D or C based on the Welsh Government’s assessment of building condition
- Financial: The cost per pupil is more than 120% of the council’s average for 

the sector

17.8.2 Keeping the school open is value for 
taxpayer’s money – the investment in 
providing every pupil an education is 
an investment for the future

The authority notes this comment.

17.8.3 18 primary schools ran their budget in 
the red in 2014/15, Nantmel C. in W. 
School was not one of them – the 
focus should be on examining those 
schools that have not been able to 
keep within their budget

The authority works continually with all schools to ensure that schools comply with the 
Scheme for Financing Schools. Nantmel C. in W. School was identified for review as it met 
a number of the criteria outlined in the authority’s Schools Transformation Policy (2014).  

17.8.4 Combining factors within the total 
expenditure can distort the outcome 
at a small school e.g. small schools 
are vulnerable to wage rises, 
experienced teachers on higher scale 
points, employees on maternity / sick 
leave

All Primary Schools are funded for the most expensive teachers within the notional 
teacher number of the school which is driven by pupil numbers. Additional costs due to 
maternity cover is funded by the authority for contractual staff, schools take out staff 
absence insurance for sickness.

P
age 128



85

17.8.5 Schools are having to find funds for 
internal services they previously did 
not have to pay for

The authority notes this comment.

17.8.6 Strict financial equality across all 
learners will always lead to 
disadvantage

The authority notes this comment.

17.8.7 Budget planning and proposals to 
make efficiencies are currently being 
undertaken to ensure Nantmel C. in 
W. School will present a viable 3 year 
plan

The authority notes this comment.

17.8.8 Financial equality is not as important 
as equal opportunity

The authority notes this comment.

17.8.9 Council tax payers in Nantmel get 
little else for their money and 
subsidise services they cannot easily 
access in other parts of Powys

The authority notes this comment. 

17.8.10 Financial statements given by the 
Council are inaccurate

The estimated savings are included in the consultation document.

17.8.11 Why are simple statistics being used 
to solve complex funding issues 
within the education sector at Powys?

Nantmel C. in W. School was identified for review as it met the following criteria as 
outlined in the Schools Transformation Policy (2014):

- Pupil Numbers: The school has had fewer than 50 pupils on roll for the three 
previous years

- Capacity: The percentage of surplus places in the school is higher than 15%
- Building Condition: The overall building condition is categorised as category 

D or C based on the Welsh Government’s assessment of building condition
- Financial: The cost per pupil is more than 120% of the council’s average for 

the sector

P
age 129



86

The cost per pupil is a comparator used across Wales.

18 ISSUES RELATING TO LEADERSHIP

18.1 Issues relating to the current headship arrangements at Nantmel C. in W. School

18.1.1 9 months ago Nantmel had 
permanent leadership arrangements 
in place. Governors assisted the 
council by agreeing to share the head 
with Dolau school. 

The authority accepts that this is a true reflection of the position.

18.1.2 Nantmel’s permanent headteacher 
took up a vacant position at 
Crossgates – was the future / closure 
of Nantmel being planned / 
predetermined at / before this point?

The previous headteacher at Nantmel C. in W. School applied for a vacant headteacher 
position and was appointed by the governing body following interview. This was not part of 
any strategic move by the authority.

18.1.3 Move of Nantmel’s previous 
Headteacher to Crossgates C.P. 
School was clearly strategic in the 
hope that pupils would eagerly follow

The previous headteacher at Nantmel C. in W. School applied for a vacant headteacher 
position and was appointed by the governing body following interview. This was not part of 
any strategic move by the authority.

18.1.4 Placement of headteacher of 
Rhayader C. in W. School as acting 
headteacher of Nantmel C. in W. 
School to smooth the way for 
transition to Rhayader C. in W. 
School

This is not the case. The arrangement with Rhayader C. in W. School was to secure 
leadership at Nantmel C. in W. School. Following the resignation of the previous 
headteacher, the Schools Service assisted the governors of Nantmel C. in W. School to 
secure leadership for the school, and Rhayader C. in W. School was approached as the 
nearest Church in Wales school.

18.1.5 Was the suggestion of federation with 
Rhayader, an idea that came from the 
Schools Service, a precursor to the 
current consultation and the demise 

The Schools Service assisted the governors of Nantmel C. in W. School to secure 
leadership of the school following the resignation of the previous headteacher. Rhayader 
C. in W. School was approached as the nearest Church in Wales school.

P
age 130



87

of the school?

18.2 Queries about ‘permanence’ of leadership arrangements

18.2.1 How is the employment of a 
headteacher that is free to resign at 
will decribed as ‘permanent’ 
leadership arrangements?

The authority notes this comment. Any employee in any organisation is at liberty to resign 
from their post at any point in time. The description of leadership arrangements as 
‘permanent’ refers to a situation where a headteacher has a permanent contract, as 
opposed to acting headteachers who have temporary contracts or situations where there 
are temporary shared headteacher arrangements in place.

18.3 Difficulties with recruiting headteachers

18.3.1 Recruitment of headteachers is a 
nationwide problem. Reducing the 
number of schools, and reducing the 
teacher pool, reduces the pool for 
those wishing to proceed into being 
headteachers

The authority acknowledges that recruitment of headteachers is a nationwide problem, 
and is a particular issue in rural authorities. The authority is working identify and support 
leaders of the future within the local authority.

18.3.2 Is closing every school that cannot 
find a headteacher Powys’ 
sustainable solution?

Recruitment of headteachers is a nationwide problem, and is a particular issue in rural 
authorities. The local authority works with governing bodies to identify alternative solutions 
to address the challenge. The lack of permanent leadership arrangements at Nantmel C. 
in W. School is not one of the reasons listed in the consultation document why the 
authority is currently proposing closure of the school.

18.4 Possible leadership models for Nantmel C. in W. School

18.4.1 Gladestry is an outstanding school 
with a teaching head, not sure why 
this cannot be explored again as an 
option for Nantmel

The authority acknowledges that there are small schools in Powys that have 
headteachers, and that each of these headteachers have varying levels of teaching 
commitment. However in general headteacher posts advertised for small schools do not 
generate a high level of interest. 

18.4.2 Executive and associate 
headteachers shared with other 
village schools e.g. one executive 

The authority accepts this comment. The authority is already identifying potential leaders 
and providing appropriate support and guidance.

P
age 131



88

headteacher for several schools, 
whilst each school has a teaching 
deputy / associate – these could be 
trainee headteachers, helping to 
create a long term solution to the 
recruitment process

18.4.3 An independent school in Nottingham 
which has just been rated by Ofsted 
as outstanding does not believe in a 
hierarchical management style – 
headship is run by a committee

The authority notes this comment.

19 CRITICISM OF THE AUTHORITY

19.1 General criticism of the council

19.1.1 Powys is trying to deal with schools 
as if they are in urban communities

As stated in the authority’s revised Schools Organisation Policy, approved by Cabinet in 
November 2015, the council acknowledges that ‘In a rural county as diverse as Powys 
there is no one size fits all approach to school organisation. Consideration will be given to 
the specific circumstances of each school/s and community.’ However, pupil numbers in 
Nantmel C. in W. School are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated 
in the One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) 
to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. A range of 
options were taken into consideration by the School Organisation Review Panel before 
agreeing the draft recommendation to close the school.

19.1.2 There is mistrust and hostility towards 
the Authority within the community

The authority notes this comment.

19.1.3 The culture at Powys County Council 
is to make everything ‘generic’

The authority does not agree with this statement. In the revised Schools Organisation 
Policy, approved by Cabinet in November 2015, the council acknowledges that ‘In a rural 
county as diverse as Powys there is no one size fits all approach to school organisation. 
Consideration will be given to the specific circumstances of each school/s and community.’ 
However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School are low and are not expected to 

P
age 132



89

increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools 
(primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate 
leadership capacity’. A range of options were taken into consideration by the SORP before 
agreeing the draft recommendation to close the school.

19.2 Criticism of the Cabinet

19.2.1 Cabinet members are out of touch 
with the community

Cabinet members will consider this Consultation Report, which lists all issues raised 
during the consultation process, including those issues relating to the impact on the 
community, before making a decision on how to proceed in relation to Nantmel C. in W. 
School. Cabinet members visited Nantmel C. in W. School and the named receiving 
school during the consultation period, and the portfolio holder for Education and the 
Leader were in attendance at the public consultation meeting held at the school, therefore 
they are fully aware of the views of the community.
 

19.2.2 Cabinet members should visit the 
school

Cabinet members visited Nantmel C. in W. School and the named receiving school during 
the consultation period

19.2.3 How many Cabinet members are 
from Radnorshire?

Two of the current nine Cabinet members are from Radnorshire

19.2.4 Cabinet members have not visited the 
school during school hours to assess 
the positive, lively atmosphere

Cabinet members have visited both Nantmel C. in W. School and Rhayader C. in W. 
School.

19.2.5 Sad to witness elected 
representatives tell us at the meeting 
why they can’t keep the school open, 
rather than how they can help the 
community keep the school open

The current consultation is on a proposal to close Nantmel C. in W. School, however all 
issues raised during the consultation process and alternative options submitted will be 
considered before making a decision on how to proceed.

19.3 Criticism of officers

19.3.1 Data provided to the public by officers 
is not acceptable

The authority notes this comment.

P
age 133



90

19.3.2 Has not been any assurance that 
Education Officers are competent to 
implement such a seismic change in 
the structure of five schools in a ten 
mile radius over a one year period

The authority has been carrying out consultation on proposals related to a number of 
schools, however no final decisions have yet been made. All issues raised during these 
consultation processes will be considered by Cabinet before determining a way forward. 
Any changes will be supported by officers from various services across the authority. 

19.3.3 Education Officers have been unable 
to provide reliable figures for cost 
savings, pupil numbers or surplus 
capacity

The figures used in the consultation document are based on the 2015-16 Fair Funding 
Formula plus estimated savings from other centrally held budgets together with estimated 
costs for the additional costs of Home to School Transport. The capacity figure for the 
school is based on the school agreed figure using Welsh Government capacity 
calculations. The current and projected pupil numbers were also checked and confirmed 
by the schools Governing Body during the SORP process.

19.3.4 Reports by officers have a heavy 
bias, financial figures and statistics 
are oversimplified and are presented 
out of context to lull councillors into 
making the decision they want you to 
make

The estimated financial savings are based on robust funding and budget figures. The 
current and projected pupil numbers and subsequent surplus capacity was discussed and 
agreed with the Governing Body during the SORP process. 

The authority has also recognised that with some targeted investment in the building the 
condition assessment of Nantmel School would improve from a condition C to a condition 
B building. This investment, if made, would not change the suitability assessment.

19.3.5 Employees are required to streamline 
data in reports for councillors so that 
they wouldn’t ask questions and to 
simplify data so that councillors can 
understand

This comment is refuted.

19.3.6 Criticism that 3 members of staff 
came to take to the school council – 
one was writing and two were talking 
to pupils, however only one could talk 
at the same time, so what was the 
point of having the third person there?

As described in this comment, three officers from the Schools Service attended Nantmel 
C. in W. School to meet with the school council. This consisted of one officer to record the 
issues raised by pupils, and two officers to engage in discussion with pupils. The 
authority’s view is that this was a reasonable number of officers to attend this session.

P
age 134



91

19.3.7 Officers are seeking to close Nantmel 
C. in W. School at the cost of the 
community to increase numbers at 
Crossgates C.P. School and 
Rhayader C. in W. School

Although closure of Nantmel C. in W. School would lead to a decrease in overall surplus 
capacity in Powys schools due to the expected reduction in surplus capacity at the schools 
to which pupils will transfer, this is not the reason for proposing closure of Nantmel C. in 
W. School. Nantmel C. in W. School was identified for review based on a number of 
criteria, as outlined in the School Transformation Policy (2014).

19.3.8 The Admissions Team have placed 
pressure on parents, by urging them 
to leave Nantmel school now 
otherwise they will lose their places at 
alternative schools

Members of the admissions team have taken enquiries from parents of pupils at Nantmel 
C. in W. School in respect to the process that would be followed in respect to the closure 
of the school and if the parents decide to move their child/ren before the closure takes 
place.  The parents were informed that the authority has a duty to provide a place in the 
named receiving school, Rhayader C. in W. School for the children in Nantmel and that 
the authority would work with the parents to meet their parental wishes if they chose a 
different school, other than the named receiving school. 

The team also informed the parents who enquired of the process the authority follows in 
respect to allocating places in accordance with the authority’s admissions procedures, 
which included informing them that the authority does not hold places for children to be 
admitted to a school at the start of future terms or half terms and that the places for in year 
transfers are allocated during the half term prior to the proposed transfer date.

19.3.9 Schools Service are putting families 
under unnecessary stress and 
pressure using underhand techniques 
in order to diminish the Nantmel 
school population in favour of their 
predetermined, preferred option of 
closure

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for those affected. The authority is not using ‘underhand tactics’ in order to 
diminish the school population at Nantmel C. in W. School. Rather, the authority is 
following the legal process for school reorganisation proposals. No decisions have yet 
been made on the future of Nantmel C. in W. School, however parents are free to choose 
to move their children to different schools if that is their wish.

19.3.10 The Schools Service refuses to 
acknowledge the detrimental / 
negative impact closure could have 
on our children

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition. The authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to 
minimise this period of uncertainty for pupils.

19.3.11 The Authority does not tell people that Information about Nantmel C. in W. School is included in the authority’s Admissions 

P
age 135



92

Nantmel School is available to take 
pupils

Booklet and on the authority’s website.

19.3.12 The solitary focus of the Schools 
Service is not the best interests of our 
learners or our community, but to 
make cuts on the front line and save 
their own bacon of being cast into 
special measures

Powys County Council’s priorities are set out in the One Powys Plan. ‘Transforming 
learning and skills’ is one of the priorities in this plan, and within this priority, the plan 
states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children and young people are 
supported to achieve their full potential’. Within this priority, the Plan states that ‘we need 
to ‘re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. 

19.3.13 Little support is provided by the 
authority to parents wishing their 
children to attend Nantmel C. in W. 
School

Information about Nantmel C. in W. School is included in the authority’s Admissions 
Booklet and on the authority’s website.

19.4 Criticism of council process

19.4.1 Awaiting responses to 3 Freedom of 
Information requests – it is painful to 
have to wait 20 days for this 
information. Request for responses to 
be provided before the end of the 
consultation period

There is a defined process for dealing with Freedom of Information requests, which 
requires authorities to respond within 20 working days. The authority endeavours to 
respond to such requests within the required timescale.

19.4.2 Issue with the process for requesting 
information via FOI requests

There is a defined process for dealing with Freedom of Information requests, which 
requires authorities to respond within 20 working days. The authority endeavours to 
respond to such requests within the required timescale.

19.4.3 Issue about poor quality of data 
received in response to an FOI asking 
for HR information

There is a defined process for dealing with Freedom of Information requests, which 
requires authorities to respond within 20 working days. The authority endeavours to 
respond to such requests within the required timescale.

19.4.4 Issue about there being 35 ‘positions’ 
at the school as of 1st Jan 2016 
according to the council’s database –   

The authority notes this comment, however this issue has now been resolved. 

P
age 136



93

this was being used to increase costs 
to the school. 

19.5 Critisicm of Council’s money saving plans

19.5.1 The Council is trying to save money 
in the wrong place

The authority notes this comment.

19.5.2 The Council should be saving money 
by cutting salaries at the top

The authority notes this comment.

19.5.3 All of the Council’s essential services 
could be enhanced by reviewing the 
evident waste and well-meaning but 
very poorly directed use of resources

The authority notes this comment.

19.5.4 Complaint about the Council’s grass 
cutting

The authority notes this concern, however this consultation is on the proposal to close 
Nantmel C. in W. School.

19.5.5 Closing schools to pay for backroom 
bureaucrats is a quick fix solution to 
cater for ongoing internal budgetary 
reshuffle, and has nothing to do with 
the education of a child in Nantmel 
costing fractionally more than another 
child’s elsewhere

The authority notes this comment.

19.6 Criticism of Council policy

19.6.1 The Council has failed to recognised 
the importance of rural schools to 
rural communities

As stated in the authority’s revised Schools Organisation Policy, approved by Cabinet in 
November 2015, the council acknowledges that ‘In a rural county as diverse as Powys 
there is no one size fits all approach to school organisation. Consideration will be given to 
the specific circumstances of each school/s and community.’ However, as stated in the 
One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to 
ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. 

P
age 137



94

The authority fully recognises the importance of rural schools to rural communities. A 
community impact assessment has been carried out as part of this process, and this, 
along with all issues raised during the consultation, will be considered by Cabinet before 
determining how to proceed in relation to this proposal.

19.6.2 Complaint about the number of 
schools shutting – unacceptable that 
the Council is planning on closing 
around 8 more schools

The authority notes this comment. Whilst the authority has been carrying out consultation 
on proposals relating to a number of schools, no final decisions have yet been made. All 
issues raised during these various consultation processes will be considered by Cabinet 
before determining a way forward.

19.6.3 Powys policy seems to be closure of 
village schools rather than supporting 
them

As stated in the authority’s revised Schools Organisation Policy, approved by Cabinet in 
November 2015, the council acknowledges that ‘In a rural county as diverse as Powys 
there is no one size fits all approach to school organisation. Consideration will be given to 
the specific circumstances of each school/s and community.’ However, as stated in the 
One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to 
ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. 

19.6.4 Oppose the council’s previous 
transformation policy to move away 
from mixed age groups

The authority notes this comment. 

19.7 Criticism of the Council’s treatment of rural communities

19.7.1 Powys County Council does not take 
its responsibilities to rural 
communities robustly enough

The authority fully recognises the importance of rural schools to rural communities. A 
community impact assessment has been carried out as part of this process, and this, 
along with all issues raised during the consultation, will be considered by Cabinet before 
determining how to proceed in relation to this proposal.

19.7.2 A quote from the One Powys Plan 
was provided in the report considered 
by Cabinet in December – however 
the One Powys Plan also states “In 
strong communities people are in 
touch, talk to and help each other out. 

Reports presented to the Council’s Cabinet are required to include a reference to the One 
Powys Plan. It is true that the quote provided by the respondent is included in the One 
Powys Plan, within the priority ‘Stronger, safer and economically viable communities’. 
However, the ‘Transforming learning and skills’ priority of the One Powys Plan states the 
authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children and young people are supported to 
achieve their full potential’. Within this priority, the Plan states that ‘we need to ‘re-organise 

P
age 138



95

They are more likely to feel that they 
belong and have a sense of pride 
about where they live”

schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and 
appropriate leadership capacity’.

19.8 Criticism of the Council’s treatment of Nantmel C. in W. School 

19.8.1 The way parents and governors have 
been treated so far is diabolical

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils, however should the school close, the receiving school or any other 
school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition. The authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to 
minimise this period of uncertainty for pupils.

19.9 Other

19.9.1 Access problems at Knighton C. in W. 
School have not been sorted in spite 
of assurances made to parents of 
pupils of Beguildy School

The delivery of pupils from the Beguildy area to Knighton is through a home to school 
transport arrangement with the pupils being delivered to the school via the main vehicle 
access to the school.

19.9.2 Why is Radnorshire being hit with 
more closures than the north?

In accordance with the Schools Transformation Policy 2014, all schools across the county 
were considered against a range of criteria and the SORP agreed which schools were to 
be reviewed.

19.9.3 Closing the school would be an 
inhumane act by the Council 

The authority does not accept this statement. The authority is committed to ensuring the 
best possible education for all children and young people. The One Powys Plan states the 
authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children and young people are supported to 
achieve their full potential’. Within this priority, the Plan states that ‘we need to ‘re-organise 
schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and 
appropriate leadership capacity’.

19.9.4 Urge the Council to learn a little 
compassion

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for those affected, and the authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly 
as possible in order to minimise this period of uncertainty. The Cabinet will consider all 
issues raised during the consultation period before determining how to proceed in relation 
to Nantmel C. in W. School.

P
age 139



96

19.9.5 The Council is trying to deprive 
children of their right to have their 
school education in the correct 
environment for them

The authority is committed to ensuring the best possible education for all children and 
young people. The One Powys Plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all 
children and young people are supported to achieve their full potential’. Within this priority, 
the Plan states that ‘we need to ‘re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to 
ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

19.9.6 The Council does not see how school 
closures impact on people’s lives and 
affect and upset so many children

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils. Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the receiving school or any 
other school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition. The authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to 
minimise this period of uncertainty for pupils.

19.9.7 It is short termist of the council to 
close the school entirely – being short 
termist is a poor way to run any 
system of government

The authority notes this comment.

19.9.8 Cabinet members are concerned 
about providing financial equality, 
however they need to provide 
financial equality for our children and 
buck the trend of focusing on funding 
the mechanisms of the Council

The authority notes this comment.

19.9.9 Why does the council want to wreck 
the school?

The reasons why the authority is proposing closure of Nantmel C. in W. School are 
outlined in the consultation document in respect of the proposal, and are as follows:

- The school has had fewer than 50 pupils on roll for the three previoius years 
and numbers are not projected to increase to above 50

- There are more than 15% surplus places at the school
- The funding per pupil is more than 120% of the council’s average 

Pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School are low and are not expected to increase 
significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, ‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, 

P
age 140



97

secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership 
capacity’.

19.9.10 The more schools the council closes, 
the more sad children there will be

The authority accepts that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of 
uncertainty for pupils. Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, the receiving school or any 
other school pupils might wish to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their 
transition, to ensure that they are happy in their new schools. The authority is keen to 
conclude this process as swiftly as possible in order to minimise this period of uncertainty 
for pupils.

19.9.11 Powys County Council and 
Councillors need to lobby the Welsh 
Assembly Government and working 
groups to ensure Powys does not fall 
foul of urban policy models

The authority notes this comment.

20 QUESTIONS ABOUT / ISSUES WITH THE PROCESS

20.1 Timescale

20.1.1 What is the expected timescale for 
Cabinet to consider the outcome of 
consultation and for a final decision to 
be made?

It is expected that a Consultation Report will be considered by Cabinet in June. This is 
subject to change. The timescale for the process going forward will be dependent on the 
decision made by Cabinet and the number of Objections received during any Statutory 
Objection period. Should Cabinet decide to proceed with the publication of Statutory 
Notices, the authority would aim for a final decision to be made in early September. 

20.1.2 The process is very lengthy The authority accepts that the process is lengthy and leads to a period of uncertainty for 
those affected by the proposal, however the authority is required to follow the statutory 
process as set out by the Welsh Government. The authority is keen to conclude the 
process as swiftly as possible, to minimise this period of uncertainty for those affected.

20.1.3 Request to extend the consultation 
period

The initial consultation period allowed met the requirements of the School Organisation 
Code. However, during the initial consultation period it became apparent that the 
consultation documentation had not been sent to some stakeholders, therefore the 
consultation period was extended. The authority is satisfied that stakeholders have had 

P
age 141



98

more than enough time to respond to the consultation.

20.1.4 What would be the timescale for the 
community to submit a business 
case?

If the community wishes to submit a business case, this would need to be received during 
the consultation period.

20.1.6 Date on the front of the Consultation 
Document, Response Form and 
Young People’s Version are incorrect 
– the incorrect closing date is stated. 
This will result in a further extension 
to the consultation period

The dates on the Consultation Document, Response Form and Young People’s Version 
are the dates of the original consultation period. When the consultation period was 
extended, stakeholders were advised of this and of the new closing date by letter. This 
information was also issued as a press release. In addition, the council’s website clearly 
showed the revised closing date from the date the consultation period was extended. The 
authority is therefore satisfied that there is no need for a further extension to the 
consultation period.

20.1.7 Publication of the incorrect closing 
date will have misled people into 
believing it is too late to send in their 
responses

When the consultation period was extended, stakeholders were advised of this and of the 
new closing date by letter. This information was also issued as a press release. In 
addition, the council’s website clearly showed the revised closing date from the date the 
consultation period was extended. The authority does not accept that the council has 
misled people into believing it is too late to send in their responses.

20.1.8 Unsettling to have the consultation 
deadline extended due to omissions 
made by the Modernisation Team – 
extension would not so easily have 
been granted if it had been requested 
by the community or the school

The authority notes this comment. The consultation period was extended in order to 
ensure that all stakeholders as listed in the School Organisation Code had at least 42 
days to respond to the consultation.

20.1.9 Extension to consultation period will 
have a knock on effect on the time it 
will take for Cabinet to make a 
decision in relation to the school

It is true that the extension to the consultation period will have an effect on the time it will 
take for Cabinet to make a decision in relation to the school.

20.1.10 Failure of the consultation to adhere 
to an academic year outlines the 
school service’s lack of commitment 

The authority notes this comment. 

P
age 142



99

to offering the best to our children

20.1.11 Proposing to close a school in 
December is an underhand technique 
to manipulate families into leaving 
before a decision has been made.

The authority did not propose closing the school in December in order to manipulate 
parents into leaving before a decision has been made.

20.1.12 Running consultation on closure of 
Llanbister C.P. School and 
Llanfihangel Rhydithon C.P. School 
on a similar timescale reinforces the 
concept that the Schools Service are 
manipulating proceedings as families 
are worried about competing for 
places at Crossgates C.P. School

The authority accepts that running consultation on closure of Llanbister C.P. School and 
Llanfihangel Rhydithon C.P. School along a similar timescale to the consultation on 
closure of Nantmel C. in W. School will have caused concerns for families living closer to 
Crossgates C.P. School. However, no final decision has yet been made in relation to 
either Nantmel C. in W. School, Llanbister C.P. School and Llanfihangel Rhydithon C.P. 
School. At the current time, there are sufficient places available at Crossgates C.P. 
School, and capacity at this school will be taken into consideration by the Cabinet when 
determining how to proceed in relation to the proposals.

20.1.13 The Council is attempting to pit 
community against community by 
running consultations along similar 
timescales

The authority is not attempting to pit community against community.

20.2 Request for clarification of process going forward

20.2.1 What would happen to the school if 
parents decide to take children out of 
the school in the autumn, leaving so 
few pupils that the school became 
unviable?

If pupil numbers in the school reduced to such an extent that it was not good educationally 
for the children, then there would need to be a discussion with the parents of those pupils. 
However the school could not formally close without going through the statutory process.

20.2.2 If a decision is made to keep the 
school open, would the school 
operate as usual from January 2017?

Yes, this process could stop if Cabinet decide not to proceed at any point. If this 
happened, the school would continue to operate as usual.

20.2.3 Would the decision on the school’s 
future need to be referred to the 

As Nantmel C. in W. School is a Church school, there is provision for the Diocesan 
Authority to refer the decision to the Education Minister after the Cabinet has made the 

P
age 143



100

Minister for Education? final decision following the statutory objection period.

20.2.4 If a decision is made not to close the 
school, how frequently could the 
school be reviewed under the School 
Transformation Policy?

The 2014 School Transformation Policy set out an annual cycle of reviews, however a 
new School Reorganisation Policy is now in place which doesn’t include an annual cycle 
of reviews. When the school was reviewed again would depend on the reasons why the 
process was stopped, however the authority shouldn’t be putting schools through a 
continuous process of review.

20.3 Consultation meetings

20.3.1 Why was a separate meeting with 
governors held in addition to the 
meeting with parents?

When there is a recommendation to close a school, the authority’s usual practice is hold 
consultation meetings with pupils, staff, governors and parents / the community. It is felt 
that different groups affected by the proposal might wish to discuss different issues, for 
example governors may wish to discuss issues relating to governance. By arranging more 
than one meeting, the authority is providing opportunities for as many stakeholders as 
possible to have their say.

20.3.2 Having a separate meeting for 
governors and parents reinforces 
some parents’ perception that 
governors are given more information 
than them

The authority notes this comment. However, the authority’s usual practice is to hold a 
separate consultation meeting with governors. In the majority of cases, governors have 
appreciated and welcomed the opportunity to have a separate meeting. 

20.3.3 Why didn’t Councillors attend the 
meeting with governors?

The authority’s usual practice is that the Portfolio Holder attends the meeting with parents 
/ the community, however the Portfolio Holder and other Cabinet members will be aware 
of all issues raised during the consultation, including those raised in meetings and in other 
written responses, before making a decision on how to proceed.

20.3.4 Concern that there is insufficient time 
available for the public meeting

The authority notes this comment. The authority’s view is that two hours is sufficient for a 
meeting of this type, however there can be a certain level of flexibility with this. 

20.3.5 Why was a request to record the 
public meeting denied?

In order for the meeting to be recorded, all those present would need to have given 
informed consent for this to happen.

20.3.6 At the consultation meeting held in The authority disagrees with this comment. Officers endeavoured to answer all questions 

P
age 144



101

Nantmel School, very few questions 
were answered and questions were 
not answered directly

posed in the consultation meeting to the best of their abilities. Responses to all issues 
raised during the consultation period, including those raised in the consultation meetings, 
are provided in this report.

20.3.7 Responses provided in consultation 
meeting were evasive, unhelpful and 
dismissive

Officers endeavoured to answer all questions posed in the consultation meeting to the 
best of their abilities. Responses to all issues raised during the consultation period, 
including those raised in the consultation meetings, are provided in this report.

20.3.8 Body language of the Cabinet 
members in the consultation meeting 
was closed

The authority notes this view. 

20.3.9 Request to record public consultation 
meeting at Nantmel was refused, 
however Llanbister were allowed to 
record their meeting and the authority 
facilitiated the recording of the high 
school meetings – this has 
disadvantaged the consultees of 
Nantmel

The authority notes this comment.

20.3.10 Despite having 3 note takers at the 
public consultation meeting, took 15 
days to release the minutes, which 
was the maximum time allowed

Historically, minutes of consultation meetings have not been released to the public. 
However, following requests from members of the Nantmel community, the authority 
agreed that minutes would be released within 15 working days of the date of the meeting, 
and the minutes were provided within this timescale. The authority’s view is that this is 
reasonable. 

20.4 SORP process

20.4.1 There has been no engagement with 
Cabinet members up until this point – 
there is only one Cabinet member on 
the School Organisation Review 
Panel – it is mainly made up of 
officers

The authority notes this comment. When the School Organisation Review Panel was 
initially proposed there was a suggestion to include more elected members, however the 
decision of the Cabinet at that point in time was to just include the Portfolio Holder for 
Education.

P
age 145



102

20.4.2 SORP evaluated data that has not 
been examined in depth or is not 
wholly accurate, which has led to the 
current position on closure

The authority is satisfied that the data examined by the SORP when agreeing the draft 
recommendation in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School was accurate. 

20.5 View that a final decision has already been made

20.5.1 The process isn’t transparent as 
Cabinet members are only presented 
with the information that officers 
choose to present to them

Cabinet members will receive the consultation report which lists all issues raised during 
the consultation period, and will take this into consideration before determining the way 
forward in respect of Nantmel C. in W. School.

20.5.2 The Council seems determined to 
close small schools – this isn’t a 
democratic consultation process

No decision has been made on the future of Nantmel C. in W. School. All issues raised 
during the consultation period, and the authority’s response to these issues, will be taken 
into consideration by Cabinet when determining how to proceed with this proposal.

20.5.3 The decision has been made long 
ago

No decision has been made on the future of Nantmel C. in W. School. All issues raised 
during the consultation period, and the authority’s response to these issues, will be taken 
into consideration by Cabinet when determining how to proceed with this proposal.

20.5.4 Budget approved by Council on the 
25th February 2016 included projected 
savings of £60,000 for small school 
closures – if no decisions have been 
made, how could the portfolio holder 
name Dolau, Llanbister and Nantmel 
schools?

The £60,000 projected savings for the 2016/17 financial year was in relation to Whitton 
(Aided) School, which closed at the end of December 2015. 

20.5.5 Doubt that anyone in the Nantmel 
community believes that there is a 
true democratic process being 
employed by Powys County Council 
and that there is any passion for real 
stakeholder consultation

No decision has been made on the future of Nantmel C. in W. School. All issues raised 
during the consultation period, and the authority’s response to these issues, will be taken 
into consideration by Cabinet when determining how to proceed with this proposal.

P
age 146



103

20.5.6 Strong view that the outcome is 
already pre-determined

No decision has yet been made on the future of Nantmel C. in W. School.

20.5.7 841 people signed a petition against 
the closure of the school to let the 
Cabinet know their view – our view so 
far has been disregarded

The petition against closure of Nantmel C. in W. School was taken into consideration by 
the Cabinet when they decided to commence consultation on closure of the school. 
However, no final decision on the future of Nantmel C. in W. School has yet been made. 
All issues raised during the consultation period, as outlined in this report, will be taken into 
consideration by Cabinet before they determine how to proceed in relation to the school.

20.5.8 Lack of honesty in the consultation 
process stifles the possibility of a 
productive outcome for the school

The authority does not agree that there has been a lack of honesty in the consultation 
process. No final decision on the future of Nantmel C. in W. School has yet been made. All 
issues raised during the consultation period, as outlined in this report, will be taken into 
consideration by Cabinet before they determine how to proceed in relation to the school.

20.5.9 Urge Cabinet members to prove that 
this consultation is really at a 
formative stage where we can go 
forward in partnership

The authority notes this comment. No final decision on the future of Nantmel C. in W. 
School has yet been made. All issues raised during the consultation period, as outlined in 
this report, will be taken into consideration by Cabinet before they determine how to 
proceed in relation to the school.

20.5.10 Urge the Cabinet to vote for positive 
change and do the job you were 
elected to fulfil – to provide good 
quality, diverse education in an 
inspirational rural area.

The authority notes this comment. The One Powys Plan states the authority’s aspiration to 
ensure that ‘all children and young people are supported to achieve their full potential’. 
Within this priority, the Plan states that ‘we need to ‘re-organise schools (primary, 
secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership 
capacity’.

20.6 Other

20.6.1 Request for Cabinet members to visit 
the school and the named receiving 
school

Cabinet members visited the school and the named receiving school during the 
consultation period.

20.6.2 Have you consulted the teachers at 
Llandrindod High School on this?

The School Organisation Code does not require the authority to consult with the teachers 
of Llandrindod High School on this proposal, however this was a public consultation 
exercise, therefore teachers at Llandrindod High School were entitled to respond if they 

P
age 147



104

had wished to.

20.6.3 Why hasn’t the Council already 
discussed with the Church what 
conditions relate to the school 
building?

The authority will enter into discussions with the Church in relation to future use of the 
school building if necessary depending on the decision made by Cabinet on the way 
forward in respect of Nantmel C. in W. School.

20.6.4 The Minister for Education and Skills 
stated that “When proposing change, 
local authorities should place the 
interests of learners above all others”

The authority is fully committed to providing the best possible educational opportunities for 
pupils. The One Powys Plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children 
and young people are supported to achieve their full potential’. Within this priority, the Plan 
states that ‘we need to ‘re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure 
affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

20.6.5 Welsh Government have repeatedly 
stated that closure of schools should 
not be led by financial considerations

The authority is fully committed to providing the best possible educational opportunities for 
pupils. The One Powys Plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children 
and young people are supported to achieve their full potential’. Within this priority, the Plan 
states that ‘we need to ‘re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure 
affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

20.6.6 Welsh Government have stated that 
other governance models should be 
explored as an alternative to closure

A range of other models were considered by the SORP during the review process, as 
outlined within the consultation document. These models were also discussed with the 
governing body of Nantmel C. in W. School. However, the SORP’s view was that none of 
the alternative options provided the best solution in this case. 

20.6.7 School Organisation Code states that 
consideration should be given to 
‘clustering, collaboration or federation 
taking into account the scope for ICT 
use between school sites or that 
reasons should be given for not 
pursuing these as an alternative’

The options considered in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School are aligned to those 
contained in the School Transformation Policy 2014. These do not include clustering or 
collaboration. There is already a degree of clustering and collaboration between primary 
schools in the catchment. 

20.6.8 Can you legally name a receiving 
school that has a lower level of health 
and safety?

The authority is satisfied that health and safety is not at a lower level at Rhayader C. in W. 
School.

P
age 148



105

21 QUESTIONS ABOUT / ISSUES WITH THE CONSULTATION DOCUMENTATION

21.1 Aspects which aren’t included in the documentation

21.1.1 Documentation does not mention the 
DDA ratings for Nantmel C. in W. 
School and Rhayader C. in W. School

The School Organisation Code does not include a specific requirement to include DDA 
ratings for the affected schools. 

The Welsh Government’s 21st Century Schools Survey assessed the schools as follows 
for Disabled Access:

Nantmel – D – Bad 
Rhayader – C – Poor

21.1.2 There is no consideration of the 
geography of Radnorshire

The authority is fully aware of the geography of Radnorshire and the rural nature of the 
area.

21.1.3 No consideration has been given to 
standards – you are not operating 
under the premise of the quality of 
education being most important

Consideration has been given to standards. Whilst educational standards at Nantmel C. in 
W. School isn’t one of the reasons why closure is being proposed, the authority is satisfied 
that education of a comparable standard would be provided at the named receiving school 
should the school close.

21.1.4 Documentation does not include a 
table showing the annual interest 
charges incurred by each of the 
smaller schools on capital 
expenditure – this would demonstrate 
that when taken into account the cost 
per pupil at Nantmel C. in W. School 
will be substantially less than at 
similar schools.

All capital expenditure is managed and funded within the overarching capital strategy for 
the council. These costs are not allocated to individual schools.

21.1.5 Local authority has not analysed the 
current performance of the schools 
affected nor provided a robust 

All schools in Wales are categorised annually. This classification is based on two 
indicators: standards at the school and the school’s capacity to improve. This 
categorisation is a consistent model co-ordinated by the consortium. In 2015/16 the school 

P
age 149



106

enough consideration of its own, or 
the regional consortium’s view of the 
performance

was categorised as 3B Yellow.

21.1.6 The authority does not deal robustly 
with many of the disadvantages and 
risks identified e.g. makes no 
suggestion as to how it may address 
difficulties for parents or pupils on low 
incomes, due to the additional travel 
to attend activities or to collect pupils 
from after school activities

The authority recognises that all pupils who are transported to school on authority 
commissioned Home to School Transport do not have the same access to extra-curricular 
activities, and this applies to those pupils in the school that live more than 2 miles from the 
school and live in its catchment area.  

The named receiving school in Rhayader and the neighbouring school in Crossgates are 
only 8 miles apart with Nantmel sitting almost equidistant between the two schools. 

The authority will work with the Headteacher’ s and Governing Bodies of the named and 
other receiving schools to ensure that participation in all school activity is maximised for all 
learners.

21.1.7 The authority has not considered well 
enough the impact of the proposal on 
nursery age children

The proposal for the closure of the school will include children of Nursery age as well of 
those in the older age groups of Reception to Year 6. If the school were to close the 
Nursery age children would transfer to the named receiving school or the school of the 
parents’ choice in line with the procedures that will be followed for the older children. 

Those children of Nursery age who will reach Nursery age in the 2016-17 school year and 
who have/ expect to be offered a place in Nantmel will be offered places in the named 
receiving school or the school of the parents’ choice (subject tp place availability.

The authority has undertaken a separate consultation around the change of age of 
admission into Primary Schools, with the cabinet approving the change at a meeting in 
late spring. 

The change to commencing school to the start of the child’s reception year will be 
supported by an increase and length of the funded 3 plus provision. A separate project 
has commenced around the management of change and commissioning of this extended 
service for the start of the 2017-18 school year.  The project will ensure that funded places 
are available for all children whose parents wish to take up the provision.

P
age 150



107

21.1.8 Document does not outline how many 
children of nursery age are at 
Nantmel C. in W. School, projected 
nursery numbers, where the nearest 
alternative nursery provision is, how 
far away it is, or whether it has places 
for these children

As part of the consultation process with the School staff and governing body discussions 
were held around the number of children the school were expecting to join over the next 2 
– 3 years both from within and outside the schools natural catchment area.  The school 
confirmed the numbers were low and the agreed numbers were included in the 
consultation papers.

The authority has undertaken a separate consultation around the change of age of 
admission into Primary Schools, with the cabinet approving the change at a meeting in 
late spring. 

The change to commencing school to the start of the child’s reception year will be 
supported by an increase and length of the funded 3 plus provision. A separate project 
has commenced around the management of change and commissioning of this extended 
service for the start of the 2017-18 school year.  The project will ensure that funded places 
are available for all children whose parents wish to take up the provision.

There are funded 3 + settings currently in Rhayader, Crossgates, Newbridge and 
Llandrindod.

21.1.9 The proposal does not provide 
information about the authority or the 
consortium’s view on the quality of 
leadership and management at the 
schools

In 2015/16 Nantmel C. in W. School’s capacity for improvement was judged as B. The 
school currently has a shared headship arrangement with Rhayader C. in W. School. This 
is a temporary arrangement agreed by both governing bodies up to the 31st August 2016. 

21.1.20 The proposer provides no data and 
no analysis of the performance of the 
schools in the proposal

Because pupil numbers in each year group over the last 4 years have been 5 or below, 
the end of foundation phase data has not been included in order to protect the identify of 
individual pupils. 

Over the last 2 years, pupil numbers in year 6 have been below 5, therefore data has not 
been included in order to protect the identity of pupils.

Information about school performance has been provided in the consultation document by 
the inclusion of the judgement for Standards by Welsh Government for the purposes of the 
national classification. 

P
age 151



108

21.1.21 The proposer makes no suggestion 
as to how it could address the issue 
of pupils being unable to access after 
school activities if they were reliant on 
home to school transport

The authority recognises that all pupils who are transported to school on authority 
commissioned Home to School Transport do not have the same access to extra-curricular 
activities and this applies to those pupils in the school that live more than 2 miles from the 
school and live in its catchment area.  

The named receiving school in Rhayader and the neighbouring school in Crossgates are 
only 8 miles apart with Nantmel sitting almost equidistant between the two schools. 

The authority will work with the Headteacher’ s and Governing Bodies of the named and 
other receiving schools to ensure that participation in all school activity is maximised for all 
learners.

21.1.22 The proposal does not contain figures 
for pupils who are currently in the 
nursery at Nantmel C. in W. School or 
any of the receiving schools

As part of the consultation process with the School staff and governing body discussions 
were held around the number of children the school were expecting to join over the next 2 
– 3 years both from within and outside the schools natural catchment area.  The school 
confirmed the numbers were low and the agreed numbers were included in the 
consultation papers.

The authority has undertaken a separate consultation around the change of age of 
admission into Primary Schools, with the cabinet approving the change at a meeting in 
late spring. 

The change to commencing school to the start of the child’s reception year will be 
supported by an increase and length of the funded 3 plus provision. A separate project 
has commenced around the management of change and commissioning of this extended 
service for the start of the 2017-18 school year.  The project will ensure that funded places 
are available for all children whose parents wish to take up the provision.

There are funded 3 + settings currently in Rhayader, Crossgates, Newbridge and 
Llandrindod.

21.1.23 It is unclear if nursery aged pupils 
would be able to transfer to Rhayader 
C. in W. School, or to which other 

Those pupils who are of Nursery age and have been admitted into the school prior to the 
date of closure would be offered places in Rhayader C. in W. School as the named 
receiving school and the authority would support parents in accessing places in other 

P
age 152



109

schools they could go schools if this was their choice. 

Children who are 4 on or after 1st September 2017 would not be admitted into full time 
Primary education until the start of the school year 2018-19 in September 2018, but would 
be entitled to attend a funded 3 + setting in the area.

21.1.24 The proposal has a blatant disregard 
for “Placing the interests of learners 
above all others” as stated in the 
School Organisation Code

The authority is fully committed to providing the best possible educational opportunities for 
pupils. The One Powys Plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children 
and young people are supported to achieve their full potential’. Within this priority, the Plan 
states that ‘we need to ‘re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure 
affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

21.1.25 The consultation document fails to 
focus on the education and wellbeing 
of our children

The authority is fully committed to providing the best possible opportunities for pupils. The 
One Powys Plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children and young 
people are supported to achieve their full potential’. Within this priority, the Plan states that 
‘we need to ‘re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. However, the authority acknowledges 
that any school reorganisation proposal creates a period of uncertainty for pupils. Should 
Nantmel C. in W. School close, the receiving school or any other school pupils might wish 
to transfer to would provide support to pupils to aid their transition, to ensure that they are 
happy in their new schools. The authority is keen to conclude this process as swiftly as 
possible in order to minimise this period of uncertainty for pupils.

21.1.26 School Organisation Code states that 
authorities are required to state ‘how 
parents’ and pupils’ engagement with 
the alternative school and any 
facilities it may offer could be 
supported (e.g. how pupils, 
particularly any less advantaged 
pupils, will be helped to participate in 
after school activities)

Places will be available for all children in Nantmel C. in W. School in Rhayader C. in W. as 
the named receiving school. Should the authority proceed with the closure of Nantmel C. 
in W. School, officers from the admissions team will support the parents in deciding if they 
wish to transfer their child/ren to Rhayader C. in W. School or an alternative school. 

The authority would also ensure that the children in Nantmel have a number of transition 
activities with their peers in the chosen school, these activities would take place in the 
term prior to the schools closure.

With regard to after school activities, the authority recognises that all pupils who are 
transported to school on authority commissioned Home to School Transport do not have 
the same access to extra-curricular activities that take place outside the school day, and 

P
age 153



110

this applies to those pupils in the school that live more than 2 miles from the school and 
live in its catchment area. The authority will work with the Headteachers and Governing 
Bodies of the named and other receiving schools to ensure that participation in all school 
activity is maximised for all learners.

21.1.27 Consultation document fails to outline 
the impact on staff

The proposal’s impact on staff is covered on page 10 of the consultation document. A 
separate consultation meeting with staff was held during the consultation period, to give 
staff the opportunity to raise any issues relating to the proposal’s impact on them. The 
issues raised relating to impact on staff are included in this consultation report.

21.1.28 Consultation document fails to outline 
any provision for pupils

The consultation document states that should Nantmel C. in W. School close, alternative 
provision would be available at Rhayader C. in W. School, the named receiving school in 
respect of this proposal.

21.2 Request for clarification of aspects of the documentation

21.2.1 There is a discrepancy of £1000 
between the Cabinet report and the 
consultation document in relation to 
savings

The figure stated in the consultation document is the correct figure.

21.2.2 Request for clarification in relation to 
the reference in the document to 
£10,000 kitchen subsidy

The figure used in the consultation document was an estimate, further work has been 
carried out and the actual figure for 2015/16 was £9,980.

21.2.3 Request for clarification about 
transport costs / breakdown of how 
you came to the figure of £30,400

The figure of £30,400 reflects the estimated additional Home to School Transport costs of 
£160 per day. The £160 per day is made up of two potential new routes at a cost of £140 
per day each less £80 per day which is the current daily rate for the one route running into 
Nantmel. 

21.2.4 How have you been able to determine 
that the birth rate in Nantmel won’t 
increase?

The authority has population estimates for each of the 13 main areas of the authority, 
these show that the number of young people is projected to fall across all areas of Powys 
over the next 20 years while the overall population of the authority increases. 

The authority does not have specific data for the Nantmel area but the pupil number 

P
age 154



111

projections used in the consultation document has been checked and agreed by the 
School and Governing body. In January 2016, just under 60% (18 out of 31) pupils are in 
the Junior age range and will leave the school by July 2019, the school have not provided 
any information that the projected intake over the same period will be at this level. 

The school currently have a number of children who live outside the schools catchment 
area.

21.2.5 Not one of the reasons for closure is 
related to Estyn’s key questions – 
why is this?

Educational standards at Nantmel C. in W. School is not one of the reasons why closure is 
being proposed. However, the authority is satisfied that education of a comparable 
standard would be provided at the named receiving school should the school close.

21.2.6 Savings figures are not explained in 
the clarity that enables stakeholders 
to be fully informed

The authority notes this comment.

21.2.7 Query re capacity figure – the spare 
classroom at Nantmel C. in W. School 
equates to ‘hall space’ as is allowed 
according to ‘Measuring the Capacity 
of Schools in Wales’ (2011)

The capacity of a school is calculated in accordance with the Measuring Capacity of 
Schools in Wales (MCSW) regulations and is based on the schools use of its current 
physical facilities. The measurement is undertaken by officers of the authority and 
checked and confirmed with headteachers and members of the governing body. 

The authority recognises that if one of the spaces included in the calculation was identified 
as a non-teaching space that the capacity of the school would be reduced.

21.2.8 Appears that Nantmel in not the 
closest school for around 40% of 
pupils and if Nantmel closes, 
Rhayader is not the closest school for 
around 70% of pupils, therefore it 
would appear that the local authority 
may support only a few pupils to 
travel to that school

The authority notes this comment.

Whilst Rhayader C. in W. School is named as the receiving school in relation to this 
proposal, parents would be entitled to apply for a place for their child in any other school, 
and the place would be allocated as long as there were places available. 

Transport would be provided if this was the child’s nearest school and that they lived more 
than 2 miles from the school, in accordance with the authority’s Home to School Transport 
Policy. 

The authority will provide transport to all current pupils living in the Nantmel catchment, 

P
age 155



112

and who meet the qualifying criteria, who parents chose to send their children to the 
named receiving school in Rhayader. The authority will consider transport for any 
subsequent siblings on a case by case basis. 

The authority will not provide transport to current children attending Nantmel who live 
outside the schools catchment area to Rhayader or any other school unless they choose 
to send their child to their closest school and the meet the qualifying criteria for transport. 

21.2.9 Document notes that the authority’s 
transport policy only applies to pupils 
‘of primary school age’, however it’s 
not clear how the authority will 
provide for children of nursery age 
should Nantmel C. in W. School close

The current Home to Transport policy applies equally to Nursery aged children and to 
children in the Reception to year 6 year groups. However, following the change to the age 
of admission from the start of the 2017-18 school year the children attending the funded 
3+ provision across the authority will not be entitled to free transport provision to the 
setting.

21.2.10 Where home to school transport will 
be provided due to the walking route 
being deemed unsafe, it is unclear if 
transport would be to the parent and 
child’s school of choice or only to a 
school designated by the local 
authority

If the child lives in the Nantmel catchment area transport would be provided to Rhayader 
C. in W. School as the named receiving school and also to another school of the parents’ 
choice if this school was the closest school to the home address.

21.2.11 In a few cases, the authority’s 
provision for travel appears at odds 
with the aim of the proposal

The authority notes this comment

21.2.12 Unclear whether the authority has 
identified all vulnerable groups and 
considered them robustly enough e.g. 
Gypsy Traveller pupils

None of the pupils registered at the school on the PLASC counting date in January 2015 
and January 2016 were identified as Gypsy Travellers on the school’s PLASC return. The 
authority is not aware that any Gypsy Traveller children are currently attending the school. 

21.2.13 Request for breakdown and detailed 
costings of school dinners provided to 
Nantmel C. in W. School to enable 

The actual costs for 2015/16 were as follows:

Staff Costs 

P
age 156



113

the governors and the community to 
look at alternative arrangements

Cashiers – £834
Cook Preparation – £1,784
Driver – £3,263
General Kitchen Assistant – £1,443

Other Costs
Van Costs – £1,693
Provisions – £963

Total cost £9,980

21.2.14 Concerning that the same travel costs 
have been apportioned to Llanbister 
and Nantmel – brings the accuracy of 
the figure into doubt. A detailed 
breakdown of journeys and costings 
needs to be produced

The figure of £30,400 per annum is based on an additional cost of £160 per day. As stated 
in the consultation meetings, the figure is an estimate based on the expected additional 
transport costs resulting from the council’s proposals.  

There is a significant difference in the current travel costs between Llanbister C.P. School 
and Nantmel C. in W. School, and if the proposals go forward the actual additional  
transport costs incurred will be dependent on the number of parents who choose to send 
their children to the named or alternative school.

21.2.15 Unclear whether better educational 
provision will be offered to those 
children that will be affected by the 
proposed closure

The authority is satisfied that education of a comparable standard would be provided at 
the named receiving school should Nantmel C. in W. School close.

21.2.16 Page 12 states that “no capital 
funding is required to achieve the 
proposal” – however expenditure will 
be required to improve parking 
situation

The authority notes this comment. Since the consultation meeting, a review of the car 
parking situation at Rhayader C in W School has been carried out, any remedial work 
required will be risk assessed and scored in accordance with the Authority’s major 
improvements capital programme and included in the relevant programme in accordance 
to the score given.

21.2.18 The consultation document is 
misleading, out of context, based on 
inaccurate information, lacks robust 
data and fails to present a qualitative 

The consultation document has been written in line with the requirements of the Welsh 
Government’s School Organisation Code (2013).

P
age 157



114

view of the situation

21.3 Other

21.3.1 Are there any financial reasons for 
the proposed closure date of 31st 
December 2016?

The proposed closure date of 31st December 2016 is the earliest possible date the school 
could close due to the lengthy process that needs to be carried out. There are no financial 
reasons for the proposed closure date.

21.3.2 The current recommendation is based 
on inconsistent figures

Data relating to Nantmel C. in W. School was discussed and agreed with the school’s 
governing body during the SORP’s discussions with the school which took place during 
2015.

22 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

22.1 Federation / Split Site School

22.1.1 Why hasn’t more consideration been 
given to the proposal of federation or 
a split site school?

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) considered the option of federation / a 
split site school when deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet 
in respect of Nantmel C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a suitable 
solution in this case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.1.2 Why hasn’t federation been afforded 
to this community as an alternative to 
closure and a way to keep children in 
their local communities?

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) considered the option of federation when 
deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet in respect of Nantmel 
C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a suitable solution in this case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.1.3 If there was a possibility of 
Llanfihangel Rhydithon C.P. School 
becoming a church school, would that 
make the possibility of federation 

Federation between Nantmel C. in W. School and Llanfihangel Rhydithon C.P. School is 
not currently possible as the Federation Regulations do not allow federation between 
church schools and non-church schools. Should Llanfihangel Rhydithon C.P. School 
become a church school, federation would be possible, however the small size of both of 

P
age 158



115

stronger? these schools would raise questions about the viability of this model. If Llanfihangel 
Rhydithon C.P. School was to become a church school, formal consultation processes 
would be required.

22.1.4 Federation with Rhayader C. in W. 
School should be considered

Federation with Rhayader C. in W. School School was an option considered by the SORP 
when deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet in respect of 
Nantmel C. in W. School

22.1.5 Federation would be a way forward 
and would continue to keep costs 
down

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) considered the option of federation when 
deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet in respect of Nantmel 
C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a suitable solution in this case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.1.6 Cabinet members agreed to 
investigate federation with Rhayader 
in the Cabinet meeting

This is not reflected in the minutes of the Cabinet meeting held on the 15th December 
2015.

22.1.7 Federation with Rhayader would 
achieve some cost savings and would 
be a better alternative to outright 
closure

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) considered the option of federation when 
deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet in respect of Nantmel 
C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a suitable solution in this case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.1.8 Request for consultation to take place 
on federation of Rhayader and 
Nantmel as is the present informal 
position

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) considered the option of federation when 
deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet in respect of Nantmel 
C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a suitable solution in this case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.1.9 The current arrangement with 
Rhayader is working positively for all 

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) considered the option of federation when 
deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet in respect of Nantmel 

P
age 159



116

involved – children are still in their 
community but are given 
opportunities to socialise and develop 
with children and parents at 
Rhayader; staff meet to plan and 
prepare

C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a suitable solution in this case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.1.10 Federation on two sites would deliver 
a successful and sustainable way of 
ensuring children could continue to be 
educated at the school

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) considered the option of federation when 
deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet in respect of Nantmel 
C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a suitable solution in this case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.1.11 Federation with Rhayader is the 
governors preferred option as this is 
working effectively at present and has 
also been seen to work between 
Nantmel and Dolau

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) considered the option of federation when 
deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet in respect of Nantmel 
C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a suitable solution in this case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.1.12 Federation could have been adopted 
to ensure cost savings, excellent 
education and continuity

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) considered the option of federation when 
deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet in respect of Nantmel 
C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a suitable solution in this case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.1.13 Federation is clearly a viable option The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) considered to the option of federation 
when deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by Cabinet in respect of 
Nantmel C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a suitable solution in this 
case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

P
age 160



117

22.1.14 Federation has been and is being 
adopted successfully in Powys 
schools

It is true that there is one example of a formal federation within Powys. This model is 
proving successful to date. Two out of the three schools have had a successful Estyn 
inspection since its establishment.

22.1.15 School Organisation Code makes it 
clear that consideration should be 
given to the alternative of federating 
schools when local authorities review 
provision

The School Organisation Review Panel (SORP) gave significant consideration to the 
option of federation when deciding on the draft recommendation to be considered by 
Cabinet in respect of Nantmel C. in W. School. However this was not considered to be a 
suitable solution in this case. 

All alternative options suggested during the consultation will be considered by Cabinet 
when determining the way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.2 Multi-sited school

22.2.1 Plans involving all of the threatened 
schools could have been considered

The schools currently under review were identified for review separately, in accordance 
with the criteria outlined in the School Transformation Policy 2014. 

22.2.2 Combine Nantmel with Llanbister and 
Dolau and bring under the name of 
Crossgates – one headteacher over 
satellite schools

The schools currently under review were identified for review separately, in accordance 
with the criteria outlined in the School Transformation Policy 2014. As all schools being 
reviewed are small, this option would not be financially viable.

22.2.3 One headteacher covering 3 small 
schools whilst having a teaching 
deputy / associate – surely this would 
lead to a considerable saving

Under Federation arrangements and the authority’s fair funding scheme, the authority 
would be required to fund a headteacher’s post for each of the schools in the federation 
and no saving would be achieved by the authority. 

The federated model if formalised would enable the appointed headteacher to focus on 
the leadership and management of the schools and would allow the other staff to focus on 
the direct teaching and learning of the children. The schools in such a federation would 
through the more efficient use of the leadership and management time, have some 
available monies to focus on the teaching and learning of the children. 

If 3 schools closed and 1 was created the authority would then only fund 1 Headteacher.

P
age 161



118

22.3 Financial Support

22.3.1 Would the Cabinet be open to 
collaboration with the community in 
order to save the school – e.g. by the 
Community Council raising the 
precept in order to fund the shortfall in 
funding?

This was raised as an alternative option at the public consultation in Nantmel on the 25th 
February 2016. At the meeting, officers agreed to provide information to members of the 
community to enable them to put together a business case related to this model. The 
requested information was provided to the community, as agreed, however no business 
case was received.

22.3.2 If a local business wanted to support 
the school to enable it to remain open 
would that be an option?

Further information would be required to understand whether this approach would be 
sustainable and meet the authority’s vision for education.

22.3.3 Request to know what sum of money 
would need to be found to enable the 
school to continue

The revised figure for 2016/17 based on the school’s latest budget plan is £55,781, this 
includes meeting the small schools allowance and the canteen subsidy.

22.3.4 Could the pupils arrange activities to 
raise money so that the school can be 
kept open?

This approach would not be sustainable nor would it meet the authority’s vision for 
education.

22.3.5 Option that Nantmel Community 
Council could contribute funding in 
order to ensure the school’s future 

This was raised as an alternative option at the public consultation in Nantmel on the 25th 
February 2016. At the meeting, officers agreed to provide information to members of the 
community to enable them to put together a business case related to this model. The 
requested information was provided to the community, as agreed, however no business 
case was received.

22.3.6 Local businesses and groups are 
willing to support the school 
financially

Further information would be required to understand whether this approach would be 
sustainable and meet the authority’s vision for education.

22.4 Collaboration

22.4.1 The governors, community council, 
parents and community want to assist 

The authority notes this comment. A range of alternative options were considered by the 
SORP before agreeing the draft recommendation for closure of the school, however the 

P
age 162



119

the local authority to find cost 
effective ways to provide education 
from Nantmel School

SORP’s view was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in 
relation to Nantmel C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the 
consultation are included in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet 
before determining the way forward. 

22.4.2 There is clearly no desire for 
community collaboration or a will to 
properly explore alternative options

A range of alternative options were considered by the SORP, however the SORP’s view 
was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in relation to Nantmel 
C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the consultation are included 
in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet before determining the way 
forward.

22.4.3 Money could be saved by doubling up 
on staff with other schools as 
recommended by the Welsh 
Government

Nantmel C. in W. School is currently sharing a headteacher with another school. However 
this is not a permanent arrangement. The authority’s view is that in order for sharing of 
staff to work effectively, all staff would need to be part of one split site school, however the 
small number of pupils in Nantmel C. in W. School means that this option is not financially 
viable.
 

22.4.4 The Council should form a 
collaborative working group with the 
rural communities that still have small 
schools to find innovative solutions, 
create collaborative links and working 
practives that will allow our small 
schools to thrive and be a celebrated 
success

The authority notes this comment. A range of alternative options were considered by the 
SORP before agreeing the draft recommendation for closure of the school, however the 
SORP’s view was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in 
relation to Nantmel C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the 
consultation are included in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet 
before determining the way forward. 

22.5 Closure of other schools

22.5.1 Close other schools and move the 
pupils to Nantmel

There is insufficient capacity at Nantmel C. in W. School to accommodate pupils from 
another school.

22.6 Other Comments

22.6.1 Alternative options appear to have 
been disregarded

The SORP considered a range of alternative options before agreeing the draft 
recommendation for closure of the school. These were discussed with the governing body 

P
age 163



120

of Nantmel C. in W. School as part of the SORP process, and are outlined in the 
consultation document.

22.6.2 Seems that consultation on closure is 
premature when there are other 
options available

A range of alternative options were considered by the SORP, however the SORP’s view 
was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in relation to Nantmel 
C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the consultation are included 
in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet before determining the way 
forward. 

22.6.3 The Council has failed to work with 
stakeholders in the community to 
explore alternatives.

A range of alternative options were considered by the SORP, however the SORP’s view 
was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in relation to Nantmel 
C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the consultation are included 
in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet before determining the way 
forward.

22.6.4 Is there another way to keep costs 
down but keeping children in their 
own community?

A range of alternative options were considered by the SORP, including options such as 
federation and split sited schools, which would enable children to continue to attend 
school in Nantmel. However the SORP’s view was that none of the alternative options 
were a suitable way forward in relation to Nantmel C. in W. School. All alternative options 
suggested as part of the consultation are included in this consultation report, and will be 
considered by Cabinet before determining the way forward.

22.6.5 The council should look into all 
avenues to see how a school can be 
kept in a community

A range of alternative options were considered by the SORP, however the SORP’s view 
was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in relation to Nantmel 
C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the consultation are included 
in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet before determining the way 
forward.

22.6.6 Emphasis should be on how to keep 
the school open not looking straight to 
closure as a quick fix answer

A range of alternative options were considered by the SORP, however the SORP’s view 
was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in relation to Nantmel 
C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the consultation are included 
in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet before determining the way 
forward.

22.6.7 Do not feel that adequate A range of alternative options were considered by the SORP, however the SORP’s view 

P
age 164



121

consideration has been given to more 
imaginative solutions

was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in relation to Nantmel 
C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the consultation are included 
in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet before determining the way 
forward. 

22.6.8 There has been no concerted effort to 
look at alternative options prior to this 
consultation to close

The SORP gave consideration to a range of possible options for the future of Nantmel C. 
in W. School before agreeing the draft recommendation to close the school. 

22.6.9 Powys County Council does not work 
hard enough to find alternative 
methods of delivery to address the 
needs of its residents

A range of alternative options were considered by the SORP, however the SORP’s view 
was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in relation to Nantmel 
C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the consultation are included 
in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet before determining the way 
forward. 

22.6.10 In moving forward, could look to use 
the spare classroom for family 
learning sessions

The authority notes this comment.

22.6.11 Going forward, we could have 
different groups coming in to the 
school to share expertise in the spare 
classroom e.g. Elan Valley Rangers, 
cookery, art and writing workshops

The authority notes this comment.

22.6.12 Urge Powys County Council to think 
outside the box and work with the 
community to find solutions

A range of alternative options were considered by the SORP, however the SORP’s view 
was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in relation to Nantmel 
C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the consultation are included 
in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet before determining the way 
forward.

22.6.13 Removing the threat of closure would 
increase the number of pupils, 
perhaps to a level where federation 
with another school or schools might 

The authority notes this comment. As stated in the consultation document, there were 36 
pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2011, and pupil numbers have decreased 
since then. The pupil projections for Nantmel C. in W. School that were considered before 
this process started did not suggest any significant increase in pupil numbers. The 

P
age 165



122

be possible authority notes that any school reorganisation process will lead to a period of uncertainty 
for those affected, however no formal consultation has previously taken place in respect of 
closure of Nantmel C. in W. School.

22.6.14 Governors / community to look at 
alternative arrangements for providing 
school dinners e.g. Michaelchurch 
Escley Primary School, a very remote 
village school in the Black Mountains, 
uses a local restaurant to provide 
school dinners

The authority notes this comment. 

Any alternative provision would have to be approved by the authority and would need to 
adhere to the required nutritional standards.

22.6.15 A layout change in the school’s 
central area could solve concerns 
raised by Cabinet members about 
children eating lunch in their 
classroom

The authority notes this comment.

22.6.16 Need to change should be addressed 
through partnership working with the 
community. 

A range of alternative options were considered by the SORP, however the SORP’s view 
was that none of the alternative options were a suitable way forward in relation to Nantmel 
C. in W. School. All alternative options suggested as part of the consultation are included 
in this consultation report, and will be considered by Cabinet before determining the way 
forward.

23 OTHER QUESTIONS / COMMENTS

23.1 What would happen to the school’s 
resources should the school close, 
including any resources paid for by 
the school fund?

The authority would discuss the future use of resources in the school and in particular 
those funded by the School Fund with the Governing Body and agree the process that 
would be followed. 

In normal circumstances the named receiving school would be given the first opportunity 
to receive the resources, following that it would then be extended to other receiving 
schools and then other schools in the catchment.

23.2 Query about the playing field at The playing field at Nantmel is currently leased on a 21 year lease that commenced in 

P
age 166



123

Nantmel C. in W. School – for how 
long is it leased, how much is paid for 
it and is that charged back to the 
school’s delegated budget?

1995 which the authority is currently “holding over” on the lease which is subject to a low 
annual rental. The authority has checked its financial records and it does not appear that a 
payment of the rental has been requested by or made to the land owner. Any payment 
due would be a charge on the schools delegated budget. 

Subject to the outcome of the consultation process the authority will either terminate or 
extend the lease with the landowner.

23.3 Powys is a very rural county – there 
are sparsity issues
 

The authority is fully aware of the rural nature of Powys.

23.4 It is sad that another school is closing The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

23.5 The proposal is short sighted The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

23.6 Concern about the cost to society if 
individuals are not given the 
opportunity to develop fully

The authority notes this comment. However, pupil numbers in Nantmel C. in W. School 
are low and are not expected to increase significantly. As stated in the One Powys Plan, 
‘we need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’.

23.7 Closure of the school would leave the 
Council short of school places

Rhayader C. in W. School is the named receiving school in respect of this proposal. The 
authority is confident that there are sufficient places at this school to 

23.8 Closing rural schools is a backwards 
step

The authority notes this comment.

23.9 There would be less children going to 
Llandrindod High School

The authority does not agree that closure of Nantmel C. in W. School would have any 
significant impact on the number of pupils going to Llandrindod High School.

P
age 167



124

23.10 Education options are limited in this 
area

The authority notes this comment, and is committed to ensuring that the best possible 
educational opportunities are available to children and young people in Powys.

23.11 Why would you close Llandrindod 
High School and develop a new 
school in Builth Wells when there is 
plenty of land available on the 
Llandrindod site?

This consultation is about the future of Nantmel C. in W. School, not possible changes to 
secondary provision in the local area.

23.12 Nantmel is not the smallest school in 
Powys, nor the most expensive, nor 
the school with the largest number of 
surplus places

Nantmel C. in W. School was identified for review based on the criteria outlined in the 
2014 School Transformation Policy.

23.13 Concern about travel distance to 
Builth Wells should Llandrindod High 
School close

This consultation is about the future of Nantmel C. in W. School. Possible changes to 
secondary provision are being considered as part of a separate exercise, however the 
current proposal for the reorganisation of secondary schools includes retaining the 
provision on the Llandrindod High School site. 

23.14 We need to maintain our primary 
schools to meet projected increases 
in pupil numbers in the future – have 
to be careful not to create a capital 
expenditure need

The authority notes this comment. 

23.15 Reference to Domiciliary Care Crisis 
in 2014 and personal consequences 
on communities of the dogmatic 
approach of financial cost cutting

The authority notes this comment.

23.16 Nantmel was Village School of the 
Year in 2002

The authority notes this comment.

23.17 Concerning that headteachers are 
expected to be on top of a never 

The authority notes this comment.

P
age 168



125

ending stream of performance 
indicators instead of contributing to 
the education of our schools, and that 
not keeping their eye on PIs can lead 
to closure of the school

23.18 Powys County Council should stop 
fulfilling the demands of PIs that fly in 
the face of Powys Education set up 
due to its rural nature, and should 
focus on providing education in the 
community

The authority is committed to providing the best possible educational opportunities for 
pupils. The One Powys Plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children 
and young people are supported to achieve their full potential’, and within this priority, the 
Plan states that ‘we need to ‘re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to 
ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. 

23.19 It’s not balanced to close a school, 
destroy a community and risk 
educational standards for the sake of 
satisfying performance targets.

The authority is committed to providing the best possible opportunities for pupils. The One 
Powys Plan states the authority’s aspiration to ensure that ‘all children and young people 
are supported to achieve their full potential’. Within this priority, the Plan states that ‘we 
need to ‘re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, 
sustainability and appropriate leadership capacity’. 

24 COMMENTS IN FAVOUR OF THE PROPOSAL

24.1 Pupils would be able to mix with more 
pupils if they went to a bigger school, 
which would help build their 
confidence

The authority notes this comment 

24.2 Supportive of the school 
modernisation / reorganisation 
agenda if it means better quality and 
range of education

The authority notes this comment

24.3 It’s unfair that pupils here are funded 
excessively compared to the Powys 
average

The authority notes this comment

P
age 169



126

24.4 If projected pupil numbers are below 
50 for the foreseeable future, the 
school should be closed and savings 
should be put back into improving 
education

The authority notes this comment

24.5 Larger schools are financially more 
viable

The authority notes this comment

P
age 170



1

Appendix C – Minutes of meetings with School Council, Staff, 
Governors and Parents / Community

Page

1. Notes of meeting with the School Council 2

2. Minutes of meeting with Staff 5

3. Minutes of meeting with Governors 12

4. Minutes of meeting with Parents / Community 21

Page 171



2

Report on meeting with the School Council of 
Nantmel C. in W. School

22nd February 2016

Page 172



3

Meeting with the School Council of Nantmel Primary School

Officers in attendance: 
Marianne Evans, Senior Manager School Transformation
Sarah Astley, Project Manager, School Transformation Team
Jade Clay, Schools Transformation Programme Support Officer

A meeting with the School Council of Nantmel School was held on the 22nd February 
2016. 

Sarah Astley, Project Manager explained the proposal to close the school. Pupils 
were then asked a number of questions. Their responses are summarised below:

1. What do you like about Nantmel School?

- It’s colourful
- There is a good environment – a large field, a garden, a fort
- Everyone is friendly
- They enjoy golden time (a longer playtime on a Friday)
- It is in the Countryside
- There are small classes so less distractions and more attention from 

teachers
- The teachers are nice
- Enjoy the work and the teachers are helpful
- Enjoy planting plants
- Links with the Church, they like going on Church Visits
- There are fun activities, going on school trips, making things (Dens, forts 

etc.) Sports day.
- Santa visits them
- Enjoy games day, they can take their own games and toys in
- They think it’s the best school in the world
- The school is close and they don’t have to travel far
- The football goals
- The food
- Family members work there
- They can sit out of lessons if they are ill or get hurt
- There is a good office
- The school is small so they won’t get lost
- There are no bullies in the school

2. What don’t you like about Nantmel School?

- The farm toys aren’t very good
- The playground is slanted and isn’t big enough
- There is too much football
- The whiteboards are too small
- The taps in the toilet drip
- There aren’t enough toilets

Page 173



4

3. What would be worse if you had to move schools?

- Additional travel
- The extra traveling with damage the environment
- Money will be wasted on petrol
- Pupils would have to make new friends
- Pupils would lose friends they currently have but they can invite them over 

to their own houses
- The teachers would lose their jobs
- They would lose their head teacher
- They won’t be a part of Nantmel any more
- They will have to go to a bigger schools and there will be more distractions
- There is a difference between country children and town children
- Towns are too noisy
- They may get bullied or feel isolated or excluded
- There are monkey bars in Rhayader – they may fall off and hurt 

themselves

4. Is there anything that would be better if you had to move schools?

- There would be more pupils, which would help confidence

5. If the school were to close and one of the pupils here had additional 
needs, how do you think it would affect them?

- They may get bullied in a bigger school
- It would be harder for them because they are used to the teachers in this 

school

6. Pupils were asked whether they had any further comments or concerns 
to raise. The following questions were asked:

- Why does the council want to wreck the school?
- The more schools the council closes, the more sad children there will be
- What happens if there isn’t enough room at the other schools?
- Half of what will be saved from closing our school will be spent on 

employing new teachers at another school
- Could the pupils arrange activities to raise money so that the school can 

be kept open?
- They are like a big family here
- It would be unsettling to move schools half way through the year
- Where would the money go?
- What would happen to all our stuff in the school?
- It would be unsettling to move schools half way through the year
- Where would the money go?
- What would happen to all our stuff in the school?

Page 174



5

Minutes of a meeting with staff of Nantmel Church in Wales School, held at Nantmel School on 
25th February, 2016, on a proposal to close the school from 31st December, 2016. 

Present

Gareth Jones, Senior Manager School Central Support Services
Marianne Evans, Senior Manager, Schools Transformation
Catherine Cottle, HR Business Partner (Schools)

Revd. Helen Rees, Education representative, Diocese of Brecon and Swansea

Kelly Lock, Opinion Research Services
Darren Ivey, Opinion Research Services

Dee Hanson, NUT

Nantmel School Staff

Tracy Lewis
Nicky Higginson
Rebecca Cook
Lora Thomas
Linda Crockett, Headteacher
Roy Gardner

Attendees introduced themselves.

It was noted that the purpose of the meeting was to receive comments from staff on the proposal to 
close Nantmel Church in Wales School from 31st December, 2016, as part of the formal consultation 
process.  It was explained that should the Council’s Cabinet decide to proceed with the proposal to 
close the school, a separate consultation would take place with staff around the potential 
redundancy process.

Gareth Jones explained the background leading to the review.  It was noted that schools had been 
identified for review using a range of criteria.  Between February 2015 and November 2015 
discussions had taken place with governors of those schools identified for review.  A report had been 
presented in December, 2015, when the Council’s Cabinet had taken the decision to consult on a 
recommendation to close Nantmel Church in Wales School from 31st December, 2016, with 
Rhayader Church in Wales School being named as the receiving school.  It was explained that for 
those pupils who live within the natural catchment area of Nantmel and more than 2 miles from 
Rhayader C in W School, transport would be provided to that school.

Staff were informed the reasons for the recommendation to close the school are:

i) The school has had fewer than 50 pupils on roll for the three previous years and 
numbers are not projected to increase to above 50.

ii) There are more than 15% surplus places at the school.
iii) The funding per pupil is more than 120% of the council’s average.

Staff were informed that a consultation meeting had already taken place with the school council and 
further consultation meetings would be taking place with governors of the school and parents and 
community members.

Page 175



6

At the end of the consultation period, the Cabinet will receive a report of all the issues raised during 
consultation.  The Council’s Cabinet has a legal obligation to consider all the issues raised during the 
consultation and it would be for the Cabinet to decide whether or not to proceed with the proposal. 

Staff were invited to ask questions and to give their views on the proposal.

1. Question
What is the expected timescale for the Cabinet to consider the outcome of the 
consultation?

Response 
It is expected that Cabinet will consider a Consultation Report in May.

2. Question
When will we hear what will definitely happen?

Response
The report will be published on the Council’s website a week before it is considered by the Cabinet 
and schools representatives can attend the Cabinet meeting. If, following consideration of the 
report, Cabinet members decide to proceed with the proposal, the next step will be to publish 
statutory notice of closure of the school for a period of 4 calendar weeks of which at least 15 days 
must be school days. During this time written objections to the notice can be received.  Following 
the statutory notice period the objections will be collated and an Obejction Report, including all the 
issues raised and the Authority’s response to them, will be prepared for the Cabinet who will take 
the final decision on whether or not to close the school.  The Cabinet has to take account of all the 
issues raised within the objections. 

3. Question
If the Cabinet decides to close the school when will we know?

Response
On the timescale we are working to, the Cabinet would be likely to take the final decision on the 
future of the school in July, but this would depend on the Cabinet. The Authority needs to give 1 
term’s notice to parents if a decision is taken to close a school.

4. Question
What about notice to staff?

Response
Staff would not be given notice until a separate consultation process had taken place. This would not 
be undertaken until the Cabinet has taken a final decision on the school. The HR process could not 
start until after the Cabinet decision.

Response
There is a separate consultation process for staff.  There is a different notice period for support staff 
and teachers.  At the very least, it would be the notice period stated in your contract.  This is 
normally 1 term for teachers and 1 month for support staff, but if you have long service it may be 
longer, up to a maximum period of 12 weeks. If staff are given notice of redundancy we would hope 
to redeploy staff to local vacancies. The Authority’s preference is always to redeploy staff.

Page 176



7

5. Question
When will we actually know what is going to happen?

Response
If the Cabinet takes the decision to close the school from 31st December, 2016, we would aim to get 
your names on the redeployment list as soon as possible.

6. Question
Do we have to accept jobs offered to us via the redeployment process?

Response
If you turned down what was considered a reasonable offer of employment you might make yourself 
ineligible for redundancy pay but the Authority would take personal, individual circumstances into 
consideration.

7. Comment
It is a long process

Response
4/5 months as a minimum.

8. Question
What if parents decide to take children out of the school before Christmas?

Response
One of options would be to give consideration to redeploying staff to the receiving school but some 
staff would also be needed to assist with the closedown of the school. 
It would depend on where parents decide to send their children but there would be discussion with 
the headteacher of the receiving school.

9. Question
If the decision was taken to close the school from December, 2016, would you be looking 
for some staff to consider staying beyond that date to assist with the closedown?

Response
We would be looking to retain some staff to carry out the formal closure process.

10. Question
Could there be a point where, if we were redeployed, we would not be receiving payment.

Response
You would be paid for the period for which you are employed.  Redundancy would take effect from 
your notice date.

11. Question
I understood there would be no impact on redundancy payment if we wished to continue 
with supply work. Is that still the case?

Response
It is complicated. 

Response

Page 177



8

Day to day supply would not affect redundancy payment.
Response
If one of the teachers took a maternity cover post that would halt the redundancy process as this 
would be considered suitable alternative employment.  The redundancy date would be the date the 
usual postholder came back from maternity leave unless permanent employment was found in the 
meantime. 

12. Question
If we decide to take redundancy is it true we are not allowed to apply for another job in 
Powys County Council within a year?

Response
There is a reemployment policy.  You would need to check with the school whether they have that 
policy in place.

13. Question
If our names were on a redeployment list, what support are you going to give us to 
continually develop our skills and training?  

Response
We would hope that teachers in school would keep their skills up to date.

14. Question
What support would there be from September, if we do not have a job to go to?

Response
The Authority would not provide support after the redundancy date.  Your name could be on the 
redeployment register until the end of your notice period.

Response
Your name would be removed from the redeployment register at the end of your period of notice.

Response
If you were reemployed by the Authority within a year of your redundancy date you would have to 
pay back the redundancy payment. 

Response 
But if you took another job within a year of the redundancy date with another local authority or in 
the independent sector you would not need to pay back the redundancy payment.

15. Question
Should Cabinet members take the decision to close the school, what would the process be 
for redeploying resources?

Response
Unless something specific has been bought by the school fund then the receiving school would have 
first call on the resources.

16. Question
Would Rhayader Church in Wales School have the first option as the named receiving 
school?

Page 178



9

Response
Yes, the named receiving school would have first call on resources from the closing school followed 
by other receiving schools but, if the majority of children went to another school other than the 
named school, then discussion would be needed.  If, after that process, any resources were 
unallocated it would be open to other schools in the catchment area, followed by any other schools, 
to apply for them.

17. Question
What if it can be proved that the school fund paid for a particular resource?

Response
Once resources have been bought by the school they become the property of the Council.  However, 
if the Friends of the School, or the playgroup can prove they have bought particular equipment then 
discussion would be needed around how it would be reallocated.

18. Question
Could you explain about tax liabilities on any compensatory payments made to staff?

Response
If, in the event of closure of the school, staff were redeployed by the Authority to a job with reduced 
hours or lower pay a compensatory payment would be made.  This compensatory payment would be 
liable for tax whereas redundancy pay is tax free for any redundancy payment less than £30K. There 
is a difference in the rate of redundancy payment for voluntary and compulsory redundancy for 
support staff.

Response
If, for instance, there was a restructure whereby the number of teaching assistants was to be 
reduced and a voluntary redundancy scheme was in place, a teaching assistant who volunteered for 
redundancy would get a higher rate of redundancy payment as that would be voluntary redundancy.  

If Cabinet members decide to close the school there would be a separate staff consultation process. 

19. Question
How do you qualify for redundancy payment?

Response
Staff need to have 2 years continuous service with the Authority in order to qualify for redundancy – 
not necessarily in the same school - but should staff be given notice of redundancy, there would be 
individual discussions with the staff involved.

20. Question
If a decision is taken to keep the school open would the school operate as usual from 
January 2017?

Response
Yes, the process could stop in May or July if the Cabinet decide not to proceed with the 
recommendation. 

Page 179



10

21. Question
Would the decision need to be referred to the Minister for Education?

Response
The Church Authority could refer the decision to the Minister after the Cabinet has made the final 
decision following the statutory objection period.

22. Question
If a decision is taken not to close the school, how frequently could the school be reviewed 
under the School Transformation Policy? 

Response
The Schools Transformation Policy, 2014, sets out an annual cycle of review but a new School 
Reorganisation Policy is now in place which doesn’t have an annual cycle and is more flexible.

Response
When the school was reviewed again would be dependent on the reasons why the process was 
stopped but the Authority shouldn’t be putting schools through a continuous process of review.

23. Comment
There is a high turnover of staff at this school because we are a small school under threat 
of closure.

Response
If the Cabinet members decided to proceed with the recommendation and the decision was referred 
to Welsh Government it is unknown how parents might react to this.  They could move their children 
if the Minister took 12 months to take a decision on the proposal.

24. Question
What would happen if there were so few pupils left in the school in the autumn term that 
the school became unviable?

Response
If pupil numbers in the school reduced to such an extent that it was not good educationally for the 
children then there would need to be discussion with parents of those pupils. 

25. Question
How would the staff be affected if pupil numbers reduced to such an extent?

Response
If, say there were only 6 pupils remaining in the school in September, there would need to be 
discussion with the headteacher, staff and parents.

Next Steps:

Staff were reminded of the next steps in the process

The consultation concludes on 11th March. Every issue raised during the consultation period will be 
logged and analysed.  A report will then be prepared for Cabinet consideration, which will include 
issues raised during the consultation and the Authority’s response to them.  The report will be 
published a week before the Cabinet meeting on the Council’s website.  Following consideration of 
the consultation report, if the Council’s Cabinet decides to take forward the recommendation then a 

Page 180



11

statutory notice of closure will be published.  If anyone wishes to object to the statutory notice they 
will need to resubmit any objection previously submitted during the consultation period.

Written responses to the consultation can be submitted on paper, online or via email to 
school.modernisation@powys.gov.uk.

26. Comment
It is felt that Cabinet members are very out of touch with the community.  They will be 
taking a decision which will affect a lot of people.  They need to take time to visit the 
school and find out about it.

Dee Hanson requested a copy of the minutes of the staff consultation meeting be forwarded to her.

Staff were informed about the format of Cabinet meetings. It was noted that local members can 
register a request to speak at the meeting and would be allowed 5 minutes each to put forward their 
views.

27. Comment
I think the Cabinet needs to look at personal circumstances.  All my three children and 
myself are affected by potential school closures. 

28. Comment
The school’s review is a long exhausting process.

29. Comment
The communities where we live are very important.  Powys’s mission statement is 
“stronger communities in the green heart of Wales.” 

30. Comment
Not once have the good standards at Nantmel School been mentioned.

Response
Standards are paramount in this because we would not be allowed to name a school with lower 
standards as a receiving school.

31. Comment
We went through the review process 5 years ago and the school is still here today because 
of its high standards.

Gareth Jones thanked staff for attending the meeting and for their input.  He told them that, as 
community members, they would also have the opportunity to attend the meeting for parents and 
community members to be held that evening.

Staff were reminded that the next “decision point” in relation to the recommendation to close the 
school would be in May.  They were informed that if staff requested individual meetings with HR, 
that could be arranged during the consultation regarding their employment that would only happen 
if the cabinet confirmed the decision to close the school.

Page 181



12

Minutes of a meeting with governors of Nantmel Church in Wales School, held at Nantmel School 
on 25th February, 2016, on a proposal to close the school from 31st December, 2016. 

Present

PCC

Ian Roberts, Head of Schools Service
Jane Thomas, Head of Finance
Gareth Jones, Senior Manager School Central Support Service
Marianne Evans, Senior Manager School Transformation

Governors
Rob Lewis, Community Governor
Sam Knill, Community Governor
Julia Lewis, LA Governor
Catherine Rees, Parent Governor
Cllr David Evans, LEA Governor
Linda Crockett, Headteacher
Clare Haslam, Parent Governor
Phil Bowen, Foundation Governor

Nicky Higginson, Clerk to Governing Body

Revd. Helen Rees, Director of Education, Diocese of Swansea and Brecon

In attendance
Darren Ivey, Opinion Research Services (observer)
Kelly Lock, Opinion Research Services (observer)

Ian Roberts thanked governors and Revd. Helen Rees for attending the meeting.  Attendees 
introduced themselves.  Governors were informed that unless they wished to be reminded of the 
recommendation, this would not be re-iterated at the meeting, unless governors requested this, as 
they had already been informed of the recommendation.

Ian Roberts explained that the purpose of the meeting was to listen to governors comments and to 
answer as many of their questions in relation to the recommendation as possible.  A note would be 
made of any comments and questions received.  Those questions which could not be answered 
straightaway would be addressed in the consultation report for the Cabinet.

Governors asked whether they would have sight of the consultation report before it was published 
and suggested they would need to have answers to questions before the consultation report was 
available.

Governors were informed that officers would endeavour to provide answers to the questions they 
raised, within a suitable timescale, depending on the number and complexity of the questions.  It 
was noted that governors’ questions would need to be answered to allow sufficient time for 
governors to respond before the end of the consultation period.

Catherine Rees asked whether or not Cabinet members would be attending the public meeting.

Page 182



13

Governors were informed that Cllr Arwel Jones, Portfolio for Education, and Cllr Barry Thomas, 
Leader of the Council and Chair of the Cabinet, would be attending the meeting with parents and 
community members to be held later that evening.

The following comments and questions were received from governors.

1. Question
Why are councillors not attending this meeting?  I want them to witness what we are 
saying.  I did ask why we are having this meeting in addition to the parents meeting.

Response
When there is a recommendation to close a school consultation meetings are arranged for pupils, 
staff, governors, and for parents and the community.  It is felt different groups affected by the 
recommendation may wish to bring up different issues for instance governance.  By arranging 
consultation meetings for pupil, staff, governors, and parents/ community it is considered this gives 
key stakeholders as wide an opportunity as possibility to have their say.

2. Comment
We are concerned that time will be limited for the public meeting.

It was explained that no decision had yet been taken on the recommendation. The Cabinet had 
approved consultation on the recommendation and there had been occasions in the past when 
Cabinet had decided not to take forward a recommendation following consultation. It was noted 
that the Authority are not legally bound to carry out formal consultation meetings, but it is 
considered that by doing this, stakeholders are given an opportunity to have their say.

Governors were informed that the Authority aims for the process to be open and transparent and, 
for this reason, independent facilitators had been commissioned to assist with the consultation 
process with parents and community. It was explained it would not be officers who would be making 
the decision on the recommendation but members of the Council’s Cabinet and it was therefore 
considered important for the Cabinet member for Education and the Leader of the Council to attend 
the public meeting in order to hear the views of parents and community members.

3. Comment/Question
The public do not want us to ask the same questions as those that will be asked in the 
public meeting.  Why are we meeting twice?  We though you would be giving a 
presentation to us.

Response
Do you want us to go through the recommendation with you?

4. Comment
We are concerned that the Leader of the Council and the Portfolio Holder will not hear the 
questions we are asking. 

Response
There is no reason why you can’t ask the same questions in the public meeting and in this meeting.

Page 183



14

5. Comment
I requested a recording be made of the public meeting and that request was denied.

Response
To record the public meeting would need the permission of everyone attending that meeting.
The minutes of the public meeting will be made available to you.  

6. Comment
The minutes are not fully complete.

Response
The minutes taken will be a full note of the meeting.

7. Comment
Sometimes parents think governors are given more information than they are and 
separate meetings for governors and parents just reinforces some parents’ perception.

Response
It is difficult to get it right.  There are occasions when governors have appreciated and welcomed a 
separate meeting and have asked questions around governance procedures.  This is the first time 
where governors have felt there is not much point in a separate meeting but it is your right to say 
that.

8. Question
The school’s costs are increasing. We have a small number of pupils at this school and it is 
possible that long-term the budget for the school would not look healthy.  If the school 
closes what would happen if there was a deficit budget?  

Response
When a school closes the deficit or surplus position at the time of closure is written off and 
governors would not be liable for that position.

Response
Unless governors had acted inappropriately i.e. inappropriate use of monies. For instance, if there 
was heavy expenditure in the last two months of a school being closed that would be scrutinised.

9. Question
Are we required to restrict our spending on the children still remaining in the school?

Response
No, if the school was to close on 31.12.2016 the budget would be reduced to a 9/12 allocation for 
the full year.  

Response
You would have a budget plan for the year the school closed and you would be expected to spend 
within that budget plan and available budget. 

10. Question
Are there any financial reasons for the proposed closure date of 31st December, 2016? 

Page 184



15

Response
 No. The cabinet could decide to alter that date.

Response
The other sum of money that would need to be considered is if there is a school fund held as public 
money and how the balance at the closure of the school is used/allocated.

11. Question
I am unclear as to why our proposal was not given more consideration.  What about 
strengths of the current collaboration with Rhayader School?

Response
I think you are referring to the option of federation or a split site school. Under a split site school 
each site would be funded in accordance to the current formula for a split site school. The budget 
that would come to Nantmel School under a split site school would not support the number of 
teachers needed to run the school.  Where schools have been federated in Powys those schools 
normally have had over 50 pupils.

12. Question
Why 50?

Response
The formula is predicated on a teacher pupil ration of 1:25.  Taking into account efficiencies applied 
to the 15/16 budget this would mean a teacher funded pupil ratio of 1:26.  The overall impact of the 
teachers’ pay award, increased superannuation and National Insurance contribution, this would 
mean a 3-4% decrease in spending power meaning we would be looking at funding on a teacher 
pupil ratio of 1:28 for 2016/17. Once a federated school gets to 30 pupils the funding drops and this 
would mean there would be insufficient funding to support the number of teachers needed to run as 
a 2-class Infant/Junior school.  If the school was funded as a split site school, it would mean the 
budget would be more difficult to manage as Rhayader would be funded as a single school with the 
pupil numbers in Nantmel School added to the total number of pupils Rhayader School would be 
required to fund.

13. Comment
No consideration has been given to standards.

Response
It was made clear when governors met with members of the School Organisation Review Panel that 
there are no concerns about current standards at Nantmel School. 

14. Question
So the recommendation is down to money?

Response
It is as a result of low pupil numbers.

15. Comment
 I would prefer that question to be answered at the public meeting.

16. Comment

Page 185



16

You are not operating under the premise of the quality of education being most 
important.

17. Comment
There has been no engagement with Cabinet members until this point.  There is only one 
Councillor who is a member of the Schools Organisation Review Panel.  It is mainly made 
up of officers.

Response
When the School Organisation Review Panel was proposed there was a suggestion within the initial 
cabinet report to include more members but the decision of Cabinet at that point in time was to just 
include the Portfolio Holder for Education.

18. Comment
These are issues I would like the general public to know.

Response
The questions can be repeated in the public meeting.

19. Comment
I have submitted 3 Freedom of Information requests to the Council for which I am awaiting 
responses.  I know the Authority has the information to hand and it is painful for me to 
have to wait 20 days for reports and it is not guaranteed that I will get those reports 
within 20 days. I would like a response within the consultation period.

Response
Your Freedom of Information requests will be responded to within the timescale required under the 
FOI protocols i.e 20 days.

20. Comment
That only gives me from 8th March until the consultation concludes on 11th March.

Response
If Freedom of Information Requests are outstanding with our officers we will ensure they are 
responded to within 20 days.

The governor who had submitted the Freedom of Information requests read out the details of 
information requested. Officers stated it would not be possible to provide a response to the 
information requested at the meeting but a separate meeting would be arranged in order to discuss 
the information requested and provide the relevant data.

21. Comment
I have not received an automated response to acknowledge receipt of the FOI request.

Response
You should have received an automate response to your request and if you have not received this it 
is something you should take up with the FOI Service.

22. Comment
Rhayader School has been named as the receiving school but the access to the school 
building and the car parking is not good.

Page 186



17

23. Comment
There is no disabled access at Rhayader School.  The school building is categorised as 
Category D which is less than Nantmel school building.

Response
The condition of the school building at Rhayader has been assessed as being “B” and the school 
building at Nantmel as condition “C”.   The assessment of the school building at Rhayader as “D” is in 
relation to its sustainability and that could be addressed by installation of double rather than single 
glazed windows, for example.  As part of the Schools Service Asset Management Plan I will be 
recommending the surveys of school building condition are carried out as part of a rolling 
programme.   We are aware of issues around the service areas and car parking at Rhayader School 
and will work with school to improve that.

24. Comment
I don’t think the information you will be presenting to the Cabinet will be wholly unbiased.  
Will Cabinet members be visiting the school?

I don’t feel it is a transparent process as Cabinet members are presented with the 
information that officers choose to present to the Cabinet.  

Response
The issues you are raising will be included in the consultation report and the cabinet will have to 
consider and respond to those issues.

25. Comment
The responses to the Freedom of Information requests have to come back to us within the 
consultation period.  20 days is not acceptable.

Response
We will commit to ensure that Freedom of Information requests are in the system and are 
responded to in order to allow you plenty of time to respond to the consultation but the Authority 
has 20 days to respond to a Freedom of Information request.

26. Question  
Is there any flexibility to extend the consultation period?

Response
The consultation period cannot be changed at this stage as it has already been published but the 
Cabinet has flexibility to extend the timeline.

27. Comment
Our formula is less specific. It is not just about figures. It is more about community.  It is 
difficult for the two to meet.  

Response

It will be for the Cabinet to balance the quantitative and the qualitative.

Page 187



18

28. Question
Do you negotiate the funding formula for schools with Welsh Government?

Response
The percentage of funding which must be delegated to schools is based on pupil numbers but it is a 
Powys formula but the funding comes from Welsh Government.

29. Comment
The funding formula does not reflect the locality.  It is news to me that the funding 
formula   is dictated by officers.

Response
Officers do not dictate the formula.  Funding comes from Welsh Government and Powys decides 
how funding is delegated via the Fair Funding Formula – schools are consulted about any proposed 
revisions to the formula, before it is then considered by the Council’s Cabinet.  It is reviewed every 
year as is the Scheme for Financing Schools.    Every Welsh authority has its own formula for funding 
schools.  Rural authorities have had a settlement which is poor as compared to more urban areas.  
The sparsity factor of the formula for funding local authorities does not carry as much weight as 
other factors.

Response
If there is an extra number pupils in other local authority areas the funding is less for those local 
authorities which have fewer young people of school age.

30. Comment
No one wants to live in an area where there are no schools.

31. Comment
It seems the only way of getting money from Welsh Government is by building schools. Is 
money coming for new sites and new spends.  It seems the Authority can only access 
money from Welsh Government for capital projects.

Response
There is less money available from Welsh Government for schools because the number of pupils in 
Powys has reduced significantly as a percentage of the Welsh school population. Post 16 funding is 
an example.  There has been a cut of £450K in the budget for post 16 education in 16/17 because 
post 16 student numbers have reduced.  There are 750 fewer pupils in the secondary sector now in 
Powys than five years ago.  Funding is mainly based on pupil numbers.  

Response
Capital funding cannot be used for revenue funding. 

32. Comment
We have the money in Wales but Powys is poor at negotiating for its share of it. You are 
proposing a new school in Builth which will cost £40m when you are saying you have not 
got the money to keep Nantmel School open.  I want these discussions so we can be 
transparent and people are not misled.  You said pupil numbers are reducing but, at same 
time, you are proposing a new school in Builth.

Response

Page 188



19

It is not possible to use capital for revenue funding.

Response
The Section 151 officer attends the Welsh Government Distribution Subgroup and a change to the 
formula which recognises rurality has already been put in place.  Every opportunity is taken to put 
forward Powys issues at that forum.  

33. Comment
I don’t understand why there is not a dialogue with Welsh Government so communities 
and officers can get together to lobby Welsh Government.  You seem determined to close 
small schools.  There has been no early dialogue about how we go forward.  I don’t believe 
this is a democratic consultation process.

Response
I have provided you with that assurance.  I have said I want people to come here this evening to give 
their views.  I cannot tell you what the outcome will be as the consultation process has only just 
begun.

34. Comment
Matters have been raised at this meeting which the parents and Portfolio Holder has not 
heard.

Response
We respect your right to ask what questions you want to be answered in front of the public.

35. Comment
I think we should call this meeting to a halt and ask any further questions in the public 
meeting.

36. Question
Does anyone here feel it would have been useful for the Portfolio Holder to hear our 
discussion?

Response
The members will receive the consultation report.

37. Question
With a recommendation from yourself?

Response
It is not my personal recommendation.  The report which goes to the Cabinet is in the name of the 
Portfolio Holder for Education.

The report is written based on the questions and issues raised during the consultation period and 
the answers are provided to the Portfolio Holder.  
The officers respond to all the issues raised.  The report goes to Cllr Arwel Jones who makes a 
recommendation.

Page 189



20

38. Question
Don’t you think it would have been useful for the two county councillors to be at this 
meeting?

Response
They will attend the public meeting this evening.

39. Comment
The more people engaging in the discussion, the better.

Darren Ivey of ORS concluded the meeting by commenting that it is useful to ask questions for 
clarification but there is a difference between asking questions and listening to the views of 
stakeholders.  There is a need to distinguish between questions and views.  Questions can be very 
specific but it is important that the general voice of stakeholders is heard.

Page 190



21

Minutes of a meeting with parents and community of Nantmel Church in Wales School, held at 
Nantmel School on 25th February, 2016, on a proposal to close the school from 31st December, 
2016. 

Present
Cllr Barry Thomas, Council Leader
Cllr Arwel Jones, Portfolio Holder for Education
Ian Roberts, Head of Schools Service
Gareth Jones, Senior Manager School Central Support Service
Marianne Evans, Senior Manager School Transformation
Jane Thomas, Head of Finance

In Attendance
Sarah Astley, Schools Transformation team
Jade Clay, Schools Transformation team
Darren Ivey, Opinion Research Services
Kelly Lock, Opinion Research Services

Mike Hodgson
Clare Haslam
Julia Lewis
Sam Knill
Geraint Watham
Phil Bowen
Catherine Rees
Ian Rees
Sarah Davis
Philip Clegg
Kate
Robert Pugh
Rebekah Thomas
Carolyn Rowlands
Lora Thomas
Rebecca Cook
Roy Gardner
Rebecca Pugh
David Butler
Fred and Sue Nally
Clare Evans
Kirsty Williams
Cllr Kelvyn Curry
Heather Curry
Mike Broadhurst
Victor Morgan
Elizabeth Morgan
Dorri Davies
Margaret Thomas
Phillip Davies
Edward Jones
John Lawrence
Richard Thomas
Kevin Lewis

Chair of Governors
Parent Governor
LA Governor
Parent Governor
Community member
Foundation 
Governor
Parent Governor
Parent
Parent
Parent
Pupil
Parent
Parent
Parent
Member of Staff
Member of Staff
Parent
Parent
Community member
Community member
AM Brecon & Radnor
Councillor
Community member
Community member
Community member
Community member
Community member
Grandparent
Community member
Community member
Community member
Community member
Community member

Claire Mills
Cllr Gary Price
Victoria Wilks
Geoff Wilks
Revd. Helen Rees

Andrew Thomas
Nigel Bufton
Katie Rose
Dean Roberts
Lewis Pugh
Samuel Rees
Meurig Rees
Kenneth Rees
Ruth Rees
Lynne Tolhurst
Rachael Beech
Heather Jones
Kerena Pugh
Jessie Pugh
Kath Bufton
Graham Chaplin
Sophia Pugh
Amy Evans
Katrina Evans
Lisa Hardwick
Stephen Hardwick
Anneka Price
Bryan Pugh
Stephen Pugh
A Pugh

R Lewis
A Lewis

Parent
Councillor
Grandparent
Grandparent
Diocese of Brecon & 
Swansea
Parent
Parent
Parent
Parent
Former pupil
Former pupil
Former pupil
Former pupil
Parent
Community member
Community member
Parent
Community member
Community member
Dolau community member
Community member
Community member
Former pupil
Parent of former pupil
Parent
Parent
Parent and community
Former pupil
Former pupil
Former pupil, parent & 
member of community
Parent of prospective pupil
Parent of prospective pupil

Page 191



22

M Jones

R L Lewis
J B Morgan
B A Pugh

Former pupil and 
parent
Community member
Gwystre community
Former pupil

Katie Rowlands
Sooty Rowlands
Phil Rowlands
Emma Jones
Alice Collard
Pauline Bore

Former pupil
Parent of former pupil
Former pupil
Former pupil
Former pupil
Parent of former pupil

Cllr Arwel Jones welcomed parents and community members to the meeting. He explained that the 
meeting was part of the consultation process on the proposal to close Nantmel Church in Wales 
School from 31st December, 2016. It was noted that no decisions had yet been taken regarding the 
future of the school and the purpose of the meeting was to listen to views of parents and 
community members.  Attendees were informed that translation facilities were available should 
they wish to speak in Welsh.  Panel members introduced themselves.

Darren Ivey from Opinion Research Services explained the format of the meeting and the purpose of 
ORS’s involvement in the consultation. It was noted that discussion at the meeting would be 
recorded and included with the report to be submitted to the Council’s Cabinet.

Marianne Evans explained the context and background leading to the School Organisation Review 
process.  It was noted that members of the School Organisation Review Panel had met with 
governors of Nantmel Church in Wales school in February 2015, in September, 2015, and again at 
the end of 2015, as part of the review process, as set out in the Authority’s Schools Transformation 
Policy, 2014.  The Panel had considered a range of options in relation to the school but had 
concluded that the recommendation would be closure of Nantmel Church in Wales School from 31st 
December, 2016, with Rhayader Church in Wales School being named as the receiving school.
At a meeting on 15th December, 2015, the Council’s Cabinet took the decision to consult on closure 
of the school.

Those present were asked whether or not they wished to ask any questions to clarify the proposal.

1. Question - Revd. Helen Rees 

The school and the church have a central role in the community.  What reference has been 
made to the outcome of the Community Impact Assessment in relation to the use of the 
school building and the place of the school in the community?  

Response 
The Authority is required by legislation to collate information on and analyse the community use of 
school facilities and to consider the impact of closure of a school would have on the community.  The 
draft Community Impact Assessment needs to identify, through consultation, and provision of 
detailed information about the impact of the current proposal on the community. The Community 
Impact Assessment will be included with the report for Council’s Cabinet to inform them what 
impact closure of the school would have on the community.

2. Comment - Ian Rees – Parent
You just need to drive through Beguildy to see what impact closure of Beguildy School has 
had on that community.  Nantmel School has been under threat of closure for 8 years and 
the Authority does not say Nantmel School is available to take pupils.  Rhayader Church in 
Wales School is not fit for purpose.  It has a narrow entrance. I know you say the decision 
on the future of Nantmel School has not been made but the decision was made a long 

Page 192



23

time ago.  You haven’t given the school a chance. Nantmel School has managed its budget 
a lot better than Powys County Council has done.

3. Comment
Rhayader School has poor visibility from the site entrance. It has narrow access and there 
is serious congestion at drop off and pick up times.  Will access and parking be reviewed?

Response 
Access into Rhayader School is narrow and one of the issues which needs to be considered is 
whether or not there is a need to invest to improve the access to the school.  Any child in the 
catchment area of Nantmel School who lives more than 2 miles from Rhayader Church in Wales 
would be offered school transport to Rhayader School.

4. Comment 
That would mean more vehicles using the access to the school.  The access to Rhayader 
Church in Wales School is the same as it was in the 1940’s and there are now 200 children 
using the school.  

5. Question – Cllr G Price
The consultation report says that the school is owned by the Church in Wales but the 
playing field is leased.  For what period of time is the land leased, how much is paid for the 
lease and is that charged back to the delegated budget for the school?  I noticed that the 
report to Cabinet on Welshpool primary schools included a rating of the school buildings’ 
condition for the purpose of the Disability Discrimination Act but the consultation 
document for Nantmel School does not mention this. Could you tell me, in terms of 
Nantmel and Rhayader Church in Wales schools, if you add on the score for DDA what are 
the scores for the schools please?

Response
The details of the lease are not to hand and I am not aware of whether or not there is a formal lease 
agreement but I can provide that information for you.  The condition assessment of Nantmel School 
is “C”. The Property Service has indicated that with some replacement of single glazed windows and 
some other minor work this could be upgraded to a condition “B”.  The DDA rating is dependent on 
individual disability needs of the current pupils.

6. Comment – Cllr G Price
The DDA condition rating was included in the model for Welshpool but was left out of the 
consultation report for Nantmel School.  How can we respond to the consultation when 
you do not tell us what the score is?  The school should comply with the regulations 
regardless of what the disability is.

Response 
I understand that you can have a school which is DDA compliant for pupils that attend the school at 
a particular point in time but if a new pupil with specific and different needs, in terms of disability, 
joins the school further adaptions may be necessary.  

Response - Cllr Arwel Jones
I will get a request that a health and safety assessment is completed in relation to the access at 
Rhayader Church in Wales school.

Page 193



24

7. Would the cost of that assessment be as much as the cost to run Nantmel School?

8. Question -Kirsty Williams
How can the Council make promises about improvement to the access at Rhayader School 
when access problems at Knighton School have not been sorted in spite of assurances 
made to the parents of pupils of Beguildy School?

The School Reorganisation Code makes reference to other models of governance, such as 
federation, as an alternative to closure and as a way of keeping children within in their 
local communities.  I want to hear in detail why that option has not been afforded to this 
community.

Response
Federation is a model that has been considered as an alternative to closure. Under a federated 
model, schools have 1 headteacher and 1 governing body but are treated separately for budget and 
inspection purposes.  The funding formula has to allow for affordability of two schools but when 
pupil numbers are as low as they are in Nantmel School, the Fair Funding Formula would not enable 
Nantmel School to retain its present level of staffing if it was part of a federation.  The schools in 
Powys which are currently part of a federation have a higher number of pupils than Nantmel School.

Response 
Under federation regulations, federated schools are funded separately. A school with 30 pupils or 
less would only be funded for 1.8/1.9 teachers. A dual-sited arrangement would result in that school 
being funded as a single school with a teacher pupil ratio of 1:25 and, taking into account Council 
efficiencies, this would mean a teacher pupil ratio of equivalent to 1:28.  There would be a small split 
site allowance equating to .25 of a teacher.  Based on 30 pupils and 1:28 ratio this would give the 
school 1.3 teachers, including the split site allowance.  The larger school site would have to subsidise 
the smaller school site if two teachers were needed.  Although under federation regulations, the 
Authority is required to fund federated schools as 2 separate schools, governors would have the 
option to pool the budgets and plan a single staffing team.  

9. Comment
The Fair Funding Formula is created by Powys County Council and it is responsible for that 
formula. Powys County Council, as creators of that formula, is responsible for making 
small schools unviable but they are spending money on consultants. It is frustrating for 
communities to see Powys County Council spending money on things we don’t want.

10. Comment
Remember that Powys is a very rural county. It has sparsity issues.  At the same time the 
community is part of the county and parents are about to lose freedom of choice about 
what type of school their children go to.  If the Authority closes 3 small schools in the 
locality parents will have no choice about what type of school they choose for their 
children and there will be longer journey times for small children.

11. Question 
Both my children went to Nantmel School.  I am aware of the savings Powys County 
Council has to make.

Would the Cabinet be open to collaboration with the community in order to save the 
school?

Page 194



25

Response
We would need to find out whether that would be legally possible in Wales. 
What do you understand by a collaborative approach?

12. Comment/ Question
The community council sets a precept for the community each year.  There are 621 houses 
in Nantmel. If the Community Council was able to raise the precept would collaboration 
with the community council be possible in order to fund the shortfall to enable the school 
to remain open?

13. Question
When will the report on the proposal to close the school next be considered by the 
Council’s Cabinet?  The consultation takes us up to the pre-election period.

Response
The consultation period finishes on March 11th and it is hoped to take a report to Cabinet in May 
after the Assembly election.

Response
In relation to your question about using the precept in order to fund the school, I cannot answer at 
this point whether this would be possible, but there are historic examples where community groups 
have funded a particular post in a school. 
If the community was to come together to devise a way of keeping the school open that would be 
listened to carefully and not brushed aside.  If that is something you would wish to be considered we 
would welcome a business case around that.

14. Question -Revd. Helen Rees 
Governors have talked about the option of federation with Rhayader C in Wales School,  if 
there was a possibility of Llanfihangel Rhydithon School becoming a church school would 
that make the possibility of federation stronger?

Response
Thank you for the question.  Consideration would need to be given to implications of that on the 
budgets for the schools.

Comment 
The assumption is that if Nantmel School closes, the pupils will transfer to Rhayader School but it 
is likely that more than half will go to Crossgates CP School.  Crossgates School will get the pupils 
from Dolau and Llanbister if those schools close. What criteria will be applied in terms of allocating 
places at Crossgates School if it reaches capacity?  Will places be allocated on a “first come, first 
served basis”?

Response 
The capacity of the current schools given in the consultation document is based on the assumption 
that the County Council will provide education from nursery through to year 6 but another 
consultation is taking place currently on a proposal to change the age of admission to primary 
schools and the impact of that will change the capacity numbers for individual schools.  Part of the 
report to the Cabinet will include the impact of that change.  Currently, the Authority is the 
admission body for each of the schools named and there is a set admission number for each year 
group. If the number of places applied for exceeds the set admission number then the Local 
Authority applies the criteria as set out in the Authority’s School Admission Policy.

Page 195



26

Once the Authority has allocated a place for a pupil in a school and that has been accepted, the offer 
of a place cannot be retracted unless the place has been offered based on false information, for 
instance, the address has been falsified.

15. Question
Is it possible to secure a place in a school now for a move in January 2017?
As the children will have been disadvantaged by closure of their school, what assurance 
can the Council give that children can secure a place at parents’ next chosen school?

Response
The Authority would have to ensure that a place is available in the named receiving school but 
parents can choose an alternative school.

16. Question
Would there be any special circumstances for children already disadvantaged by closure of 
their school?

Response 
If the proposal is taken forward, the Authority has a duty to make sure there is a place in the named 
receiving school but it cannot make plans when the decision on the future of the school has not yet 
been taken.

17. Comment - Kirsty Williams 
When places were allocated to the new primary schools in Ystradgynlais you knew that 
the named school for the pupils of the former Cynlais School was not Ysgol Bro Tawe but 
Ysgol Golwg y Cwm and you made special arrangements for the children of Cynlais to stay 
together. You recognised parental choice.  The council has a precedent of accommodating 
parental choice on school closure.  You need to treat communities consistently.

18. Comment 
Not once has there been any reference to standards. You are just talking about money.  
We already pay a precept for every school.  We are in danger of just looking at facts and 
figures.  The geography of Radnorshire is important.  Cabinet members have not visited 
the school.  Alternative options appear to have been disregarded.  What do you, as 
officers, know that we can’t understand by reading your papers?  If we had a referendum I 
think you would lose. The disappointment is that the consultation is on closing Nantmel 
School. Can’t the consultation be on keeping Nantmel School open?  I would have thought 
a number of options suggested tonight should have been considered before there was 
consultation on a proposal to close the school.  It seems that consultation on closure is 
premature when there are other options.

Response
The principle of consultation is that all options must be considered.

19. Question
If a local business wanted to support the school to enable it to remain open would that be 
an option?   You had previously said that would be unsustainable.

Response

Page 196



27

I do not recollect saying that it would unsustainable.  I had asked whether it would be sustainable.

Response
Sustainability is one of the criteria which would be considered. 

20. Question
What would be the timescale for the community to put a business case together?

Response
That idea could be explored but it is not possible to change the timescales.     I would suggest you 
submit your ideas as part of the consultation, and they  will be considered. 

21. Comment
It couldn’t be done in 11 days.  If the idea hasn’t been encouraged previously it would take 
time for the community to come together to discuss with stakeholders and draft a 
business case.  It sounds as though the gates have only just been opened to allow us to do 
something.  We would need more time to prepare a sustainable business case.

Response
If the case put forward is sufficiently cogent there would be scope for it to be considered. However, 
we can’t change the consultation timescales.

22. Comment/question
In order to draft a business case we would need to have figures. We need to have 
information tomorrow from key people.  If it were to be a split school we would need 
information in order to say what the current situation is and to inform our proposal. We 
need to know the sum of money that would be sufficient to sustain the school.  What do 
we have to do financially in order to keep this school open?

Response
We can run the funding formula and give you the figures that would be generated based on various 
pupil numbers.

23. Question
Wouldn’t you have thought that was a reasonable question from us so that you had the 
figures for the shortfall to hand?

Response
The average delegation per pupil in the primary sector across Powys is £3600 average and for 
Nantmel School the per pupil funding is £4900.

24. Comment
Other schools don’t work to an average.  You have different costs in different schools.  
Surely Powys should be offering to arrange a meeting with us to discuss our proposals. We 
would like to see a more collaborative approach.  PCC should set a meeting for parents, 
teacher and governors to discuss this by the end of the week.  Council officers should look 
at their diaries to meet with key stakeholders in Nantmel.

Page 197



28

25. Question
Why should the rural schools have to meet the same per pupil cost as the town schools?  

Response
We are not saying that Nantmel School would have to have the average per pupil cost.

26. Comment
We need to know what sum of money would need to be found to enable the school to 
continue.

Response
The information can be provided to enable you to calculate the shortfall but there is nothing in the 
formula which factors in rurality. Transport costs are funded from central budget.

27. Comment/Question – Cllr G Price
There is £1000 discrepancy between the Cabinet report and the consultation document in 
relation to savings. In terms of school standards Rhayader Primary School was graded as 
“adequate” and Nantmel School was graded as “good” when it was last inspected.  How 
can you send children from this school to a school that is achieving less?

Response
Both schools came out of category and requiring no further follow up from previous inspections. 
Standards at Nantmel School are good but we are confident that standards at Rhayader Primary 
school are as good.

28. Comment - Cllr Gary Price
In terms of the consultation document and the Cabinet report there is a discrepancy of 
£1000 in relation to the savings figures.  Can you clarify the reference to £10K kitchen 
subsidy?

Response
Nantmel School gained £1000 following an adjustment to the formula with regard to the new 
Service Levels agreements, this was applied across all schools. The cost of the kitchen service is 
higher in a smaller school and in the consultation report the estimated figures of £10K as the cost of 
the kitchen service have been used but that will be clarified in the report for Cabinet.

29. Comment /Question- Cllr Evans 
We want our schools in rural areas as well as schools in towns.  How serious are you with 
your consultation?  I attended the Cabinet meeting when the proposal to close Nantmel 
School was discussed. 849 people signed a petition to say did not want school to close.  
The standard of education has got to be paramount.  You will not get a better education 
than at Nantmel School.  I hope you will take on board what we have said. The school has 
been a centre of excellence for 160 years. It is a pity members of cabinet could not visit the 
school to see how it works.  You have no idea of the havoc that closure of this school 
would cause.  This proposal is all about money.  Our rural areas are going to disappear. 
There are 3 schools under threat in this area.  The legacy that Powys County Council will 
leave behind will never be put right.  There is no reason to close this school at all.  It is an 
excellent school and we do not want to lose it.

30. Question

Page 198



29

Will the Cabinet members be visiting Nantmel School and the receiving school in order to 
make an informed decision and, if not, why not?

Response
It is up to individual cabinet members if they wish to visit the school.  The Leader of the Cabinet and 
the Portfolio Holder for Education are here tonight.

31. Comment
You are taking for granted the information provided by officers which is not always 
unbiased.  By visiting the schools during the school day, including the receiving school, you 
will be able to make an informed assessment. You will see for yourself the inappropriate 
access at Rhayader Primary School.  

32. Comment
I live in community of Nantmel and my children were past pupils of the school. Nantmel 
School is highly regarded in the area.  I was told at parents’ evenings at the High School 
that children from Nantmel School are setting the standards.  The education provision at 
Nantmel School has always been the best.  Rural children need this space to grow.  
Nantmel only has the school and the church. We do not have a village hall.  The school is 
not just a school but a community place for us all.

33. Comment
I worked in this school for 10 years and now I work at the high school.  I am from London.  
Powys have lost sight of where they live.  You are trying to deal with these schools as if 
they are in urban communities.  You don’t realise what you have here.  There is a 
wonderful standard of education provided by the rural schools in this area.  By closing 
rural schools you are tearing the heart out of the communities.

34. Question
I would like to know how you make a decision on closing small schools when you don’t 
visit them.  That is vital.  It is all about the pupils.  I would like to know how you can justify 
making a decision based on numbers on a page. Everybody who is involved in the decision 
making process needs to visit the schools.  How can you make a decision without seeing 
what the school is about?

Response
Officers have visited the school – for example we met with the School Council earlier this week,  and 
other officers also visit the school on a regular basis, but I think your question is about a chance for 
the decision makers to visit the school.

35. Question
Why don’t Cabinet members visit the school and see it in operation? You need to take the 
children into account.

Response
As Portfolio Holder I will be visiting the school before the decision is taken but it will be up to other 
Cabinet members to decide whether or not to visit the school.

Page 199



30

36. Question
Will you be recommending that they visit the school?

Response
The decision whether or not to visit the school will be up to individual Cabinet members.

37. Comment
 Above all, councillors should listen to the needs of the local people. The community is 
asking you to visit the school.

Response
I will feed that comment back.

38. How many Cabinet members are actually from Radnorshire?  How can they take a 
decision without visiting the school?

Response
I understand that you feel that Radnorshire and Breconshire are having a raw deal but  a number of 
primary schools  in Montgomeryshire have closed.

39. Question
Is Llanfechain School being considered for closure?

Response
There can be complex situations relating to some schools where the closest receiving schools do not 
have any surplus capacity.  There is no spare capacity in Llansantffraid Church in Wales School which 
is the closest church school to Llanfechain Church in Wales School.

40. Comment
I don’t want my daughter to go to Rhayader School. I want her to go to Crossgates School 
and it will be full.

41. Comment
You are hoping we will take our children away from Nantmel School due to fear that our 
children won’t get into the next school that we choose.  We need reassurance that our 
children will be placed in the next school of our choice.

42. Question
How is Crossgates School going to take all the children if Nantmel, Llanbister and Dolau 
schools all close?

Comment
The figures that have been included around saving exclude the money that would transfer to the 
receiving school with the child.

43. Question
Who is in charge of the finances and who has the breakdown of the savings?

44. Question

Page 200



31

Give you give us the figure charged for the rent for Nantmel School?

Response
The funding per pupil is provided in the Section 52 document that is available on Stats Wales 
website. The County Council has full landlord responsibilities for both schools.  There is no difference 
in the funding for running costs between a Community Primary and a Church in Wales School and 
they are both funded according to the same formula but with a Community Primary School the asset 
remains with the County Council if school closes.  For Church in Wales schools the Church mainly 
owns the building.

45. Question
What about the funding for the playing field in Nantmel?

Response
There is a small element within the Fair Funding Formula which includes funding for the field.

46. Question
 Does the lease on the playing field run for another 90 years?

Response
I don’t have the details of the lease with me at the moment.

47. Question – Cllr G Price
I attended a meeting of the Council today in relation to the budget.  Included within the 
identified efficiency savings for the Schools Service there are projected savings of £60K for 
small school closures and I asked the Portfolio Holder how the projected savings were 
made up and he said savings from closure of Dolau, Llanbister, Nantmel schools. If no 
decisions have been made how he can name those schools?  I would say to the 
communities of Dolau Llanbister, and Nantmel the opportunity for judicial review is open 
to you.  I have a webcast of the Council meeting as evidence.

Response
The savings to be achieved are partly through closure of Whitton School.  I said that the Authority 
was consulting on the closure of Nantmel, Llanfihangel Rhydithon and Nantmel schools.

Response
As the Council is looking at the financial position over a 3-year period a number of assumptions and 
estimates need to be made in relation to projected savings but decisions have not made on those 
items.  It is a model based on certain assumptions rather than predetermination.

48.  Comment
You said the report would go to Cabinet in May.

Response
Yes, in May.

49. Question

Page 201



32

What evidence are you gathering on the impact of closure of schools on the educational 
outcomes and wellbeing of pupils?

Response
There are no concerns about the standards of education at Rhayader C in W School and the range of 
clubs and extra-curricular activities at Rhayader C in W School are comparable to those in Nantmel 
School.  Attendance at Rhayader School is good.  When Rhayader School was last inspected, 
wellbeing of pupils was judged as being good as it is at Nantmel.  

50. Question
Is there any evidence available to indicate outcomes on well being of children who have 
moved from a small to a larger school environment?

Response
In Ystradygnlais 10 primary schools were closed and 4 new schools opened 3 years ago.  A number of 
children who transferred to the larger new schools had previously attended small schools. When the 
new schools were inspected the wellbeing of pupils in those schools was deemed to be at least as 
good and in some cases better.  The evidence from the Ystradgynlais is that there was no detriment 
to wellbeing of pupils following their transfer to the new larger primary schools.

51. Question
Were stress factors and the children’s mental health monitored?  What is important is 
how children respond to change.

Response
Only a medical professional can provide an opinion about a child’s mental health but we have looked 
at the benefits, attainment and opportunities of pupils in the Ystradgynlais primary schools and I can 
categorically say wellbeing for children in those new schools has been judged to be good. I cannot 
comment on the wellbeing of individual pupils but overall pupil wellbeing is good.

52. Question 
Currently there are only two children who travel to Nantmel School on school transport.  
Other children are brought to school by parents. Can we have figures for the transport 
costs?

Response
In terms of financial assessment the estimated additional transport costs included in the 
consultation document would be £30,400 per annum.

53. Question
But it has been said that closure of Nantmel School would save £69,000?

Response
Transport costs have already been considered in establishing the net savings figures.

54. Comment
As chair of the governing body I have been privileged to sit in on lessons and have seen 
how well the teachers deal with pupils in different age groups. There are outstanding 
standards of teaching at Nantmel School. I have also helped to coach the cricket team. 
There is no selection for the team.  The children join in enthusiastically. Our school was 
runner up in the schools cricket tournament.  The children accept the opportunities 
offered at this school.  If the school closed, it would be a severe loss to the community.

Page 202



33

55. Comment
There is a fair bit of mistrust and hostility towards the Authority in this community.  I 
hope you put in your report what you have seen here tonight.

56. Comment
I have heard what happened leading up to the closure of Beguildy and Whitton schools.  
Parents feel they are being bullied and scared into taking children away from the school.

57. Comment
There is a lot of feeling in the community that the situation with Nantmel School and 
other schools under review is being manufactured.  Parents are frightened to enrol their 
children at Nantmel School because of the uncertainty and there are children who might 
otherwise have come to this school who have gone to other schools.

58. Comment/Question - Cllr Curry
Speakers at tonight’s meeting are speaking from the heart. The quality of education at 
this school is not in question.  I have heard that the shortfall in funding is not as great as it 
could be once the costs of school transport have been factored in.  You owe it to this 
community to give correct figures. How are you going to measure the impact closure of 
the school would have on the community?  What weight will that have?  Is the proposal 
all about the finance?  The cost of transport could go up vastly. Currently fuel is relatively 
cheap. What if the cost of fuel increases? What weight is given to the community impact? 
If this proposal goes ahead there would be nowhere in the community for us to meet. A 
lot of community organisations meet in the school. If the school closes it will rip the heart 
out of community.  Can you tell us what weight will be given to the Community Impact 
Assessment?

Response
There are two aspects of community impact - the impact on the young people and the impact on the 
wider community as a result of loss of the school building.  If the school was to close, there would 
need to be discussion with the Church in Wales, which owns the school building. When we looked at 
community use of schools in Ystradgynlais only one school building was used by community groups 
but it is a different situation in Nantmel. 

Response
It is not a given that the asset of the building would no longer be available to the community if the 
school closes.

59. Question
Why haven’t discussions with the Church already taken place?  I don’t understand why you 
have not already discussed with the Church what conditions relate to the school building. I 
would like you to respond to that question.   Removing the school and its activities 
seriously affects the community. This element is missing from the consultation report.

Page 203



34

Response
It is fully recognised that activities in the school impact on the community – information received 
from the school has been included in the draft Community Impact Assessment which is part of the 
Consultation Document.

60. Comment
When a school closes it affects the whole community and how a community is perceived 
by those outside that community.

61. Question
 Why would young families come and settle in Nantmel if there is no school?

62. Comment
If the school closes it will have a negative effect on the wellbeing of those living in this 
community.  There will be a health and social care cost.  A lot of groups meet in the 
school.  If there was nowhere in the community for people to meet, they would become 
isolated and lonely.

63. Question
How have you been able to determine that the birth rate in Nantmel won’t increase and, 
if it does increase, where are those children going to go to school?

64. Comment
Nantmel School has been under threat for 8 years and that has had an effect on the 
number of pupils coming to the school.

Response
Data on birth rates in the County is provided by statisticians but we do not have the detail around 
birth rates for this area.

65. Question
So you have applied a model formula to project pupil numbers for this area?

Response
The projected pupil numbers have been discussed with the governing body of this school.

66. Comment
I live outside Nantmel but I choose to send my child to Nantmel School.  Projecting pupil 
numbers is not just about birth rates.  Parents from outside the village choose to send 
their children to Nantmel School.

67. Comment
I personally think Nantmel School is the best it has ever been and now you come in and 
say the money is not right so we will close it and I think that it is disgusting.

68. Comment
I think we have shown you that there is enthusiasm in the community to save Nantmel 
School and that there are other options available other than closure.  There are easier 
ways for you to save £40-60K other than by closing the school.

Page 204



35

69. Comment
I am concerned that as paid representatives you have been unprepared to answer 
obvious questions.

Response – Darren Ivey
That is not always a negative that is what public consultation is about.  

70. Comment
I thank the 2 members of the Cabinet who have attended the meeting tonight.  It is a pity 
the other Cabinet members have not visited the school.

Attendees were informed of the next steps in the statutory process.  It was noted that a record had 
been made of the meeting and that the minutes of the meeting would be published as part of the 
report to be presented to the Council’s Cabinet.  The consultation concludes on March 11th and 
those present were encouraged to submit their comments in writing to the School Modernisation 
team by that date. It was explained that the Cabinet has a legal obligation to take account of every 
issue raised during the consultation period and the Council’s response to the issues.  It was 
explained responses to the consultation can be submitted online via the Council website, by writing 
to the Schools Modernisation team at County Hall, Llandrindod Wells, or by e-mail to 
school.modernisation@powys.gov.uk.

Darren Ivey thanked attendees for their honesty and passion in contributing their views and 
explained Opinion Research Services would be involved throughout the consultation process.

It was noted that officers from the Schools Services would provide data and figures to enable 
community members to formulate a business case in relation to their proposal to save Nantmel 
School from closure.

Cllr Arwel Jones thanked parents and community members for attending the meeting and 
encouraged them to submit written responses to the consultation by 11th March.

A pupil from Nantmel School concluded the meeting by saying

“Keep my school open. I like my country school. It is the only country school we have got.”

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX D – IMPACT ASSESSMENTS

Page

1. Integrated Impact Assessment 2
2. Equalities Impact Assessment 14
3. Community Impact Assessment 21

Page 207



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 2

Service Area Schools Service Head of Service Ian Roberts Strategic Director Jeremy Patterson Portfolio Holder Cllr Arwel Jones
Policy / Change Objective / Budget Saving School Transformation Policy
Outline Summary
This Impact Assessment relates to a proposal to close Nantmel C. in W. School from the 31st December 2016, with Rhayader C. in W. School to be named as the receiving school. The 
Council has carried out consultation on this proposal in accordance with the requirements of the School Organisation Code (2013)

1.  Version Control (services should consider the impact assessment early in the development process and continually evaluate)
Version Author Job Title Date
1 Sarah Astley Project Manager, Schools Transformation 9/6/2016

2.  How does your policy / change objective / budget saving impact on the council’s strategic vision?

Council Priority How does the policy / change objective 
impact on this priority?

Inherent 
Judgement
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or mitigate any 
negative impacts?

Residual 
Judgement
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below

Source of Outline 
Evidence to support 

judgement

Supporting people in the community 
to live fulfilled lives

Although there would be no education 
provision in Nantmel, provision would be 
available in neighbouring larger schools, 
which are more viable and will ensure a 
greater level of stability and resilience in 
terms of the provision of primary education.

However, concern has been expressed about 
the potential loss of community facilities for 
the village of Nantmel, as there are no other 
community facilities in the village. 

Poor

The school building is owned by the 
Church in wales, therefore it would be 
a matter for the Church to determine 
what would happen to the school 
building, should the school close. 
Following any decision to close the 
school, the authority would engage in 
discussion with the Church in relation 
to future use of the school building.

Neutral Consultation Report

This Impact Assessment (IA) toolkit incorporating Welsh Language, Equalities, Well-being of Future Generations Act, Sustainable Development Principles, Communication and 
Engagement, Safeguarding, Corporate Parenting, Community Cohesion and Risk Management supporting effective decision making and ensuring compliance with respective legislation.
Please read the accompanying guidance before completing the form.

P
age 208



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 3

Developing the economy

Concern has been expressed that the lack of a 
school in Nantmel will have an impact on job 
opportunities in the village. However people 
from the village have opportunities for 
employment elsewhere.

Pupils will be transferred to neighbouring 
larger schools where the quality of education 
is at least as good as the current provision, 
enabling them to develop skills that will 
prepare them to enter the workforce

Neutral Neutral Consultation Report

Improving learner outcomes for all, 
minimising disadvantage

The proposal aims to ensure that high quality 
education is accessible to all, and that it is 
affordable and sustainable with a focus on 
high quality leadership, teaching and learning.

All children and young people (including 
those in receipt of free school meals and with 
additional learning needs) will be supported 
to achieve their full potential at the named 
receiving school or any other school pupils 
might wish to transfer to.

Concern has been expressed that closure of 
Nantmel C. in W. School will have a negative 
impact on learner outcome, however the 
authority’s view is that the proposal would 
maintain or improve learner outcomes. 

Good

Should Nantmel C. in W. School close, 
transition plans would be put in place 
to support pupils with their move to 
alternative provision, to ensure that 
disruption is minimised and to ensure 
that all pupils achieve their full 
potential.

Good

Consultation Report, 
ERW School 

Improvement Strategy, 
One Powys Plan

P
age 209



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 4

Remodelling council services to 
respond to reduced funding

The proposal will provide better value for 
money for the council in the long term, by 
ensuring more equitable distribution of 
funding. 

The proposal will:
i) Reduce overall surplus capacity
ii) Deliver a more cost-effective 

delivery of learning
iii) Provide an infrastructure that is 

resilient to future demographic 
or financial challenges

Good Good Consultation Report

3.  How does your policy / change objective / budget saving impact on the Welsh Assembly’s well-being goals?

Well-being Goal How does the policy / change objective 
contribute this goal?

Inherent 
Judgement
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or mitigate any 
negative impacts?

Residual 
Judgement
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below

Source of Outline 
Evidence to support 
judgement

A prosperous Wales:
An innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the global 
environment and therefore uses resources 
efficiently and proportionately (including acting 
on climate change); and which develops a skilled 
and well-educated population in an economy 
which generates wealth and provides 
employment opportunities, allowing people to 
take advantage of the wealth generated through 
securing decent work.

The proposal will provide better value for 
money for the council in the long term, by 
ensuring more equitable distribution of 
funding. 

Pupils will be transferred to neighbouring 
larger schools where the quality of education 
is at least as good as the current provision, 
enabling them to develop skills that will 
prepare them to enter the workforce.

Good Good Consultation report

P
age 210



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 5

A resilient Wales:
A nation which maintains and enhances a 
biodiverse natural environment with healthy 
functioning ecosystems that support social, 
economic and ecological resilience and the 
capacity to adapt to change (for example climate 
change).

Neither Nantmel C. in W. School nor 
Rhayader C. in W. School are graded highly 
for sustainability – Nantmel C. in W. School 
was graded C in the Welsh Government 
Survey carried out in 2009, whilst Rhayader C. 
in W. School was graded D.

The authority supports the Welsh 
Government’s aspiration for 21st Century 
Schools which are for: 

- learning environments that will 
enable the successful 
implementation of strategies for 
improvement and better educational 
outcomes

- greater economy and efficiency for 
learning environments through 
better use of resources

- a sustainable education system in 
Wales that meets national building 
standards and reduces the recurrent 
costs and carbon footprint of 
education buildings

It is the authority’s long term strategy to 
improve all its learning environments.

However, the authority recognises that there 
will be additional travel involved for pupils 
that currently live closer to Nantmel C. in W. 
School.

Neutral

The authority has commissioned a 
review of those assets that were 
graded C or D in terms of condition, 
suitability and sustainability, and 
following receipt of this, will be 
considering an investment strategy to 
improve the sustainability and 
suitability of these buildings. 

Neutral

P
age 211



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 6

A healthier Wales:
A society in which people’s physical and mental 
well-being is maximised and in which choices 
and behaviours that benefit future health are 
understood.

Concern has been raised in relation to the 
impact of the proposal on the well-being of 
pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. 
School due to the proposed change of school 
and circumstances.

Poor

However, full support will be provided 
to pupils transferring to the named 
receiving school or any other school to 
aid their transition. 

Neutral Consultation report

A Wales of cohesive communities:
Attractive, viable, safe and well-connected 
Communities.

Concern has been raised in relation to the 
impact of the proposal on the community of 
Nantmel and community activities in the 
area. In particular, residents expressed 
concern about the loss of the only community 
building in Nantmel. 

Poor

The school building is owned by the 
Church in wales, therefore it would be 
a matter for the Church to determine 
what would happen to the school 
building, should the school close. 
Following any decision to close the 
school, the authority would engage in 
discussion with the Church in relation 
to future use of the school building.

Neutral Consultation report

A globally responsible Wales:
A nation which, when doing anything to improve 
the economic, social, environmental and cultural 
well-being of Wales, takes account of whether 
doing such a thing may make a positive 
contribution to global well-being.

The authority’s view is that the proposal 
seeks to improve the learning opportunities 
and outcomes for all children, and that the 
proposal has the best interests of the child at 
heart.

During the consultation process, pupils were 
given the opportunity to contribute to the 
discussion, meeting the requirements of the 
UN Convention on the Rights of the Child for 
children to be heard. 

Good Good Consultation report

P
age 212



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 7

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving Welsh language: A society that promotes and protects culture, heritage and the Welsh language, and which encourages people to participate in the arts, and sports and 
recreation.

Opportunities for persons to use 
the Welsh language

Nantmel C. in W. School is an English-medium 
school, therefore the proposal will not impact 
negatively on pupils’ access to Welsh-medium 
education. However, Rhayader C. in W., 
School, the named receiving school in respect 
of this proposal, is a dual stream primary 
school, which offers education through the 
medium of Welsh and English. Should pupils 
transfer to the receiving school, they would 
have increased opportunity to access Welsh-
medium education.

Good N/A Good
Welsh in Education 
Strategic Plan (WESP)

Treating the Welsh language no 
less favourable than the English 
language

As above Good N/A Good

Opportunities to promote the 
Welsh language As above Good N/A Good

Welsh Language impact on staff N/A Good N/A Good

People are encouraged to do sport, 
art and recreation.

Whilst Nantmel C. in W. School offers a range 
of extra-curricular opportunities which 
provide opportunities for pupils to take part 
in sport, art and recreation, a wide range of 
activities are also provided at the named 
receiving school.

As a larger school, it is likely that a wider 
range of activities would be available at the 
named receiving school. However, concern 
has been expressed that children living in 
Nantmel will be unable to access activities 
provided after school due to their reliance on 
home to school transport. 

Neutral

The authority will work with the 
Headteacher and Governing Body of 
the named receiving school and other 
schools pupils may wish to transfer to, 
to ensure that participation in all 
school activity is maximised for all 
learners.

Neutral
Community Impact 
Assessment, 
Consultation Report

P
age 213



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 8

A more equal Wales: A society that enables people to fulfil their potential no matter what their background or circumstances (including their socio economic background and circumstances).

Age Please see separate Equality Impact 
Assessment

Choose an 
item.

Choose an 
item.

Disability As above Choose an 
item.

Choose an 
item.

Gender reassignment As above Choose an 
item.

Choose an 
item.

Marriage or civil partnership As above Choose an 
item.

Choose an 
item.

Race As above Choose an 
item.

Choose an 
item.

Religion or belief As above Choose an 
item.

Choose an 
item.

Sex As above Choose an 
item.

Choose an 
item.

Sexual Orientation As above Choose an 
item.

Choose an 
item.

Pregnancy and Maternity As above Choose an 
item.

Choose an 
item.

Equality Impact on PCC Staff As above Choose an 
item.

Choose an 
item.

4.  How does your policy / change objective / budget saving impact on the council’s other key guiding principles?

Principle How does the policy / change objective 
impact on this principle?

Inherent 
Judgement
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below

What will be done to better 
contribute to positive or mitigate any 
negative impacts?

Residual 
Judgement
Please select 

from drop 
down box 

below

Source of Outline 
Evidence to support 
judgement

Sustainable Development Principle

P
age 214



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 9

Long Term:  The importance of 
balancing short-term needs with the 
need to safeguard the ability to also 
meet long-term needs.

The School Transformation Programme 
considers the general long term forecasts for 
the Powys population, where it is identified 
that the population figures for school aged 
children will continue to fall. 

This proposal will provide better value for 
money for the council in the long term, by 
ensuring more equitable distribution of 
funding. 

Pupils will be transferred to neighbouring 
larger schools where the quality of education 
is at least as good as the current provision, 
enabling them to develop skills that will 
prepare them to enter the workforce.

Good Good

Collaboration:  Acting in 
collaboration with any other person (or 
different parts of the body itself) that 
could help the body to meet its well-
being objectives.

The named receiving school will continue to 
work in collaboration with other schools in 
the cluster and regionally, and with other 
partners, to ensure that every pupil is fully 
supported.

Neutral Neutral

Involvement:  The importance of 
involving people with an interest in 
achieving the well-being goals, and 
ensuring that those people reflect the 
diversity of the area which the body 
serves.
Communication and Engagement

A number of meetings took place with the 
governing body of Nantmel C. in W. School 
when determining the proposal to close 
Nantmel C. in W. School. Consultation on the 
proposal has taken place in accordance with 
the School Organisation Code, which included 
consultation meetings with staff, governors 
and parents / community, as well as a 
meeting with the school council.

Neutral

If the proposal is implemented, there 
will be an opportunity for any parent 
to seek election to the governing 
body, and there will be an opportunity 
for all parents to continue to engage 
with the school and governing body.

Neutral

P
age 215



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 10

Prevention:  How acting to prevent 
problems occurring or getting worse 
may help public bodies meet their 
objectives.

The reasons for the proposal to close 
Nantmel C. in W. School were as follows:

- The school has had fewer than 50 
pupils on roll for the three previous 
years and numbers are not projected 
to increase to above 50

- There are more than 15% surplus 
places at the school

- The funding per pupil is more than 
120% of the council’s average

The proposal will provide better value for 
money for the council in the long term, by 
ensuring more equitable distribution of 
funding and a more sustainable model of 
education.

Good Good

Integration:  Considering how the 
public body’s well-being objectives 
may impact upon each of the well-
being goals, on their other objectives, 
or on the objectives of other public 
bodies.

Most of the issues raised during the 
consultation exercise were not supportive of 
the proposal. 

Poor

If the proposal is implemented, the 
authority will support the receiving 
school and any other school pupils 
may wish to transfer to, to support 
those parents and their children to 
become fully integrated in the school 
community.

Neutral

Preventing Poverty:
Prevention, including helping people 
into work and mitigating the impact of 
poverty.

Free transport will be provided to all 
qualifying pupils currently attending Nantmel 
C. in W. School. However, it is acknowledged 
that it may be more difficult for the parents 
of pupils on low incomes that live in Nantmel, 
due to the additional travel required of 
parents in order to attend activities at the 
school, or to collect pupils from after school 
activities.

Poor

The authority will work with the 
Headteacher and Governing Body of 
the named receiving school and other 
schools pupils may wish to transfer to, 
to ensure that participation in all 
school activity is maximised for all 
learners and their families.

Neutral
Equality Impact 
Assessment

P
age 216



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 11

Safeguarding:
Preventing and responding to abuse 
and neglect of children, young people 
and adults with health and social care 
needs who can’t protect themselves.

Safeguarding is of the utmost importance and 
safeguarding measures are in place in the 
named receiving school and any other school 
pupils may wish to transfer to.

Neutral Neutral

Corporate Parenting:
Enabling our looked after children to 
fulfil their potential.

The named receiving school has experience of 
meeting the needs of looked after children, 
therefore the authority would have no major 
concerns about looked after children moving 
to this school.

Neutral Neutral

Impact on Workforce Staff at Nantmel C. in W. School would be 
adversely affected by the proposal.

Poor

Staff with 2 years or more continuous 
service would be entitled to a 
redundancy payment. The authority 
will also attempt to identify 
alternative employment for staff 
through the redeployment process.

Neutral

5.  Achievability of Policy / Change Objective / Budget Saving?

Impact on Service / Council Deliverability of Policy / Change Objective / Budget 
Saving Inherent Risk

Low Low Low

6.  What are the risks to service delivery or the council following implementation of this Policy / Change Objective / Budget Saving?
Description of risks
Parents choose for their children to attend a school other than Rhayader C. in W. School 
Increase in demand for education in the Nantmel area in the future

Judgement (to be included in service risk register)
Very High Risk High Risk Medium Risk Low Risk

X
Mitigating Actions Residual Risk
N/A Choose an item.

Choose an item.
Choose an item.

P
age 217



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 12

Does the Policy / Change Objective / Budget Saving have potential to impact on another service area?
No

7.  Overall Summary and Judgement of this Impact Assessment?
Outline Assessment (to be inserted in cabinet report) Cabinet Report Reference:
It is acknowledged that the proposal would impact on the community of Nantmel due to the loss of primary provision in the village, however good quality primary provision would 
continue to be provided to pupils at neighbouring schools, and free transport would be provided to eligible pupils. During the consultation period, concern was expressed in relation to 
the possible loss of community facilities in Nantmel should the school close. The school building is owned by the Church in Wales, therefore it would be a matter for the Church to 
determine what would happen to the school building, should the school close. The authority’s view is that the proposal would provide better value for money for the council in the long 
term, by ensuring more equitable distribution of funding and a more sustainable model of education.

8.  Is there additional evidence to support the Impact Assessment (IA)?
What additional evidence and data has informed the development of your proposal?
Consultation responses, consultation report

9.  On-going monitoring arrangements?
What arrangements will be put in place to monitor the impact over time?
The School Transformation Programme Board is responsible for overseeing the strategic direction of the modernisation agenda: setting direction, implementing change, monitoring 
and reporting to the Cabinet of the Council.
Equality monitoring will form an integral part of the County Council’s arrangements for any school reorganisation and will be undertaken where a significant or material change in 
provision is proposed.  
The Head of Schools Service will be responsible for on-going monitoring.

Please state when this Impact Assessment will be reviewed.
If it is decided to proceed with the publication of Statutory Notices in respect of closure of Nantmel C. in W. School, the Impact Assessment will be reviewed when considering the 
Objection Report in order to make a final decision on the proposal.

10.  Sign Off
Position Name Signature Date
Service Manager: Marianne Evans Marianne Evans 15/06/16

P
age 218



Cyngor Sir Powys County Council
Impact Assessment (IA)
The integrated approach to support effective decision making

PCC:  Impact Assessment Toolkit (Feb 2016) 13

Head of Service: Ian Roberts Ian Roberts 15/06/16
Strategic Director: Jeremy Patterson Jeremy Patterson 15/06/16
Portfolio Holder: Arwel Jones Arwel Jones 15/06/16

P
age 219



14

EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) – Decision Assessment reporting template
This EqIA reporting template is designed to assist in the analysis of gathered data and evidence, to determine the equality impact of a proposal to change 
existing practices of a Council service.  Once complete, the template should be made fully accessible to the public e.g. inclusion with publicly available 
Cabinet reports and/or publication on the Powys County Council website.  For confidential matters, this should be made available once a decision has been 
taken.    
Proposal To close Nantmel C. in W. School from 

the 31st December 2016 with Rhayader 
C. in W. School to be named as the 
receiving school

Lead Person undertaking the assessment Sarah Astley

Service Area Schools Service

Date of 
Assessment

19th November 2015
updated 13th January 2016
updated 11th June 2016

Relevant Head of Service who has agreed this assessment Ian Roberts
Head of Schools

The Equality Act 2010, requires that public sector organisations in the exercise of their functions, pay due regard to the following ‘general duty’: 
(a) Eliminating discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;
(b) Advancing equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
(c) Fostering good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.
The protected characteristics include: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, marriage and civil 
partnership, sex and sexual orientation.  This assessment also includes a consideration of impact upon people and communities whose language of choice 
is Welsh.  
The specific regulations for Wales [Equality Act 2010 (Statutory Duties) (Wales) Regulations 2011] require public sector bodies to monitor relevant policy 
and practises and then assess and report on the impact based upon an analysis of relevant data and evidence.  
1.  AIM or PURPOSE
Briefly describe the aim or 
purpose of the change 
proposal being assessed. 

Powys County Council recently carried out consultation on the following:
Closure of Nantmel C. in W. School from the 31st December 2016. Rhayader C. in W. School to be named as the receiving school. 

2.  OBJECTIVES
Please state the current 
business objectives of the 

The authority commenced the statutory process to close Nantmel C. in W. School because:
- The school has had fewer than 50 pupils on roll for the three previous years and numbers are not projected to increase to 

above 50

P
age 220



15

change proposal. - There are more than 15% surplus places at the school
- The funding per pupil is more than 120% of the council’s average

3.  BENEFITS and OUTCOMES
i) What are the intended 
benefits or outcomes from 
the change proposal?

The benefits of the proposal are:
- More efficient use of resources
- Reduction in surplus places

4.  CORPORATE RELEVANCE
How does this change 
proposal relate to the 
Powys Change Plan and/or 
Powys One Plan?

The proposal supports Powys County Council’s vision for education, which is outlined within the One Powys Plan for 2014-17. 
‘Transforming Learning and Skills’ is one of the priorities within this plan, and within this priority, the Plan states that 
‘We need to re-organise schools (primary, secondary and post 16) to ensure affordability, sustainability and appropriate leadership 
capacity’

5.  DATA USED
Profiling of service users, providing a breakdown of who uses the service by the 
protected characteristics.



Service user satisfaction rates, broken down by the protected characteristics. 

Qualitative data (analysed against the protected characteristics) which provides 
evidence about current services users experience accessing the service.



Qualitative data gathered from those that are not currently using the service.
Complaints monitoring against the protected characteristics
Wider research reports and findings. 

5.1. What data has been used to 
conduct this assessment?  
Tick/shade boxes as appropriate.

Relevant service based Equality Impact Assessment

5.2. Are there any gaps in the data?  Yes  □ 
Please state the gaps: N/A
How will the gaps be addressed going forward?

No □ 

P
age 221



16

6.  DATA ANALYSIS
6.1 Quantitative 
Summarise the key quantitative data 
analysis results, providing key headline 
statistics.  
Include data that relates to existing 
provision and also data relating to proposal. 
E.g. statistics generated from a consultation 
questionnaire.
Key questions: 
i) Are certain groups currently 

underrepresented in service user 
figures?  Will a change affect this?

ii) How do satisfaction levels compare 
across the protected characteristic 
groups?  How will a change affect this?

Information on pupils who attend Nantmel C. in W. School can be obtained via the Pupil Level Annual School 
Census, which shows the profile of pupils according to a range of criteria, including age, free school meals, gender, 
special educational needs, ethnicity, use of Welsh and disabilities. 
The 2015 PLASC return provided the following information about the pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School in relation 
to the protected characteristic groups: 

- 32 pupils in total, aged between 3 and 11. 26 pupils aged between 5 and 11.
- Gender: Of the pupils attending the school, 53% are boys and 47% are girls.
- Free school meals: 3% are eligible for free school meals.
- SEN: 0 pupils in the school have Statements of Special Educational Needs. 9% of pupils have special needs 

but do not have a statement
- Disabilities: 9% of pupils have additional learning needs
- English as an Additional Language: English is not an additional language for any of the pupils at the school.
- Welsh Language: 3% of pupils comes from homes where some Welsh is spoken. 
- Race/ethnicity: PLASC only provides information about the ethnic group of pupils aged 5 and over.

- The ethnic group of pupils aged 5 and over at the school is as follows:
- White British – 92%
- White and Black African – 4%
- White and Black Caribbean – 4%

The 2016 PLASC return provided the following information about the pupils at Nantmel C. in W. School in relation 
to the protected characteristic groups: 

- 31 pupils in total, aged between 3 and 11. 29 pupils aged between 5 and 11.
- Gender: Of the pupils attending the school, 52% are boys and 48% are girls.
- Free school meals: 3% are eligible for free school meals.
- SEN: 0 pupils in the school have Statements of Special Educational Needs. 13% of pupils have special needs 

but do not have a statement
- Disabilities: 13% of pupils have additional learning needs
- English as an Additional Language: English is not an additional language for any of the pupils at the school.
- Welsh Language: 3% of pupils comes from homes where some Welsh is spoken. 
- Race/ethnicity: PLASC only provides information about the ethnic group of pupils aged 5 and over.

- The ethnic group of pupils aged 5 and over at the school is as follows:
- White British – 100%

P
age 222



17

This information shows that the proportion of pupils in the school that belong to the protected characteristics 
groups is very small. 

In addition to the PLASC data, information was been received from the governing body of Nantmel C. in W. School 
which suggested that a number of Gypsy Traveller pupils attend the school, however none of the pupils that were 
registered at the school on the PLASC counting date in January 2015 or January 2016 were identified as Gypsy 
Travellers on the school’s PLASC return, and the authority is not aware that any Gypsy Traveller pupils are currently 
attending the school.

6.2 Qualitative  
Summarise the key qualitative data 
analysis, providing key themes or patterns. 
Include data that relates to existing 
provision and also data relating to proposal. 
E.g. protected characteristics focus group on 
the proposal.  
Key questions: 
i) Do certain groups have a different 

service   user experience? How will a 
change affect this?

ii) Have any areas for improvement been 
communicated by particular groups? 
Will a change have an impact upon 
these views?

iii) What are the reasons behind some 
groups not using the service?  How will 
a change affect this position?

iv) What has consultation on your 
proposals revealed about impact on the 
protected characteristics?

Consultation on the closure of Nantmel C. in W. School was carried out in accordance with the requirements of the 
School Organisation Code (2013), and included a meeting with pupils of Nantmel C. in W. School. This provided 
qualitative data in respect of the proposal, and the impact on pupils that belong to the protected characteristic 
groups.

The following issues were raised in relation to the proposal’s impact on those in the protected characteristic 
groups:

- Concern that pupils with additional needs may get bullied or feel isolated or excluded in a different school
- The impact on pupils with additional needs would be greater because they are used to the teachers in 

Nantmel C. in W. School
- Reference to a pupil with dyslexia – the dyslexia was identified early on in Nantmel C. in W. School and 

addressed accordingly, concern that it may not have been dealt with in the same way if the pupil was in a 
large class in a large school

- Smaller classes mean that pupils with learning difficulties such as dyslexia can get the support they need
- In the past, many Nantmel pupils have needed additional support but all have left high school with good 

GCSEs
- Pupils with dyslexia have progressed well at Nantmel C. in W. School – they would not have progressed as 

well in a bigger school

7. EqIA RESULT

P
age 223



18

The proposal does not present any adverse impact on 
equality. 
[Proceed to question 10]
The proposal presents some adverse impact on equality.
[Proceed to question 8]



Based on an analysis of the available qualitative 
and quantitative data, please tick/shade the 
appropriate box opposite to provide the EqIA 
assessment result.

The prosposal presents significant impact on equality
[Proceed to question 8]

8. AREAS for IMPROVEMENT

Please provide detail of weak or sensitive areas of 
the proposal identified by the assessment. 
i) Which protected characteristic groups are 

particularly affected? 
ii) Will people on low incomes be affected? 
iii) Will Welsh speakers be affected?

i) Based on the pupils that were registered at the school on the 2015 PLASC counting date, some 
pupils are in a protected characteristic group due to having additional learning needs. 

ii) Free transport will be provided to all qualifying pupils currently attending Nantmel C. in W. 
School. However, it is acknowledged that it may be more difficult for the parents of pupils on 
low incomes that live in Nantmel, due to the additional travel required of parents in order to 
attend activities at the school, or to collect pupils from after school activities. 

iii) Although a very small percentage of pupils come from a home where some Welsh is spoken, 
Nantmel C. in W. School is an English-medium school therefore it is not anticipated that the 
proposal would have an adverse impact on Welsh speakers. 

9.  EQUALITY IMPROVEMENT 
9.1 Having identified problematic aspects to the 
proposal, how will this now be addressed? 
 i.e. Are you able to involve (in some capacity) people 
from protected characteristic groups, Welsh Speakers, 
people on low incomes, to assist you in this process?
i) Can the impact be mitigated, and how will this be 

done? 
ii) Does the proposal require modification to reduce or 

remove this impact?
iii) Should the proposal be considered for removal, 

owing to the degree of impact it is likely to have?

i) The authority is confident that the proposed receiving school and any other schools in the local 
area which pupils may prefer to transfer to would be able to meet the need of pupils currently 
attending Nantmel C. in W. School who belong to the protected characteristic groups, and the 
needs of pupils with any additional needs such as dyslexia. Transition planning would ensure 
that children are as familiar as possible with their new surrounding and their new teachers 
before they moved to the new school. Free home to school transport would be provided to 
qualifying pupils to the proposed receiving school or to their closest school. 

ii) The proposal does not require modification to reduce or remove the impact.
iii) The proposal should not be considered for removal. 

P
age 224



19

9.2 Will the management of the impact as outlined in 
9.1, be included in the Service Improvement Plan? Yes  □ 

Date added……………….
Reference…………………

No □
If no, please explain why not:
Need was not identified at 
time of writing Service 
Strategy

10. ONGOING MONITORING
Please tick/shade

Equality monitoring of uptake of the service within which 
the decision was made
Satisfaction monitoring of service users (broken down by 
protected characteristic)
Recording and analysing complaints/requests/compliments

Targeted periodic focus groups/service user 
interviews/feedback sessions

How will the decision now be monitored on an ongoing 
basis to consider its impact over time? 

Other (please specify)

Monitoring arrangements
The School Transformation Programme Board is responsible for overseeing the strategic direction of the modernisation agenda: setting direction, implementing 
change, monitoring and reporting to the Cabinet of the Council.
Equality monitoring will form an integral part of the County Council’s arrangements for any school reorganisation and will be undertaken where a significant or 
material change in provision is proposed.  
The Head of Schools Service will be responsible for on-going monitoring.
Publication of results of the impact assessment
The results of the impact assessment will be published on the Council’s website
Equality Impact Assessment Action Plan 
Any actions identified as a result of this impact assessment will be taken forward for inclusion in the Schools Service Business Plan 

P
age 225



20

Community Impact Assessment – Final 

Background

A draft Community Impact Assessment was published as part of the Formal Consultation 
on the following proposal:

To close Nantmel C. in W. Controlled School from the 31st December 2016, with Rhayader 
C. in W. Controlled School to be named as the receiving school.

The consultation was held between the 29th January 2016 and the 22nd April 2016.

This community impact assessment has been updated where appropriate to take account 
of any issues or information raised during consultation about the impact on the community.

1. The Affected Communities

1.1 Nantmel

Nantmel is a small village located approximately 5 miles from the town of Rhayader 
in Mid Powys. According to the 2011 Census, there are 637 residents in the area 
served by Nantmel Community Council1. 

English is the main language spoken in the area, however according to the 2011 
Census, 19% of the population have one or more skills in Welsh. 0.94% of the 
population belong to ethnic groups other than White.

The Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation 2014 ranks areas known as Local Super 
Output Areas (LSOA) in terms of deprivation, where 1 is the most deprived and 
1909 is the least deprived. The Nantmel LSOA is ranked as follows2:
 

Local Super Output Area 
(LSOA)

WIMD Rank 2014

Nantmel 1222

Nantmel C. in W. School is a Voluntary Controlled Church in Wales English-medium 
Primary School.

1.2 Rhayader

Rhayader is a small town located in Mid Powys. Acording to the 2011 Census, the 
Rhayader Community Council area had 2088 residents3.

English is the main language spoken in the area, however according to the 2011 
Census, 20% of the population of Rhayader have one or more skills in Welsh. 
1.15% of the population belong to ethnic groups other than White.

1 2011 Census information for the Nantmel Community Council area, taken from 
http://www.powys.gov.uk/en/statistics/view-statistics-about-your-area/detailed-census-information/ 
2 https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-
Deprivation/WIMD-2014
3 2011 Census information for the Rhayader Community Council area, taken from 
http://www.powys.gov.uk/en/statistics/view-statistics-about-your-area/detailed-census-information/

Page 226

http://www.powys.gov.uk/en/statistics/view-statistics-about-your-area/detailed-census-information/
https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation/WIMD-2014
https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation/WIMD-2014
http://www.powys.gov.uk/en/statistics/view-statistics-about-your-area/detailed-census-information/


21

There is 1 Local Super Output Area within the town of Rhayader. The Welsh Index 
of Multiple Deprivation ranks the Rhayader LSOA as follows, where 1 is the most 
deprived LSOA and 1909 is the least deprived4:

Local Super Output Area 
(LSOA)

WIMD Rank 2014

Rhayader 1007

Rhayader C. in W. School is a Voluntary Controlled Church in Wales Primary 
School. It is a dual stream school, which means that pupils are either taught through 
the medium of Welsh or English. 

2. Community Impact Assessment 

2.1 Impact on pupil travel

The home addresses of the 32 children that were attending Nantmel C. in W. 
School on the PLASC counting day in January 2015 were analysed by the council’s 
Research and Information Unit. This analysis showed that Nantmel C. in W. School 
was the closest school for 19 pupils, which is 59% of the pupils attending the 
school. The closest schools for all of the 32 pupils are summarised in the following 
table:

Closest School Number of Pupils
Nantmel C. in W. School 19
Rhayader C. in W. School 4
Crossgates C.P. School 3
Llandrindod Wells C.P. School Cefnllys 3
Llandrindod Wells C. in W. School 
Trefonnen

2

Newbridge-on-Wye C. in W. School 1

Based on this analysis, the average one way journey to school per child for pupils 
attending Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2015 was 3.02 miles.

If there was no school in Nantmel, the next closest school for the children that were 
attending Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2015 would be as follows:

Closest School Number of Pupils
Crossgates C.P. School 14
Rhayader C. in W. School 9
Llandrindod Wells C.P. School Cefnllys 3
Llandrindod Wells C. in W. School 
Trefonnen

3

Newbridge-on-Wye C. in W. School 3

Based on this analysis, the average one way journey to school per child for the 
pupils that were attending Nantmel C. in W. School in January 2015 would be 3.18 
miles.

4 https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-
Deprivation/WIMD-2014

Page 227

https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation/WIMD-2014
https://statswales.wales.gov.uk/Catalogue/Community-Safety-and-Social-Inclusion/Welsh-Index-of-Multiple-Deprivation/WIMD-2014


22

Should there be no school in Nantmel, there would be an increase in travel for the 
19 pupils for whom Nantmel C. in W. School was their closest school. However, 
there would be a reduction in travel for the remaining 13 pupils, should they transfer 
to their closest school. 

2.2 Extra-curricular activities provided by the schools

Nantmel C. in W. School

The following clubs are provided by the school outside school hours:

i) Sports Clubs (some run by the pupils who have been elected as Sports 
Ambassadors), including Dragon Sports – cricket, netball, athletics, rounders

ii) PE Club
iii) Gardening Club
iv) Other activity sessions, including craft, cookery, computer skills

The following extra-curricular activities are provided by the school:
Guitar Club; Recorder Lessons; Chess Club; Cross-county Running; Swimming 
Lessons & Gala; Singing; Activities at the Willow Globe.

Rhayader C. in W. School

The following clubs are provided by the school after school hours:

i) Art Club
ii) Gardening Club
iii) Clwb yr Urdd
iv) Dance Club
v) Running Club
vi) Sports Club

The following extra-curricular activities are provided during the school day:

Lego Club (lunchtime); Running Club (lunchtime); Sports activities (lunchtime); 
Singing/Music Lessons (lunchtime); Badminton Club (lunchtime)

2.3 Community Use of the School Building

Nantmel C. in W. School

The school’s facilities are used by the community for the following activities:

‘Play Radnor’ use the school during the school holidays, as well as after school and 
lunchtimes, and they enjoy the benefit of the outdoor grass area.

A pre-school play group and a mother and toddler group meet at the school.

In addition, the school’s facilities are used by the community regularly for the 
following activities:

Page 228



23

Evening classes for children e.g. jewellery making; Children’s parties; Charity 
auction; Women’s Institute (monthly); Community Council meetings; Nantmel Show 
Committee meetings; Marquee section of Nantmel Show moved to the school in 
adverse weather; Golden Hour; Church services held in the school when St Cynllo’s 
Church is inaccessible due to snow & ice; fundraising events for the church; 
refreshments and receptions after Harvest and Carol services, funerals, 
christenings, special occasions such as retirements. 

Rhayader C. in W. School

The school’s facilities are used by the community for the following activities:

Community Nursery, Cylch Meithrin, Junior Football, Rhayader Running Club; 
Young Farmers Club

2.4 Other links with the community

Nantmel C. in W. School

The school has strong links with the community, which include the following:

Significant number of entries to the Nantmel Show; Current and former pupils help 
with setting up the Nantmel Show; Voluntary support for the school by members of 
the community – reading, after school clubs and sports, repair work on buildings 
and grounds; talks in support of the school garden; Annual school and community 
BBQ – WI involved in refreshment provision; Used as a Polling Station by Powys 
County Council; The school provides storage for tables, chairs and crockery which 
are used for community events; The school uses the Church for special school 
services, e.g. Harvest Service; Carol Service; mock weddings, Eisteddfod.

Rhayader C. in W. School

The school has links with a number of organisations within the community, which 
include the following:

Church, Carad, Community Support, Carnival, Elan Valley Trust, YFC, Community 
Nursery, Male Voice Choir, Cylch Meithrin, Dyfed Powys Police, Rhayader RFC, 
Rhayader Under 5’s, Rhayader Leisure Centre, Rainbows/Brownies & Scouts, WI & 
Mothers Union

2.5 Support that could be offered by the receiving school to Parents and 
Pupils that currently attend Nantmel C. in W. School

Pupils from Nantmel C. in W. School and Rhayader C. in W. School are already 
participating together in a number of activities, such as Orienteering, School Discos, 
Cross Country, Residential Trips and Visits. 
 
2.6 Information/issues raised during consultation

A wide range of concerns in relation to the proposal’s impact on the community 
were raised during the consultation period on this proposal. All issues raised during 

Page 229



24

the consultation period are listed in Section 5 of the Consultation Report – ‘Issues 
Raised during the Consultation Period’. 

In relation to the proposal’s impact on the community, issues were raised which 
related to the following:

- Community use of the school building
- Concern about loss of community facilities
- Concern about the impact of closing a school on the community
- Concern that closure of the school would mean that people would not want to 

live in Nantmel
- Reference to Powys County Council’s Vision – ‘Stronger Communities in the 

Green Heart of Wales’

All issues raised, along with the local authority’s response, are listed in section 7 – 
‘Impact on the Community’ in the list of issues raised.

In addition, issues were raised relating to the impact of additional travel for pupils. 
These included the following:

- Concern about additional travel time / distance for pupils
- Concern about the cost of additional travel
- Concern about the environmental impact of additional travel
- Concern about the impact on access to after school activities

These issues are listed in section 4 – ‘Travel Implications’ in the list of issues 
raised. 

2.6 Conclusion

Following the consultation period, the authority’s view on the impact of the proposal 
on the community of Nantmel remains the same.  

The authority acknowledges that closure of any school will have a detrimental 
impact on the facilities available in the local community. It is clear that the 
community of Nantmel makes use of Nantmel C. in W. School’s facilities for a range 
of activities and events, due to the fact that there is no other suitable location to 
hold these activities in the village. It is currently unclear where these activities could 
take place should Nantmel C. in W. School close. However, the school building is 
owned by the Church in Wales, and will remain in the Church’s ownership if the 
school should close. The future use of the building would be a decision for the 
Church.

In terms of extra-curricular activities, a wide range of activities are offered by both schools, 
and the authority is satisfied that pupils would have the opportunity to take part in a similar 
range of activities at the proposed receiving school. However, as many of these are 
offered after school, it is acknowledged that it would be more difficult for those pupils for 
whom Nantmel C. in W. School is their closest school to access these activities if they 
were reliant on home to school transport. The authority will work with and support the 
receiving school and any other school to which pupils may transfer to maximise the access 
to extra-curricular opportunities for all pupils.

Page 230


	Agenda
	C121- 2016 Nantmel Church in Wales School
	Appendix A - Consultation Document
	Appendix B - Consultation Report
	Appendix C - Minutes of meetings with School Council Staff Governors Parents  Community
	Appendix D - Impact Assessments


